Public Document Pack

To:

Chair and Members of the Planning
Committee

Date:

Thursday, 14 April 2022

Direct Dial:

01824 712589

e-mail:

democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk

Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held at 9.30
AM on WEDNESDAY, 20 APRIL 2022 in BY VIDEO CONFERENCE.
Yours sincerely

G Williams
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services

AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES (Pages 5 - 6)

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Pages 7 - 8)
Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business
identified to be considered at this meeting.

3

URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local
Government Act, 1972.

4

MINUTES (Pages 9 - 22)
To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting
held on the 9 March 2022 (copy attached).

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 5 - 10) 5

APPLICATION NO. 07/2021/0684/ PF - LAND AT MYNYDD MYNYLLOD,
LLANDRILLO, CORWEN (Pages 23 - 62)
To consider an application for the erection of a 90m meteorological mast for a
temporary period of three years at Land at Mynydd Mynyllod, Llandrillo,
Corwen (copy attached).

6

APPLICATION NO. 15/2020/0988/ PF - FFYNNON Y
LLANARMON ROAD, LLANFERRES, MOLD (Pages 63 - 92)

BERTH,

To consider an application for the siting of a replacement static caravan for
holiday accommodation use, formation of access track and associated works
at Ffynnon y Berth, Llanarmon Road, Llanferres, Mold (copy attached).

7

APPLICATION NO. 45/2021/0738/ PC - 7 LLYS WALSH, RHYL, LL18 4FR
(Pages 93 - 108)
To consider a retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4) for 4 people
at 7 Llys Walsh, Rhyl LL18 4FR (copy attached).

8

APPLICATION NO. 45/2021/0739/ PC - 1 LON TAYLOR, RHYL, LL18 4FT
(Pages 109 - 124)
To consider a retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4) for 4 people
at 1 Lon Taylor, Rhyl, LL18 4FT (copy attached).

9

APPLICATION NO. 45/2021/0740/ PC - 3 LON TAYLOR, RHYL, LL18 4FT
(Pages 125 - 140)
To consider a retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4) for 4 people
at 3 Lon Taylor, Rhyl, LL18 4FT (copy attached).

10

APPLICATION NO. 47/2021/0432/ PC - TRAVELLERS INN, CAERWYS,
MOLD, CH7 5BL (Pages 141 - 180)
To consider a retrospective application for the change of use of ground floor
from a public house (Use Class A3) to offices (Use Class B1) at Travellers
Inn, Caerwys, Mold, CH7 5BL (copy attached).

ADDITIONAL ITEMS

11

GENERAL
MATTERS
REPORT
OBJECTIONS
PRESERVATION ORDER (Pages 181 - 184)

TO

TREE

To consider a report on the objections to Tree Preservation Order No. 7 (a)
(2021) Land adjacent to 73a Erw Goch, Ruthin made by Denbighshire County
Council (copy attached).

12

AWEL Y MOR OFFSHORE WINDFARM - NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT (Pages 185 - 222)
To receive a report seeking approval to submit a local impact report and
formal representations to the planning inspectorate under delegated powers
(copy attached).

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
Councillor Joe Welch (Chair)

Councillor Christine Marston (ViceChair)

Joan Butterfield
Ellie Chard
Ann Davies
Gwyneth Ellis
Peter Evans
Alan Hughes
Brian Jones
Tina Jones
Gwyneth Kensler

Melvyn Mile
Bob Murray
Merfyn Parry
Pete Prendergast
Peter Scott
Tony Thomas
Julian Thompson-Hill
Emrys Wynne
Mark Young

COPIES TO:
All Councillors for information
Press and Libraries
Town and Community Councils

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
WELCOME TO DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HOW THE MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED
– Virtual arrangements June 2020
Unless the Chair of the Committee advises to the contrary, the order in which the main items will be taken will follow the
agenda set out at the front of this report.

General introduction
The Chair will open the meeting at 9.30am and welcome everyone to the Planning Committee.
The Chair will ask if there are any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.
The Chair will invite Officers to make a brief introduction to matters relevant to the meeting.
Officers will outline as appropriate items where we have received requests for deferral, withdrawals, special reports, and
any Part 2 items where the press and public may be excluded. Reference will be made to additional information prior to
the start of the meeting, including the late representations/amendments summary sheets (‘Blue Sheets’) and any
supplementary or revised plans relating to items for consideration.
The Blue Sheets' contain important information, including a summary of material received in relation to items on the
agenda between the completion of the main reports and the day before the meeting. The sheets also set out the
proposed running order on planning applications.
In relation to the running order of items, any Members seeking to bring forward consideration of an item will be expected
to make such a request immediately following the Officer's introduction. Any such request must be made as a formal
proposal and will be subject to a vote.
The Planning Committee currently consists of 19 elected Members. In accordance with protocol, 10 Members must be
present at the start of a debate on an item to constitute quorum and to allow a vote to be taken.
County Council Members who are not elected onto Planning Committee may attend the meeting and speak on an item,
but are not able to make a proposal to grant or refuse, or to vote.

CONSIDERING PLANNING APPLICATIONS
The sequence to be followed
The Chair will announce the item which is to be dealt with next. In relation to planning applications, reference will be
made to the application number, the location and basis of the proposal, the relevant local Members for the area, and the
Officer recommendation.
If any Member is minded to propose deferral of an item, including to allow for the site to be visited by a Site Inspection
Panel, the request should be made, with the planning reason for deferral, before any public speaking or debate on that
item.
Where relevant, the Chair will offer the opportunity for Members to read any late information on an item on the 'Blue
Sheets' before proceeding.
Prior to any debate, the Chair may invite Officers to provide a brief introduction to an item where this is considered to be
worthwhile in view of the nature of the application. In addition the Officers may read out any prepared speech by an

Page 5

interested party for or against the application. The speech provided against any application will be read out first.

The Chair will announce that the item is open for debate and offer Members opportunity to speak and to make
propositions on the item.
If any application has been subject to a Site Inspection Panel prior to the Committee, the Chair will normally invite those
Members who attended, including the Local Member, to speak first.
On all other applications, the Chair will permit the Local Member(s) to speak first, should he/she/they wish to do so.
Members are normally limited to a maximum of five minutes speaking time, and the Chair will conduct the debate in
accordance with Standing Orders.
Once a Member has spoken, he/she should not speak again unless seeking clarification of points arising in debate,
and then only once all other Members have had the opportunity to speak, and with the agreement of the Chair.
At the conclusion of Members debate, the Chair will ask Officers to respond as appropriate to questions and points
raised, including advice on any resolution in conflict with the recommendation.
Prior to proceeding to the vote, the Chair will invite or seek clarification of propositions and seconders for propositions for
or against the Officer recommendation, or any other resolutions including amendments to propositions. Where a
proposition is made contrary to the Officer recommendation, the Chair will seek clarification of the planning reason(s) for
that proposition, in order that this may be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. The Chair may request comment from
the Legal and Planning Officer on the validity of the stated reason(s).
The Chair will announce when the debate is closed, and that voting is to follow.

The voting procedure
Before requesting Members to vote, the Chair will announce what resolutions have been made, and how the vote is to
proceed. If necessary, further clarification may be sought of amendments, new or additional conditions and reasons for
refusal, so there is no ambiguity over what the Committee is voting for or against.
The voting will proceed with the Chair going around all the Planning Committee members eligible to vote to ask for their
verbal “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” vote. The votes will be marked down and the Chair will then announce whether that
application has been approved or refused.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
Code of Conduct for Members

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS

I, (name)

a *member/co-opted member of

Denbighshire County Council

(*please delete as appropriate)

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part III
of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the following:(*please delete as appropriate)

Date of Disclosure:

Committee (please specify):

Agenda Item No.

Subject Matter:

Nature of Interest:
(See the note below)*

Signed

Date
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for
planning permission made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which
has made an application for financial assistance’.

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held BY VIDEO CONFERENCE on
Wednesday, 9 March 2022 at 9.30 am.
PRESENT
Councillors Joan Butterfield, Ellie Chard, Ann Davies, Gwyneth Ellis, Alan Hughes,
Brian Jones, Tina Jones, Gwyneth Kensler, Christine Marston (Vice-Chair), Bob Murray,
Merfyn Parry, Pete Prendergast, Peter Scott, Tony Thomas, Julian Thompson-Hill,
Joe Welch (Chair), Emrys Wynne and Mark Young
Observers - Councillors Alan James, Glenn Swingler, Barry Mellor, Rhys Thomas,
Bobby Feeley, Huw Hilditch-Roberts, Martyn Holland, Pat Jones and Meirick Lloyd
Davies
ALSO PRESENT
Team Leader – Places Team (TD), Development Control Manager (PM), Planning
Officer (PG), Strategic Planning and Housing Manager (AL), Senior Planning Officer
(LG), Local Housing Strategy and Development Officer (JA), Planning Officer (LD),
Programme Manager - Housing Development (MD), Planning Officer (EO’C), Trainee
Legal Officer (SR), Flood Risk Engineer (WH), Principal Support Officer (JW), Zoom
Host and Webcast (RTJ), and Committee Administrator (SJ)
Public Speakers - Robert Jones (Item 6), Helga Viswanathan (Item 5), Stuart Andrew
(Item 5) and Scott Drummond (Item 9).

1

APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Melvyn Mile and Peter Evans.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
The Team Leader – Places Team informed the committee that some members may
have played a part in previous discussions and decisions in relation to the land in
agenda item 5 – Land adjacent to Ysgol Pendref, Denbigh. He stated those members
needed to be satisfied that they could approach that application with an open mind.
Councillor Emrys Wynne declared a personal interest in agenda item 6 - Land at (part
garden of) Llys Gwyn, Bryn Goodman, Ruthin as he knew some of the objectors to
the application.
Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill declared a personal and prejudicial interest in
agenda item 5- Land adjacent to Ysgol Pendref, Denbigh, as he was the Lead
Member for Housing and had initially proposed the land to be sold for housing.

Page 9

Councillor Brian Jones requested further guidance regarding agenda item 5 – Land
adjacent to Ysgol Pendref, Denbigh as he had been on the Cabinet debate. Following
guidance from the Team Leader it was in his opinion he was able to make an informed
decision with an open mind.
Councillor Brian Jones declared a personal interest in agenda item 9 - Kynsal House,
Vale Road, Rhyl as he had previously been contacted by residents regarding
concerns at the site.
Councillor Mark Young confirmed that he had also been on the Cabinet debate
regarding Agenda item 5 – Land adjacent to Ysgol Pendref, Denbigh but was of the
opinion he would make a decision today with an open mind.
3

URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
No urgent matters were raised.

4

MINUTES
The minutes of the Planning Committee held on 9 February 2022 were submitted.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2022 be approved
as a correct record.
Councillor Meirick Lloyd Davies thanked the Clerks for making the amendments to
the previous minutes.

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 5 - 9) Applications received requiring determination by the Committee were submitted together
with associated documentation. Reference was also made to late supplementary
information (blue sheets) received since the publication of the agenda, which contained
additional information relating to those applications. In order to accommodate public
speaking requests, it was agreed to vary the agenda order of applications accordingly.
5

APPLICATION NO. 01/2021/0950/ PF - LAND ADJACENT TO YSGOL PENDREF,
GWAENYNOG ROAD, DENBIGH

An application for the erection of 110 dwellings, construction of a new vehicular
access, landscaping and associated works at land adjacent to Ysgol Pendref,
Gwaenynog Road, Denbigh.
Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill left the meeting for the duration of this agenda item
as he had declared a personal and prejudicial interest.
Public Speakers – Helga Viswanathan (Against) informed the committee that the
field was part of a working farm. Welsh Government agricultural land classification
map illustrated the field to be grade 3a considered best and most versatile land.
Planning Policy Wales stated that such land was a finite resource and should be
conserved for the future and should only be developed upon if there was an

Page 10

overriding need. It was stressed developing the field for a further 110 houses could
not be considered as an overriding need when 550 plus houses had been agreed in
Denbigh alone, which was a large proportion of the recommended total for the whole
county. The climate emergency, Brexit and war in Europe all bring uncertainties of
food supplies from oversees therefore it was stressed the importance of conserving
farm land. It was stated in 2019 Denbighshire County Council declared a climate
emergency, the authority’s green policy stated that all decisions had to be made with
climate crisis and environment in mind. Developing sites such as this proposal would
release tonnes of carbon stored deeply with the soil directly contributing to climate
change totally at odds to the declaration made be DCC. It was recently reported that
the UK only had 52% of its biodiversity left, destroying fields and hedgerow added to
its decline. The Environment Wales Act 2016 required that public authorities must
seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity, and in doing so promote the resilience of
ecosystems. It was stressed the measure set out in the developer’s proposal of
providing bird and bat boxes and the planting of saplings would in no way mitigate
the loss of the established wildlife habitat and biodiversity on this 7-acre site.
It was stated that road safety would be affected as the entrance to the development
would be situated on a sharp bend that already had 2 junctions. It was felt that
neighbouring roads would struggle to cope with the additional road use. It was
thought the proposed 110 houses would equate to up to 300 extra vehicles. With the
combination of the agreed planning at the North Wales Hospital site, it would
potentially increase cars in Denbigh by over 1000 extra vehicles creating the potential
for added congestion in Lenton Pool. The extra traffic would lead to an increase in
noise and air pollution and would have a detrimental effect on the health and wellbeing of existing residents and particularly the school directly adjacent to the site. All
planned developments combined would increase the population of Denbigh by
thousands and would put added strain on existing doctors, dentists and other
services who already have limited capacity whilst job opportunities were also limited.
The majority of houses planned for Denbigh including the proposed development
would all be in the same ward one of the most deprived in Wales. It was also felt local
residents in need of housing would not benefit as the cost of the properties exceeded
the affordability for many residents. Further objections were stressed being the
removal of hedgerow, flood risk, loss of privacy, loss of amenity and the negative
affect on the Welsh Language.
Mr Stuart Andrew (Agent) (For) confirmed he was the design and planning director
of Castle Green homes. He confirmed the site was owned by Denbighshire County
Council and was allocated for residential development within the Local Development
Plan. The Council had previously produced a formal development brief for the site in
March 2017 and had marketed the site for sale on the basis of residential
development. He confirmed Castle Green homes had produced the planning
application for the scheme that was entirely policy compliant and offered double the
amount of affordable houses in the development. 22 affordable homes would be
available for Denbighshire County Council for disposable to local residents on the
Council housing needs register. Significant financial contributions of over £160k had
been agreed to help fund road and footpath improvement around Ysgol Pendref and
new play facilities in the local park. It was noted that local objections had been
received, generally based on the concerns on the principal of development and
infrastructure at the site. The speaker stressed the principal of development had been
agreed by the authority and been in place for a number of years. There were no

Page 11

objections for the proposal by any council officers or special consultees. Members
heard it was the views of professional employed by the council, NRW, Welsh Water
and several others including the County Ecologist there was no technical reasons to
object the application, agricultural land issues were not an issue as the land was
allocated for residential development. Members heard that the proposed
development would provide a £2million receipt to the council. Members were made
aware of the potential cost to the authority that would be imposed if the application
was refused and won by appeal.
The Chair reminded members that if they could, to address the committee only once
and for five minutes. He asked members to be mindful of what other members raise
and not to duplicate comments or concerns. The Development Control Manager
(DCM) informed members a number of officers were in attendance to offer support
and address members questions. He stated unfortunately the highways officer could
not be in attendance and also the county ecologist was not present.
General Debate –It was confirmed a site visit had taken place prior to the committee
meeting. Councillor Christine Marston had been in attendance at the site visit. The
visit had been arranged for members to establish the setting and character of the
area, access on to the proposed site, the potential impact on the surrounding
residents and infrastructure, drainage implications and traffic flow. Those in
attendance were invited to walk the site. Appreciation of the local feeling was noted
with many local residents being present at the site visit, respectfully expressing their
concerns. Councillor Peter Scott had also been in attendance at the site visit. He
informed members upon arrival he first noted the removal of the hedgerow which in
his opinion was premature. The field was a large open field. He confirmed a number
of local residents were also at the site. He was subject to overhearing comments that
were rude and not accurate. He confirmed he had attended the site to ascertain facts
and assess the site in the proposal. Councillor Mark Young thanked the officers for
arranging and attending the site visit. He also thanked the peaceful protesters that
had been at the site with the one comment heard by Councillor Scott it was a
respectful protest. He commented the site was situated on a bad bend. In his opinion
it was a very good site visit. The thoughts of the other members were echoed by
Councillor Rhys Thomas also at the site visit. He wanted to highlight to members the
topography of the site in relation to the surroundings. It was almost looking down on
Denbigh Castle, it raised concerns on the potential change to the skyline over
Denbigh.
The Chair guided members to the late information that had been submitted and
shared on the supplementary papers.
Councillor Glenn Swingler (Local Member) thanked all that had been in attendance
at the site meeting. It was confirmed the hedgerow had been removed on the last
day of February, before the requirement to apply for a license was needed. It was
disappointing the ecology officer was not present at Committee as he had not raised
concerns about the hedgerow removal. Cheshire Ecology Services employed by
Castle Green, stated the site was generally of no ecological value with the exception
of the species rich hedgerow, which had the potential to qualify as important under
the wildlife and landscape criteria of the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. A section of
the hedgerow was proposed to be removed to facilitate the development. He

Page 12

informed members once the hedgerow had been removed, a drystone wall was
found. It had the possibility of being the previous town boundary. It was the local
member’s opinion that further investigation on the wall was needed.
Councillor Swingler reminded members that Denbighshire County Council had
declared a climate change and ecological emergency, he asked how could members
agree to the development on graded agricultural land. He confirmed the site was
included in the LDP in 2012. Which he stated was out of date.
The additional properties in Denbigh would increase the traffic flow especially down
Smithfield Road towards Lenton Pool, an already congested roundabout. The added
traffic will also go down Vale St which is already the third most polluted street in
Denbighshire.
As previously stated the development site was in an elevated position, the proposed
houses would stand out and above the skyline. A big detriment to the area. It was
stressed numerous objections to the application had been made.
Councillor Peter Scott agreed with all the concerns conveyed by Councillor Swingler.
Councillor Scott proposed to refuse the application on the grounds of over
intensification, building on open countryside grade 3A farming land. This proposal
was seconded by Councillor Mark Young. Councillor Young in addition to the reasons
suggested by Councillor Scott requested an additional Highways reason be included.
He stated Planning Policy Wales Edition 11, February 2021, stated that planning
authorities must seek to reduce the level of speed of traffic in and around new
developments, with streets in the area having a 20 mile per hour speed limit.
Councillor Rhys Thomas echoed the views expressed by fellow Councillors. He
highlighted to members the Council for Protection Rural Wales along with Denbigh
Town Council had objected to the application. He raised concerns on the sizing of
the affordable houses included in the proposal being smaller than what was set out
in Beautiful homes and spaces standard. He also stated that 110 houses would have
no open space. He raised concerns that local residents would not be able to afford
even the affordable houses proposed. Councillor Thomas provided members with
information contained within the LDP annual monitoring report. He requested
members gave consideration to that.
Councillor Gwyneth Kensler offered, in her opinion, some material planning
considerations to oppose the application. Those where climate change,
reorganisation of schools in Denbigh and the current war in Ukraine with regard to
food security.
In response to the concerns raised by members officers offered some further
guidance. The Strategic Planning and Housing Manager (SPHM) confirmed that the
site was allocated within the adopted LDP. The site also had an approved site
development brief approved by Council in 2017. A ministerial letter had been received
in September 2020 clarifying the current LDP remained in place until a new LDP was
agreed and adopted. Clarification was provided that the information on housing
numbers discussed related to the preparation for the replacement LDP. The figures
discussed had been the residual requirement looking at new population. The residual
figure of 833 that took into account completions that had already happened, sites
under construction and took into consideration figures for the former North Wales
hospital in Denbigh. Members heard the medium income for household in the area
was £22,635 per annum.

Page 13

The agreed site development brief suggested commuted sums would be acceptable
for open space. It was the understanding of the SPHM that within the revised plans
that had been submitted, the sizes of the affordable houses met the standards of the
beautiful homes and spaces. Policy RD1 in the adopted LDP referred to density
stating that making most efficient use of land by achieving densities of a minimum of
35 dwellings per hectare for residential development. This was a guide and intended
to make best use of the land. The senior Planning Officer confirmed that the capacity
of the local school was 180 with currently 111 enrolled at the school. As such, there
was capacity to accommodate additional pupils from this development. Members
were also informed the closest Welsh medium school had capacity of 286 pupils with
267 pupils currently enrolled. Regular contact with the education department to
ensure they were aware of potential developments took place. Members heard when
the site had been put forward for the LDP in 2013 the agricultural land issue had been
discussed and accepted.
The DCM advised caution when discussing funding towards active travel. It was his
understanding that it was the authority that applied for the active travel funding, to
improve roads. The funding applied for and received was provided by central
Government. It was confirmed officers had reviewed the application in light of active
travel and had offered no objections.
Following further discussion Councillor Merfyn Parry stated he was disappointed with
the highways report it was his opinion that the entrance to the site could have been
made safer. It was disappointing that the suggestion of a roundabout at the site had
not been assessed. He requested that the safety of the entrance to the site if
approved be completed at the start of the development and not during the
development at the site. Further information how officers calculated affordability costs
with changing lifestyles and inflation, was sought.
The Lead Member for climate change Councillor Brian Jones stated he was
disappointed that the climate change reference in the report was light within the
papers.
The DCM guided members to the suggested condition 16 that addressed some
concerns raised with regard to the entrance to the site. It was confirmed that close
discussion took place prior to the application and throughout the procedure. Members
were also informed information in the supplementary papers addressed concerns on
potential prosecution of the applicant for the removal of the hedgerow. The Local
Housing and Strategy Development Officer confirmed that affordability was
calculated as per the affordable housing SPG which related to the local income. It did
take in to account the Welsh Government guidance.
Proposal – Councillor Peter Scott proposed, seconded by Councillor Mark Young to
refuse the application contrary to officer recommendations on the basis of the
following reasons; the unacceptable and unnecessary loss of the best and most
versatile agricultural land, the potential negative impact on highway safety and the
impact the proposal would have on the climate change and ecological emergency. It
was agreed that the precise wording of any reasons for refusal would be agreed with
local members before being issued.
VOTE:
FOR – 0
AGAINST – 16

Page 14

ABSTAIN – 1
RESOLVED that permission be REFUSED against officer recommendation for the
reasons in the proposal above.

At this point 11.20 am the meeting adjourned for a 10 minute break.
The meeting reconvened at 11.30 am.
6

APPLICATION NO. 02/2021/1179/ PF - LAND AT (PART GARDEN OF) LLYS
GWYN, BRYN GOODMAN, RUTHIN, LL15 1EL
An application for the erection of 2 no. detached dwellings and associated works at
land at (part garden of) Llys Gwyn, Bryn Goodman, Ruthin.
Public Speakers – Mr Robert Jones (Agent) (FOR), informed the committee he was
a qualified architect registered with the ARB and a member of the RIBA with over 16
years’ experience in the industry. He confirmed he had led the design development
of the application. He stated in 2021 an application was submitted to the LPA for the
erection of 2 residential properties to the rear of Llys Gwyn, Bryn Goodman following
a positive pre-application in2019. The proposal followed the approval of two
residential properties to the rear of Pennant in January 2020. He stated this proposal
which had also included a subsequent application for an extension, was almost
identical to the previous applications in respect of the siting, layout, scale, design,
character, materials and aspect. The application presented had been prepared in line
with the local planning policy and supplementary guidance. The application had been
supported by the LPA with the recommendation to grant. It was stressed interfacing
distances to neighbouring properties had been exceeded to not affect the visual
amenities of local residents. Properties directly West to the site would be in excess
of 32 metres, significantly exceeding the minimum requirement identified in the SPG.
This condition was typical for 12 out of the 14 properties adjoining the trunk road to
the West of the site. At each of the locations the eastern most properties would be
elevated above the western following the local typography of the area. The speaker
noted officers were of the opinion that the scheme was acceptable and would not
result in unacceptable overlooking or overbearing impact of the neighbouring
properties. It was also noted that no objections had been received from the internal
consultation process.
General Debate – Councillor Christine Marston informed members that at the site
visit, members reviewed the geography and topography of the site, the impact on the
surrounding neighbours and the access on to Bryn Goodman. Attendees explored
the site and were allowed access to a neighbour’s property to ascertain any visual
impact. Councillor Marston felt the site visit was very beneficial to those in
attendance. Councillor Peter Scott was also in attendance at the site visit and
concurred with Councillor Marston’s views.
Councillor Emrys Wynne (Local Member) confirmed he was also at the site visit. He
stated he felt it was important for members to view the site. He informed members

Page 15

that one question that arose at the visit had been in regard to the status of the
supporting wall at the rear of the land. Councillor Wynne made reference to the
planning permission granted to the neighbouring property stating a main difference
being that development did not overlook into any neighbouring properties. Members
at the site visit asked for confirmation on the accuracy of the property levels within
the report. He informed members that a number of trees had already been removed
from the area, prior to the application being presented to members. He confirmed the
proposed new builds would be higher than existing properties and certainly would
impact visually the neighbours. A number of windows would overlook nearby
properties and affect the privacy of the neighbours. He raised concern that the skyline
would be changed from trees to housing and would be less visually attractive.
Councillor Wynne requested if members were in favour of the application that a
condition be imposed to include fencing to ascertain a certain level of privacy.
Councillor Emrys Wynne proposed to refuse the application against officer
recommendations on privacy and overlooking grounds. Councillor Gwyneth Kensler
seconded the proposal for refusal.
Local Member Councillor Bobby Feeley, stated she supported Councillor Wynne in
is his objection against the application. She informed members that the plots in the
area had large houses on large plots approval of the application would mean 3
houses on 1 plot. In her opinion it was illogical for the proposed properties to overlook
neighbouring houses and gardens. Councillor Feeley also raised concern on the
standard of the road as it was in extremely poor condition. Access to the property
had been made by splitting the existing driveway, with unattractive fencing. It was
stressed further development of sites in this area would change the character of the
area.
Councillor Huw Hilditch-Roberts (Local Member) highlighted the map of the proposed
housing, he stated the one house on one plot was bigger than the two houses
proposed put together illustrating the close proximity of the proposed houses. In his
opinion the two proposed houses where too big for the plot and did not offer enough
space for green space.
The Planning Officer (PO) thanked members for attending the site visit and started
by offering further information at the concerns raised at the visit. He informed the
committee the site levels of the site had not been surveyed, the information contained
in the report was broadly considered sufficiently accurate to enable members to make
a decision. The diagrams within the report provided members an illustration of the
elevated height of the properties. The trees in the diagram were greyed out to
demonstrate the trees being set back on the plot.
The status of any supporting wall was a legal requirement on the developer to ensure
no damage to third party land was caused during construction. The wall sat outside
the planning application boundary. The guidance states to have a distance of 21
meters, this application was more than that minimum. In officer’s opinion it would be
difficult to sustain a refusal on a loss of privacy due to the distances involved and the
level changes. The PO directed members to the suggested conditions in the report
which included a landscaping plan.
It was highlighted the proposed properties would lie next to Bryn Goodman and
former Council properties and would continue the line of dwellings along Haulfryn. It
was stated that contractors would have to show consideration to not damage the
access road.

Page 16

Planning policy suggests that sites should be developed at 35 dwellings per hectare
unless the character of the area suggested differently. The proposal would be less
dwellings per hectare if agreed. There were similar sized buildings in the near facility.
In response, Councillor Bobby Feeley stressed the importance of preventing trees
and hedgerow being removed before planning applications were presented to
committee. Councillor Huw Hilditch-Roberts urged members to refuse this application
it was his opinion that the properties would not be keeping with the character of the
area and would be overbearing.
Councillor Gwyneth Ellis asked officers for further information regarding parking
spaces allocated on the land. She stated her understanding standards say each
house should have space for 3 cars and additional visitors with turning space at the
site. In response the PO confirmed no objections had been received from the
highway officer in terms of turning space and parking. In the report it showed spaces
at the front of the dwellings were parking would be. Officers were confident that there
was sufficient parking and turning space at the site.
Councillor Emrys Wynne stated the houses would be facing west towards lovely
views. It was a great concern that the proposed properties would impact the privacy
of the existing properties.
The Development Control Manager thanked the local members for their perspective
and acknowledged the concerns and opinions of local members. He stated if
members felt the application would have an unacceptable impact on residential
amenity by way of overlooking or privacy. That would be an acceptable material
planning reason to refuse.
With regard to members general concerns about the removal of trees or hedgerows
prior to development taking place Officers emphasised that they can only use the
controls available in terms of Preservation Orders and hedgerow regulations. It was
also confirmed that the site was not in a Conservation Area.
Proposal – Councillor Emrys Wynne proposed, seconded by Councillor Gwyneth
Kensler that the application be refused against officer recommendation as the
development would have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of
nearby residential properties by reason of siting, design and potential loss of privacy.

VOTE:
FOR – 6
AGAINST – 9
ABSTAIN – 2
RESOLVED that permission be REFUSED against officer recommendation for the
reasons stated in the proposal above.
7

APPLICATION NO. 45/2021/0516/ PF - KYNSAL HOUSE, VALE ROAD, RHYL,
LL18 2PG
An application was submitted for the change of use of land and ancillary buildings to
form residential Traveller site for 6 caravans, with existing dwelling Kynsal House

Page 17

retained for owners / managers accommodation; including formation of internal
pathways and parking, landscaping and associated works at Kynsal House, Vale
Road, Rhyl.
Public Speaker –
Mr Scott Drummond (Against) confirmed the concerns he wished to put forward were
regarding the site uses. He provided objections on behalf of some residents local to
the site including the proposed plan did not offer suitable turning space for large
vehicles. The plan was an over intensification of the site. Access to and from the site
from Vale Road is and would be a danger to existing businesses and pedestrians.
He stressed in his opinion that the change of use of the land to form residential gypsy
and traveller site, in close proximity to existing residential properties would give rise
to the potential for increased activity on site. Which was in conflict with the criteria
within the Local Development Plan policy BSC10 which required proposals for sites
not to be detrimental to the amenity of occupiers of adjacent properties. It was his
opinion that the size and location of the site proposed, the size of caravans proposed
and including car parking and nearby buildings would have an adverse impact on the
health and wellbeing of the occupants. The same considerations that would be
expected to be considered should an applicant submit an application for a building
on the plot. He informed members the application should be a retrospective
application as two static caravans had been on site since 2019, with no planning
permission. He also raised the removal of trees, shrubbery and hedges had taken
place and a dropped curb installed all without planning permission. Since 2019 when
the development was first established, no attempt to engage with the immediate
community had taken place, with any concerns or engagement by local residents
ignored or challenged by the occupants. He informed members some local residents
had experienced anti-social behaviour, including noise and light pollution. It was felt
that the many vehicles and noise produced at the site were from business activities
and not purely residential.
General Debate – The Chair informed members a site visit had taken place at the
site on Friday 4th March. Councillor Christine Marston had been in attendance at the
site visit. Councillor Marston concluded the visit had been to establish the setting and
character of the area, the proximity of the neighbours and the access at the site and
neighbouring properties.
Councillor Pete Prendergast (Local Member) urged planning committee members to
object to the planning application. He stated since 2019 all hedging and shrubbery
had been removed and a drop curb installed to gain access to the site, two static
caravans had been installed on the land and all done without any planning permission
from the authority. He confirmed the vehicular access off Knowlsley Avenue had been
blocked up by fencing but the dropped kerb remained. He informed the committee
that to date all local businesses and residents had all been subject to anti-social
behaviour and had raised concerns about light and noise pollution. Councillor Pete
Prendergast proposed the application be refused against officer recommendations
for the following reasons, the siting of six static caravans and the occupied house on
the site would be over intensification of the site. The proposed layout of the site did
not conform with model 2008 standards for adequate turning space to accommodate
large vehicles such as ambulances and fire engines. Access to the site, via Vale
Road would be dangerous to both traffic and pedestrians. A change in use of this site

Page 18

in close proximity to residential buildings would give rise for the potential for increased
disturbance and activity in the area which was in conflict of the criteria 5 of the LDP
Policy number BSC10.
Councillor Prendergast further raised policies he felt relevant to the objection of the
application, including Policy RO5 the Welsh language and the social and cultural
fabric of communities, Policy BSC 3, Securing Infrastructure contributions from the
development, Policy BSC 11, Recreation and Open Space, Policy VOE 5,
Conservation of Natural Resources, Policy ASA3 Parking Standards and TAN 11
Noise 1997 and TAN 12 design 2016. He reminded members the application had
been fully opposed by Rhyl Town Council. Councillor Ellie Chard Seconded the
proposal to refuse the application.
Local member Councillor Pat Jones confirmed that the local residents and
businesses in the area had experienced, obstructions and noise issues since 2019.
Councillor Jones echoed the thoughts of Councillor Prendergast.
Councillor Ellie Chard asked if the proposal was successful would residents have to
pay a higher rate of council tax.
Councillor Joan Butterfield stated she was in full agreement with the ward members
and the reasons for the object against the application. She confirmed the hedgerow
had been removed and had reduced the quality of life at the area. It was confirmed
the site was close to the town centre and would be detrimental to the residents.
Councillor Christine Marston, confirmed at the site visit the attendees walked the plot,
and informed members the applicant had planted trees at the rear of the site.
Councillor Marston asked if lighting at the site could be controlled with a condition if
granted.
In response to the questions and comments raised the Development Control
Manager (DCM) confirmed a detailed report and site visit had been provided for
members. The DCM provided further information on the application stating an
amendment had been made as part of the application process. The model standards
for the siting of caravans had been met. Communication with the fire service had
taken place and the fire officer had no objections with the spacing at the proposed
site. He confirmed that there were no highway objections for the proposal.
Concerns raised on unacceptable noise and disturbance at the site had been raised
by members the DCM confirmed that no concerns were noted from North Wales
Police. It was also confirmed that no reported noise complaints from the public
protection officers had been received.
The applicant was fully accepting and willing to comply with the authority’s policies
in relation to open space contributions. It was also stressed that no objections had
been received from any local businesses. It had only been residential objections
raised. It was also confirmed that if the proposal was successful the residents at the
site would be required to pay any council tax and amenities for the site. Conditions
could be imposed to soften the impact of the development via a landscaping and
lightening scheme.
Councillor Brian Jones asked if a previous application for a change of use of the land
had been refused. The DCM stated there was no recent planning history. The
application presented to committee was within the development boundary of Rhyl,
meaning development of housing was acceptable.

Page 19

Councillor Joan Butterfield suggested three conditions be imposed on the application
if the proposal was successful. Councillor Butterfield listed them as follows:
Proper and adequate housing for gas bottles; electric cables are put into housing
and correct and protected plug in area and the drop curb that had been installed was
re installed at the site.
In response to the proposed conditions suggested by Councillor Butterfield the DCM
directed members to the proposed conditions already suggested for the application.
It was the opinion of the DCM that the conditions suggested had been included in
the proposed conditions for the application detailed within the report.
The DCM suggested if the application was successful officers would confirm with the
local members the wording of the conditions and bring the amended conditions back
to committee to agree.
It was highlighted that the application was for a private application for 6 pitches to
meet a need for the family. The task and finish group had been established to assess
the need for Gypsy and Traveller needs.
Proposal – Councillor Pete Prendergast proposed, seconded by Councillor Ellie
Chard that the application be refused against officer recommendation, for the
following reasons, over intensification in the use of the site, concerns about the
impact on highway safety with the access at Vale Road and concerns on
unacceptable impact on neighbours by reason of increased noise and disturbance.
The DCM reminded members of a policy included in the Local Development Plan,
around the provision of Gypsy and Traveller sites. The policy included a specific
criterion was included in the policy, officers had consulted with a number of
specialists and considered the criteria in the policy was met.

VOTE:
FOR – 2
AGAINST – 13
ABSTAIN – 2

RESOLVED that permission be REFUSED against officer recommendation for the
reasons stated in the proposal above.
8

APPLICATION NO. 15/2021/0681/
LLANARMON YN IAL, MOLD

PF - GRAIANRHYD

FARM HOUSE,

An application for the erection of proposed extension to provide annexe
accommodation at Graianrhyd Farm House, Llanarmon Yn Ial, Mold.
The Chair referred members to the additional information included in the
supplementary papers.
General Debate – Councillor Martyn Holland (Local Member) urged members to
support the application. He explained the application was to allow a family to
accommodate older relatives. The original application had been amended following

Page 20

planning officer’s guidance. The proposal site did not overlook any other properties
with no immediate neighbours and was not located within the Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty.
Proposal – Councillor Emrys Wynne proposed that the application be granted in
accordance with officer recommendations as set out in the report, seconded by
Councillor Christine Marston.
VOTE:
FOR – 15
AGAINST – 0
ABSTAIN – 0

9

RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED
recommendations as detailed within their report.

in

accordance

with

officer

APPLICATION NO. 43/2021/1279/ PF - 1
PRESTATYN

LLWYN MESEN, MELIDEN,

An application was submitted for alterations and extension to existing outbuilding to
form annex accommodation ancillary to existing dwelling and associated works at 1
Llwyn Mesen, Meliden, Prestatyn.
The Chair explained the reason the application had been presented to the committee
was due to the applicant being Councillor Peter Evans.
Proposal – Councillor Merfyn Parry stated the application presented was a
straightforward application and proposed that the application be granted in
accordance with officer recommendations as set out in the report, seconded by
Councillor Bob Murray.
VOTE:
FOR – 15
AGAINST – 0
ABSTAIN – 0
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED
recommendations as detailed within their report.

in

accordance

with

officer

The Chair offered thanks and best wishes on behalf of the committee to the Legal Officer
– Tim Dillon. He explained this was the last committee meeting that Tim would be
attending before leaving the authority. He wished him well in his new position and thanked
him for his work during his time working for Denbighshire County Council.
10

RESPONSE TO STATUTORY PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION
The Chair introduced the Hynet North West carbon dioxide pipeline- nationally
significant infrastructure project report (previously circulated). It was explained to
members the report was presented to committee for members agreement not to

Page 21

submit formal observations in response to the pre-application consultation on behalf
of Denbighshire County Council. The Chair guided members through the reasons for
this recommendation.
Councillor Brian Jones informed the members he had involved in discussions
regarding this project. He urged members to monitor the process of the project.
Councillor Mark Young proposed the recommendation included in the report that;
‘Denbighshire County Council, as neighbouring authority does not wish to make any
observations on the proposed carbon dioxide pipeline PEIR at this time, however the
Council reserves the right to comment on the proposal at application stage, and to
make representations on other component parts of the HyNet North West Project.’
This proposal was seconded by Councillor Peter Scott.
All members were in agreement with the proposed recommendation.
RESOLVED that the planning committee agree for the wording detailed above, be
approved as the response to the pre-application consultation.

The meeting concluded at 13.10 p.m.

Page 22

Agenda Item 5
WARD :

Llandrillo

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Gwyneth Ellis (c)

APPLICATION NO:

07/2021/0684/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of a 90m meteorological mast for a temporary period of
three years

LOCATION:

Land at Mynydd Mynyllod, Llandrillo, Corwen

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

07/2021/0684
Graddfa / Scale: 1:5000
Canol / Centre: 301739, 339857
Dyddiad / Date: 2022-03-31 15:15:52
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 25

Page 26

Page 27

Site map

Page 28

Page 29

Aerial photo

Page 30

Page 31

Location plan

Page 32

Page 33

Elevation Plan

Page 34

Page 35

Future Wales – plan showing location of preassessed area for wind energy

Page 36

Page 37

View from site (north)

Page 38

Page 39

View from site (south)

Page 40

Page 41

View from site (west)

Page 42

Page 43

View from site (east)

Page 44

Page 45

LVIA wireframe image for view Llandrillo viewpoint

Page 46

Page 47

LVIA wireframe image for Cynwyd viewpoint

Page 48

Denise Shaw
WARD :

Llandrillo

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Gwyneth Ellis

APPLICATION NO:

07/2021/0684/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of a 90m meteorological mast for a temporary period of
three years

LOCATION:

Land at Mynydd Mynyllod, Llandrillo, Corwen

APPLICANT:

Miss Sophie Bennet Rees, RWE Renewables

CONSTRAINTS:

PROW
Phosphorus Sensitive SAC

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
LLANDRILLO COMMUNITY COUNCIL –
Original comments:
The CC are objecting to this proposal as it’s detrimental to the landscape
Re-consultation comments:
Awaiting comments
CYNWYD COMMUNITY COUNCIL Original comments:
(Not initially consulted)
Re-consultation comments:
Awaiting comments
CORWEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL Original comments:
(Not initially consulted)
Re-consultation comments:
Awaiting comments
CLWYDIAN RANGE AND DEE VALLEY AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY
JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Original comments:
“The Joint Committee has no observations to make on this application subject to removal of the
mast and reinstatement of the land after three years. Please note that this does not confer any
support for future wind farm development at the site should the prospective DNS application for
the Gaerwen Wind farm be progressed.”
Re-consultation comments:
“The Joint Committee has no observations to make on this application subject to removal of the
mast and reinstatement of the land after three years. Please note that this does not confer any

Page 49

support for future wind farm development at the site should the prospective DNS application for
the Gaerwen Wind farm be progressed.”
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES
Original consultation response:
Advised further information is required to address concerns regarding water quality. In the
absence of additional information being provided, NRW would object to the proposal.
Re-consultation response:
Did not raise concerns with regards to Landscape matters in relation to this development,
therefore previous response (dated 22/12/2021) remains valid. No further comments at this
stage.
Water Quality
The erection of the mast will disturb the local land and will include excavation. The nature of
heavy plant and potential impacts from the plant to the local environment including the potential
for ground compressibility and disturbance of local ground materials have not been provided
within the Method Statement (included within the Ecological Statement). The potential
constraint of encountering groundwater within the excavation works has not been
mentioned/discussed. Hydraulic control may be required, which depending on the method
used, may result in dewatering effects away from the excavation area. Therefore, NRW advise
that further information is sough from the applicant with regards to the above.
Ornithology
The site is located within 2.5km of the Berwyn Special Protection Area (SPA), where the site is
characterised for supporting nationally important numbers of four breeding birds. Providing the
works are carried out in accordance with the methods laid out within the Ecological Statement
then NRW would have no concerns.
Advised the Ecological Statement should be listed as an approved document and they would
encourage the construction works to be carried outside of the breeding season.
Landscape
The site lies approximately 4.5km from the boundary of Clwydian Range and Dee Valley
AONB, and 5.5km from Snowdonia National Park.
NRW consider the new structure would not cause significant visual effect upon views from
these designated landscapes or introduce intrusive/inharmonious development which could
erode the setting of these valued landscapes.
Therefore have no objection, subject to a planning condition requiring the removal of temporary
mast at the end of the approved period and making good of any disturbed ground.
Re-consultation response:
NRW note the submission of supplementary information, but remain of the opinion that
insufficient information has been provided water quality
NRW note that, according to Soilscapes, the soils where excavations will take place are freely
draining acid loamy soils over rock and drains to local groundwater and the river network.
From the proposed groundworks, NRW consider the following is unclear:
 The number of excavations required for the deadman anchors
 The exact depth of excavation. The supplementary information states it will be 2m
below ground level, but it is assumed that this depth may be increased depending on
the ground conditions encountered. The ground conditions that could be encountered
may include superficial sediment thicknesses (till) that are less than the required
excavation depth, i.e. bedrock is shallow.
 The depth to groundwater which may be shallow.

Page 50

The proposed work area is underlain by the Penstrowed Grits Formation which is designated
as a Secondary Undifferentiated Aquifer of medium to high vulnerability. A review of the BGS
online viewer shows that two springs are located to the NE of the proposed mast location.
Although the springs are a few kilometres from the mast, they are operating from the same
bedrock and are therefore relevant. The springs may for example be fracture or contact
springs.
The Groundwater Protection Guidance, which has been adopted by Wales presents useful
principles with respect to the protection of groundwater including Sections A4 and A6.
NRW advises confirmation if there are any private water supplies, notably those relied on by
farmers within close proximity of the proposed excavations.
NRW clarification response:
Officers clarified if NRW concerns could be addressed through the imposition of conditions, and
NRW have confirmed this approach is acceptable.
Re-consultation response (March 2022):
Awaiting comments
CADW - advises there are seven scheduled monuments located inside 3km of the proposed
mast but none of them is closer than 1.2km from its location. At this distance, given the thin
nature of the proposed mast, it will not have a significant impact on the setting of any of these
scheduled monuments. CADW therefore have no objections.
CLWYD POWYS ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST
Advised there are no known archaeological sites within the red boundary area of this temporary
mast proposal. The ground here has been improved in recent years and there are no surface
archaeological features present within the mast footprint or along the access route. The
foundation disturbance for the mast is minimal and CPAT would anticipate a negligible impact
potential on any unrecorded sub-surface archaeology here.
MINISTRY OF DEFENCE 774(MOD) - MOD has no safeguarding objections to this proposal.
However, in the interests of air safety, the MOD requests that the structure is fitted with aviation
warning lighting. (minimum intensity 25 candela omni directional flashing red light or equivalent
infra-red light fitted at the highest practicable point of the structure).
MOD also advise the height of the development will necessitate that aeronautical charts and
mapping records be amended. Therefore request a condition is imposed requiring the
developer to notify UK DVOF & Powerlines at the Defence Geographic Centre with the stated
information about the development:
Precise location of development.
Date of commencement of construction.
Date of completion of construction.
The height above ground level of the tallest structure.
The maximum extension height of any construction equipment.
Details of aviation warning lighting fitted to the structure(s)
NATIONAL AIR TRAFFIC SERVICES SAFEGUARDING – no objection.
GWYNEDD COUNTY COUNCIL
Original comments:
Given the temporary nature of the proposal do not have any comments on the proposal.
Re-consultation comments:
Gwynedd Council has no observations to make on the proposal.
SNOWDONIA NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY
Original comments:

Page 51

(Not initially consulted)
Re-consultation comments:
Awaiting comments
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
Traffic, Parking and Road Safety
- Highways Officer – No comments received
- Footpaths Officer – No comments received
Public Protection Officer – No comments received
County Ecologist – No comments received
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Martin Murray, Ty'n Y Fron, Llandderfel, Bala
Susan Linder, Ty Cilan, Cilan Caravan Park, Llandrillo
Richard Siney, Talwrn Uchaf, Cynwyd
Leonard Harrision, Siamber Wen Farm, Cynwyd
Iolo McGregor, Ty Isaf, Cynwyd, Corwen
Myfry Wyn & Edna Ruth Jones, Bronguddio, Cynwyd, Corwen
Annabel Gravestock, Oak House, Cynwyd
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Principle:
 The proposed mast is a piece of equipment required to facilitate windfarm
development, and that it should not be granted without public consultation on, and full
details of the impact of, the windfarm.
 Thin end of wedge / precursor to windfarm development.
Economic / amenity impacts
 Adverse impact on local tourism business
 Adverse impact on homes and livelihoods
Landscape and visual impacts:
 Adverse impact on home
 Need better understanding of visual impact on surrounding area
 Previous met mast put up by Scottish Power was visually intrusive, this will be no
different.
 90m height would be a blight on unique corner of County.
 Harmful to landscape character and surrounding AONBs.
Water quality:
 NRW comments refer to possible effects on water.
 Properties in area all rely on private water supplies – groundworks have potential to
adversely affect water quality which would impact on private water supplies.
Ecology:
 Duty to preserve precious biodiversity.
 Adverse impact on bat and birds.
 Potential to adversely impact water supply would impact on wildlife.
Archaeology:

Page 52



Site is importance ancient upland area close to archaeological assets.

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 09/12/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: Yes
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):

additional information required from applicant

re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional
information

awaiting consideration by Committee
PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The proposal is for the erection of a 90 metre high meteorological mast points, for a
temporary period of 3 years.
1.1.2

Members may recall Committee voted to defer the application at the January
committee meeting in order for additional information to be requested from the
applicant to enable committee to fully consider the landscape and visual impact of the
proposal. A Landscape and Visual Appraisal has now been submitted in support of
the application.

1.1.3

The purpose of the mast is to collect wind data to assess the feasibility of the site for
a potential wind farm development.

1.1.4

The mast would be made from galvanised steel tubing and would be supported by a
number of guys anchored to the ground. The guy radius is 50 metres, so the diameter
of the area within the anchor points is 100 metres in total.

1.1.5

Excavation trenches for the anchors would measures 3 metres long, 0.75 metres wide
and 2 metres deep.

1.1.6

The Design and Access Statement confirms access to the site will be along existing
forestry and rough farm tracks from Tyfos Farm. A short final section of the access
route to the mast location itself will be across open grazing land. For the installation it
is anticipated that a farm vehicle, for example a tractor, will be utilised to transport the
equipment from the farm. Ongoing maintenance visits will be undertaken in a pick-up
or similar vehicle.

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement, Ecological
Statement and a Water Quality Statement.
1.2.2

The Ecological Statement includes a method statement outlining the construction
methodology, which confirms installation is likely to take one day.

1.2.3

The Water Quality Statement has been submitted in response to NRW’s consultation
response, and confirms excavations are limited to a depth of 2m and therefore
unlikely to interact with the groundwater table in this location, and the site is over
300m from the nearest water features. Excavations are limited to trenches for
anchors, which will be backfilled with soil immediately after anchor point is installed,
and therefore water ingress during excavation works in not envisaged.

1.2.4

A Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA) has been submitted in support of the
application following the Committee resolution to defer the application in January. The

Page 53

LVA considers the impact of the proposal on landscape character and visual amenity.
Viewpoints from Llandrillo and Cynwyd are provided as representative views from
where majority of people who will view the met mast on a regular basis during its
three-year operational period.
1.2.5

The LVA summarises the operational landscape and visual effects as follows:
Landscape receptors were judged to have medium sensitivity to the proposed
development. Although the landscape at Mynydd Mynyllod has local importance and
value, the landscape character and features are well represented regionally, and
generally not considered rare. The site does not contain any designated landscapes,
or protected habitats. Visual receptors include residents, visitors and recreational
users, whose attention is likely to be focused on the landscape and who have
extended opportunities for viewing, and were therefore judged to have high sensitivity
to change.
The proposed anemometer mast has a visually permeable, narrow form, occupies a
small area of rural, upland moorland, and is located within a visually expansive
landscape, resulting in the development occupying a minimal proportion of views. The
scale of the change to landscape and views will be small at most, across varying
geographical extents. The effects from the anemometer mast will be short term,
lasting only three years. The proposed design of the mast also ensures that effects
will be reversible. The magnitude of change affecting all receptors is considered to be
small at most.
In terms of landscape effect, given the small magnitude of change across the
landscape, all residual effects were judged to have lesser importance. In summary,
landscape and visual effects from the proposed development are judged to be
minimal and localised. All adverse effects on receptors are temporary and entirely
reversible at the end of the three-year operational period.

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site is upland grassland located at Mynydd Mynyllod, 6km south-west of Corwen,
and is close to public rights of way and open access land across Mynydd Mynyllod.
1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 Open countryside location outside of any development boundary defined by the Local
Development Plan.
1.4.2

The site is within the River Dee SAC phosphate sensitive zone.

1.4.3

Close to public rights of way.

1.4.4

Close to Mynydd Mynyllod local wildlife site and open access land.

1.4.5

The site appears to fall within Future Wales pre-assessed wind area for wind energy
No. 2.

1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 Temporary planning permission was granted in 2010 for a 70m meteorological mast
at the application site, which has since been taken down.
1.5.2

The Council has previously granted planning permission for two 50kW wind turbines
at Sirior Farm, approx. 1.5km to the south east of the application site and one 50kW
wind turbine at Tyfos Farm approx. 1km to the south of the application site.

Page 54

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 A water quality statement has been submitted in response to concerns raised by
NRW.
1.6.2

NRW have been re-consulted on the application.

1.6.3

Following Committee resolution to defer the application in January 2022, a Landscape
and Visual Appraisal has been submitted in support the application.

1.6.4

Members of the January Committee also requested additional consultation on the
application, including with neighbouring community councils. Following the
submission of the LVA, the following consultees have been consulted / re-consulted:











All properties within 5km of the site (original consultees)
Llandrillo Community Council (original consultee)
Gwynedd County Council (original consultee)
NRW (original consultee)
AONB Advisory Committee (original consultee)
Cynywd Community Council (additional consultee)
Corwen Community Council (additional consultee)
Snowdonia National Park Authority (additional consultee)
Public Objectors (additional consultees)
Local Member – Cllr Gwyneth Ellis (additional consultee)

1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 Members may remember a previous application for a meteorological mast at the
application site was granted planning permission by the Council in 2010 for a
temporary period of three years.
1.7.2

Members may also remember that a previous windfarm proposal on Mynydd Mynyllod
which was being promoted by Scottish Power was abandoned before it reached the
formal application stage.

1.7.3

Officers would advise Members that the Planning Inspectorate, on behalf of Welsh
Government, consulted with Denbighshire County Council and other statutory
consultees in July 2021 on an EIA Scoping Opinion Request which had been
submitted to them for a new windfarm proposal on Mynydd Mynyllod, referred to as
the ‘Gaerwen windfarm’. Officers responded to the consultation on behalf of the
Council and Welsh Government subsequently issued a detailed EIA Scoping
Direction in September 2021 (Welsh Government ref: DNS/3276735).

1.7.4

Any subsequent windfarm proposal would be classed as a ‘Development of National
Significance’ (DNS) which would be determined by Welsh Ministers. Officers would
note that a DNS application for the Gaerwen windfarm is yet to be submitted to Welsh
Government.

1.7.5

Members are advised that the current application is for a meteorological mast only,
which should be assessed on its own merits. Whilst the Council should have regard to
cumulative effects in the assessment of any planning application, as the Gaerwen
windfarm development is in the early pre-application stages, Officers would advise
that at this time weight should not be apportioned to future windfarm development in
the assessment of this application.

1.7.6

In terms of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), in Officers opinion, a
meteorological mast does not fall within any of the categories contained within
Schedule 1 or Schedule 2 of the 2017 EIA Regulations and the site is not within a
sensitive area. Consequently Officers have concluded the proposal is not a form of
development that is subject to the 2017 EIA Regulations.

Page 55

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 07/2010/0897. Erection of a 70m meteorological mast for a temporary period of three years.
Granted 21/09/2010.
2.2 07/2012/0539. Installation of 2 no. 50kW micro-generation wind turbines with control box and
access track. Granted 12/07/2013 (Sirior, 1.5km to the south east of the site).
2.3 07/2015/0414. Erection of one wind turbine with a hub height of 30.5m (48.01m to tip), control
box and associated works. Granted 09/12/2015 (Tyfos, 1km to the south of the site).
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy VOE1 – Key areas of importance
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy VOE9 – On-shore wind energy
Policy VOE10 – Renewable energy technologies
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Renewable Energy
Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual May 2017
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
Technical Advice Notes:
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN24 The Historic Environment (2017)
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019.
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning

Page 56

Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are
environmentally responsible developments.
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 11) and local policy (LDP
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological
change which is a material consideration.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements,
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the
proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5

Principle
Visual amenity
Ecology
Drainage / water quality
Heritage assets

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
The proposal is for the erection of a temporary meteorological mast which is proposed
to collect wind data to assess the feasibility of the site for future wind farm
development.
There are no planning policies which make specific reference to the erection of
meteorological masts, however it could be considered to be ancillary infrastructure
associated with windfarm development, and therefore renewable energy policy is a
material consideration.
LDP Policy VOE9 and VOE10 are considered to be of some weight in terms of the
impacts to be considered.
Future Wales forms part of the statutory development plan. Future Wales identifies
pre-assessed areas for wind development, and whilst the plans are broad scale, the
application site would appear to be within, or on the periphery of, pre-assessed area
for wind development No. 2 as shown on page 94 of Future Wales.
Policy 17 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated Infrastructure) and
Policy 18 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Developments of National
Significance) support the principle of renewable energy development and are material
to the determination of the application.
PPW at 5.9.1 states local authorities should facilitate all forms of renewable and low
carbon energy development and … planning authorities should seek to ensure their
area’s full potential for renewable and low carbon energy generation is maximised
and renewable energy targets are achieved.
Representations from members of the public have raised concerns with the principle
of the development, and impacts associated with it.
Officers would also note that temporary planning permission has previously been
granted for a mast in this location, and a 70m mast had been installed at the site, but
has since been removed following the expiration of the temporary permission.
Having regard to the above, the proposal to install a temporary mast in this location is
not in conflict with any specific planning policy or guidance, and the principle is

Page 57

therefore considered to be acceptable, subject to assessment of impacts on the
remainder of this report.
Officers would also stress the approval for a temporary mast would not convey the
Authority’s support for the principle of developing a windfarm in this location, which
would involve a wholly separate application process and a completely different range
of planning considerations.
4.2.2

Visual amenity
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
PPW 11 Section 6.3.3 states ‘All the landscapes of Wales are valued for their intrinsic
contribution to a sense of place, and local authorities should protect and enhance
their special characteristics, whilst paying due regard to the social, economic,
environmental and cultural benefits they provide, and to their role in creating valued
places.’
The site is close to the Clwydian Range and Dee Valley AONB and Snowdonia
National Park and owing to the height of the mast, would be visible from within the
designated landscapes and therefore Policy VOE1 and VOE2 are also applicable,
which together seek to protect key areas of importance, (including statutory
designated sites and areas of landscape value and the AONB), from development
which would adversely affect them.
The Community Council and representations from members of the public have raised
an objection to the proposal on landscape grounds.
NRW have raised no objection to the proposal on landscape grounds subject to
conditions being imposed to remove the mast after 3 years. The AONB Advisory
Committee has not raised an objection and have also requested the mast be removed
and the land reinstated at the end of three years. Gwynedd County Council have
made no observations on the proposal.
A Landscape and Visual Appraisal has been submitted in support of the application.
The mast is a temporary structure, has minimal impact on the environment and there
is no concrete involved in securing the foundations. The dimensions and appearance
of the mast are shown on the accompanying figures.
Officer would note there are small turbine developments within 2km of the site, and
larger windfarm development in the wider landscape.
The Landscape and Visual Appraisal concludes the landscape and visual effects from
the proposed development are judged to be minimal and localised. Whilst the mast
would be 90m in height, it is a very thin structure with only guy ropes anchoring it to
the ground, and whilst it would be visible in the landscape, and there may be some
intervisibility with wind turbine development, having regard to the conclusions of the
Landscape and Visual Appraisal and owing to scale, form and temporary nature of
the, Officers do not consider the visual impacts would justify a refusal on visual
amenity grounds.
With respect to the comments of the Community Council, Officers consider the
proposal would not unacceptably impact on visual amenity of landscape character.

Page 58

4.2.3

Ecology
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant
harm to such interests.
Policy VOE1 seek to protect key areas of importance, including statutory designated
sites, from development which would adversely affect them.
NRW have raised no objection to the proposal, subject to the Ecological Statement
being included in the list of approved documents.
The site is located within 2.5km of the Berwyn Special Protection Area (SPA), which
supports nationally important numbers of four breeding birds and is adjacent to the
Mynydd Mynyllod local wildlife site which is categorised as semi-upland area with acid
grassland, semi-improved neutral grassland, acid dry heath, dry heath/acid grassland
mosaic, wet heath, valley mire, swamp, acid flush, open water, which provides habitat
for ground nesting birds, and other fauna.
The proposal is for a meteorological mast, which is an inert structure and ground
excavations are limited to the anchor points only.
An Ecological Statement has been submitted which includes a method statement
setting out the construction methodology to be followed to minimise disturbance to
ecological interest.
Having regard to the nature and scale of the proposed development, Officers
conclude the proposal would not give rise to any unacceptable impacts on ecological
interest.

4.2.4

Drainage / water quality
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime.
The impact on groundwater and surface water quality should therefore be regarded
as a potential material consideration.
NRW have advised insufficient information has been provided to assess the impact
on water quality. A water quality statement has been submitted to address concerns
raised by NRW, however NRW have maintained their opinion that insufficient
information is provided.
Representations from members of the public have also raised concerns on water
quality grounds.
The water quality statement confirms the anchor point excavations would be no
deeper than 2m, and would not breach the groundwater table. Construction works
would be completed within a day, and anchor trenches would be infilled with soil
immediately after installation. It also states the site is also some 300m from any
waterbody.
NRW have however advised there is still uncertainty in the application, which needs
to be resolved before they can confirm the proposal does not present a risk of

Page 59

groundwater contamination. NRW have however confirmed their concerns can be
adequately addressed by imposition of a condition.
A pre-commence condition can be imposed to secure details of ground conditions and
specific details of the trench excavations, which Officers consider would be sufficient
to ensure adequate controls are in place to protect groundwater from potential
contamination.
Therefore, following the submission of additional information and subject to the
imposition of a pre-commencement condition, Officers are satisfied that the proposal
would not adversely impact water quality at the site.
4.2.5

Heritage assets
Local Development Plan Policy VOE1 seeks to protect sites of built heritage from
development which would adversely affect them, and requires that development
proposals should maintain and wherever possible enhance them for their
characteristics, local distinctiveness and value to local communities.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11), Section 6 ‘Distinctive and Natural Places’
recognises the need to conserve archaeological remains. The consideration of
archaeological remains and their setting is a material planning consideration in
determining planning applications, whether those remains are a schedules monument
or not.
Section 4 of TAN 24 - The Historic Environment sets out similar considerations to be
given by a Local Planning Authority to the determination of applications involving
archaeological remains, and their settings. It outlines different scenarios obliging
consideration of impacts and stresses the need for submissions to include relevant
surveys, studies and assessments, and mitigation proposals.
There are a number of scheduled monuments within 3km of the site.
CADW have advised the proposal will not have a significant impact on the setting of
any of these scheduled monuments and CPAT have advised there are no known
archaeological sites within the site area and would anticipate a negligible impact
potential on any unrecorded sub-surface archaeology here.
The proposal would not therefore have any adverse impacts on heritage assets in the
vicinity of the site.
Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:

Page 60

5.1 Subject to the imposition of conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and is
recommended for grant.

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The mast hereby approved shall be removed from the site no later than 20th April 2025 and
the land around the anchors and any tracks shall be reinstated within a 3 month period of its
removal in accordance with such detailed proposals to be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Location Plan (2 Drawings) - Received 1 July 2021
(ii) Block Plan - Received 1 July 2021
(iii) Access Route (Rev A) - Received 15 October 2021
(iv) 90M MET Mast General Arrangement (Drawing No. HC-CW-90M-001-002) - Received 1
July 2021
(v) Chillwind 90/80m Mast Specification - Received 1 July 2021
(vi) Chilwind Mast Deadman Anchors (Drawing No. HC-CW-ALL-DEADMAN ANCHORS) Received 1 July 2021
(vii) Design and Access Statement - Received 1 July 2021
(viii) Ecological Statement - Received 15 October 2021
(ix) Water Quality Statement (Dated 9/12/21) - Received 13 December 2021
(x) Landscape and Visual Appraisal & Appendices (Dated 01/03/22) - Received 1 March 2022

3.

The mast hereby approved shall be fitted with air safety lighting which shall have a minimum
intensity 25 candela omni directional flashing red light or equivalent infra-red light and which
shall be fitted at the highest practicable point of the structure and retained as such at all times
whilst the mast is in situ.

4.

Prior to the erection of the mast hereby approved, the developer shall notify the UK DVOF &
Powerlines at the Defence Geographic Centre in writing of the following information:
i)
Precise location of development.
ii)
Date of commencement of construction.
iii)
Date of completion of construction.
iv)
The height above ground level of the tallest structure.
v)
The maximum extension height of any construction equipment.
vi)
Details of aviation warning lighting fitted to the structure(s)

5.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, the following details shall be
submitted to an approved in writing by the local planning authority:
i) confirmation of the exact location and number of excavation points for installation of
anchors;
ii) confirmation of ground conditions at excavation points;
iii) confirmation of the excavation methods and depth of trenches;
iv) measures to prevent contamination of groundwater and sources of private water supplies.
The development shall then proceed in accordance with the approved details.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of visual amenity,
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
In the interests of air safety.

Page 61

4.
5.

In the interests of air safety.
In the interests of prevention of groundwater contamination.

Page 62

Agenda Item 6
WARD :

Llanarmon Yn Ial / Llandegla

WARD MEMBER(S):

Councillor Martyn Holland

APPLICATION NO:

15/2020/0988/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Siting of a replacement static caravan for holiday accommodation
use, formation of access track and associated works
Ffynnon y Berth, Llanarmon Road, Llanferres, Mold

LOCATION:

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

15/2020/0988
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 317682, 358557
Dyddiad / Date: 2022-03-31 15:22:48
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 65

Page 66

Page 67

Page 68

Page 69

Page 70

Page 71

Page 72

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Georgia Crawley
WARD :

Llanarmon Yn Ial / Llandegla

WARD MEMBER(S):

Councillor Martyn Holland

APPLICATION NO:

15/2020/0988/ PF

PROPOSAL:
LOCATION:

Siting of a replacement static caravan for holiday accommodation
use, formation of access track and associated works
Ffynnon y Berth, Llanarmon Road, Llanferres, Mold

APPLICANT:

Mr Neil Blackburn

CONSTRAINTS:

PROWPhosphorus Sensitive SACAONB

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
LLANARMON YN IAL COMMUNITY COUNCIL
1st Response
‘Commented that it has not been used for 20 years. No observations’.
2nd Response
‘No objection if caravan already has planning permission’.
Final Response.
‘Council are not wanting this new access, to enable the creation of a whole new development in
a separate field’.
CLWYDIAN RANGE AND DEE VALLEY AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY
JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
1st Response
“The Joint Committee regrets that a lawful development certificate was recently granted for the
stationing of a static caravan on this site (Code No. 15/2020/0434), but notes that this has now
established the principle of development. The committee is therefore primarily concerned with
mitigating the impact of the proposals on the landscape.
In this context, the committee has serious concerns about the proposed new access track
across an open field and would recommend that the track should be rerouted to follow the line
of the existing footpath and along the south side of the existing line of trees and remnant hedge
which will help assimilate the track into the landscape. The track surface should be specified as
local stone and construction works should not impede users of the footpath. The colour finishes
of the proposed caravan should be recessive in the landscape. The specification of slate grey
for the roof is acceptable, but the colour of the aluminium wall cladding should also be carefully
selected to blend into the rural scene. A detailed landscaping scheme will also be critical to
help the development fit into its rural setting. The intention to retain existing trees, hedges and
shrubs which help screen the site is supported but this should be supplemented by additional
native planting to ‘gap up’ the remnant hedges and to enclose the site.
No details of external lighting are shown but this is a particularly dark area of countryside and
any lighting should be kept to the minimum necessary for safety purposes. The committee
would therefore recommend a condition be attached requiring submission of details of any
external lighting to ensure it is the minimum necessary and is designed and specified to
conserve the AONB’s dark sky and nocturnal wildlife.”

Page 81

2nd Response
“The Joint Committee notes the minor realignment of the proposed access track but remains of
the opinion that the track would be less intrusive in the landscape if it were rerouted to the
west/south of the existing line of trees and remnant hedge which will help screen the track.”
Final Response
“The Joint Committee recommends further to previous comments, that a traditional hedge
comprising native local species alongside the track and new fencing to help mitigate any visual
impact and help to retain the rural character.
Any external lighting to ensure that it is designed and specified to conserve the AONB's dark
sky and nocturnal wildlife in accordance with the 'Planning for Dark Night Skies' SPG”.

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
- Highways Officer
‘No objection’.
- Footpaths Officer
1st Response
‘Thank you for this consultation. Path 55 Llanarmon, a footpath, follows the drive from the
public road towards Ffynnon y Berth Farm, however on reaching the farm it turns to the east
side of the farm heading in a south easterly direction eventually crossing fields passing at
closest by 25m to the west of the proposed siting of the caravans. The path leaves the farm
drive close to the point marked 2 on the plan where a gated track is to be formed. The track
does not impact on the footpath. The section of footpath runs along the access road to the
farm, as it always has done. It is unlikely that any of the works to lay out the new road or the
caravan siting is going to impact on the footpath. However, the applicant need be aware that
the public footpath, in particular when the new track is to be set out, must be left unobstructed
and the public using the path should not be exposed to any danger arising from the works or
storage of materials on or along the path’.
Final Response
‘Having considered the revised plans and in particular the response of the AONB Planning
Officer. The definitive map shows that only the section of public path 55 (fp) Llanarmon Yn Ial
that would share the existing access is along that section of the drive to the farm itself as far as
the point where the proposed new track exists the drive.
At this point the Definitive Line of path 55 runs to the almost immediate east of the existing
buildings, although over years path users have been allowed by the landowner to use the field
further east of the buildings avoiding the need to pass through the garden of that property. The
Highway Authority has no problem with the provision of a permissive route as an alternative to
the definitive line for path users.
The proposed new route to the Caravan location on leaving the farm drive would run along that
permissive route but not on the definitive line of the footpath at that point itself. We would
therefore have no reason to make any comment on the use of the permissive path to form a
private vehicle access track to the location of the caravan, however we would prefer that the
public retain the option in the future to use the permissive path that has been provided’.

Civic Society
1st Response
‘I am chair of the Llanarmon and District Conservation Society. The Conservation Society
has serious concerns about any development including the siting of Caravans in the open
Countryside especially within the AONB.
The plans also include a long access track across open farm land and parking provision
which will have a detrimental visual impact on the surrounding Countryside.
The Society therefore wish to object to this Development’.
Final Response

Page 82

‘In my capacity as chair of Llanarmon and District Conservation Society I wrote objecting to this
application previously. As far as the society is concerned the reasons for our objection remain
and we continue to lodge our objection’.
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
No representations received.
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 28/04/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 17/06/2022
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):



protracted negotiations resulting in amended plans
re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional
information
awaiting consideration by Committee



PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The proposed development is for the replacement of the existing static caravan with a
new static caravan for holiday use and the formation of an access track and
associated works.
1.1.2

The proposed access track would consist of a stone (or alike to be agreed) track
where wheels fall with grass in the centre to reduce any potential visual impact.

1.1.3

The proposed unit details show a unit that would fall within the definition of a caravan
as set out within The Caravan Sites Act 1960 and 1968 (as amended) and would
consist of:
o
Length (exclusive of any drawbar) 20m (65.6FT)
o
Width: 6.8m (22.3ft)
o
Overall height (measured internally from the floor at the lowest level to
the ceiling at the highest level) 3.05m (10ft)

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application is supported by a Planning Statement that makes the following key
points:
-

-

-

The site has accommodated a static caravan for a continuous period in excess of 10
years, therefore, the applicant recently submitted an application for a Certificate of
Lawfulness which was approved by the LPA.
The site already benefits from a foul water treatment plant and electricity. A new
access track is proposed with parking provision.
The unit would be in addition to the on-site farming business. The current and future
viability of the farm is the key driver for this application.
The proposal will support economic development.
There are several pleasant walking routes and off road footpath around the farm. The
locality offers the Clwydian Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty along with
traditional market towns such as Ruthin and Mold. All these points are expected to
reinforce the business case.
The proposals are acceptable under planning polices PSE 5 and PSE 12.
The development will be high quality and will provide local benefits.

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site is located in an agricultural field. The site is elevated above the farm and
surrounding land.

Page 83

1.3.2

The farm and farm buildings (some of which have been converted to dwellings) are
located directly to the north-west of the site. To the north is the Fisheries and caravan
site.

1.3.3

There is a solid concrete base with evidence of utility connections at the site, and
there is a static caravan placed on the concrete base which is currently in a poor state
of repair.

1.3.4

There is a row or mature trees along the fence line.

1.3.5

There is a Public Right of Way that passes through the farmyard and up past the
caravan to the south. There is also a permissive (informal) route that has been used
over time that essentially follows the route of the proposed track. This ties into the
styles etc. above.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The application site is located within the open countryside. The site is located within
the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The site is within the Phosphate Sensitive
Catchment (River Dee and Bala Lake).
1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 Certificate of lawfulness of an existing use 15/2020/0434 for the existing use of land
for the stationing of a static caravan was certified on the 26th October 2020 for the
existing use of land for the stationing of a static caravan. This did not certify the
lawfulness of any particular use of the static caravan.
1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 The plans were amended to relocate the track tightly against the garden boundaries
and to amend the detailing of the track to have the less formal appearance of two
wheel tracks with grass in the centre.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 None.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 15/2020/0434 Lawful Development Certificate for the existing use of land for the stationing of
a static caravan. Certified 26/10/2020.
2.2 15/2006/0436. Certificate of lawfulness for existing use of mobile home and caravan as
residential dwelling. Withdrawn 28/08/2006.
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy PSE5 – Rural economy
Policy PSE12 – Chalet, static and touring caravan and camping sites
Policy VOE1 - Key areas of importance
Policy VOE2 – Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Area of Outstanding Beauty
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of O
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning for Dark Skies – SPG for lighting in the

Page 84

Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beautyutstanding Natural
Beauty
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Caravans, Chalets & Camping
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
Technical Advice Notes
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)
TAN 12 Design (2016)
TAN 13 Tourism (1997)
TAN 18 Transport (2007)
3.3 Other material considerations
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019.
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are
environmentally responsible developments.
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 11) and local policy (LDP
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological
change which is a material consideration.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements,
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the
proposal.

Page 85

4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5
4.1.6

Principle
Visual amenity/ Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
Residential amenity
Ecology
Drainage (including flooding)
Highways (including access and parking)

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
The principle of siting of the caravan on this site is already established through
certificate of lawfulness application 15/2020/0434. This application stated that there
is a site licence for this site, and therefore it is considered that the caravan could be
replaced under site licence with a static caravan within the definition of a static
caravan.
Certificate of lawful use 15/2020/0434 was specific that the application did not
address any existing use. It is therefore sought to confirm this as holiday use as part
of this application.
Section 5.5 of PPW11 relates to tourism and sets out a general presumption in favour
of encouraging sustainable tourism, where it contributes to economic development,
conservation, rural diversification, urban regeneration and social inclusion, while
recognising the needs of visitors and those of local communities.
PPW11 states that in rural areas, tourism-related development is an essential
element in providing for a healthy and diverse local/national economy, but requires
development to be sympathetic to the local environment and to the needs of visitors
and the local community.
Policy PSE 5 states that in order to help to sustain the rural economy, tourism and
commercial development, including agricultural diversification, will be supported
throughout the County subject to detailed criteria, which include making a significant
contribution to sustainable development and recognising the special status of the
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty/Area of Outstanding Beauty.
The justification to Policy PSE 5 establishes the need to sustain rural employment
throughout the County is recognised and relevant considerations relating to
sustainability and minimising environmental concerns are identified. The policy
requires the demonstration of a business case for the development, in order to
establish the benefits of the scheme in relation to sustaining local employment and
the rural economy. The benefits could include provision of local employment
opportunities, use of locally sustainable sources for any raw materials, scope to sell
local produce, and provision of services to local communities.
The Planning Statement submitted with the application sets out that the scheme is to
support farm diversification and that the proposed use of the caravan as holiday
accommodation is to maintain a viable enterprise has been the key reason for
progressing this application. The intention is to let the unit out as a holiday let. This
would generate other work for the applicants cleaning and running the unit and
additional farm income.
Normally, the consideration under PSE 5 would be that redundant buildings would be
considered primarily before new build. It is considered that in this instance, the use of
the caravan for this purpose would be an acceptable alternative to an existing building
as it is already lawfully sited, unlikely to be removed and will retain the farm buildings
for farming practice.

Page 86

The applicants claim that the site is well situated to take advantage of local attractions
and the outdoor activity sector; and will provide a benefits to the wider tourism
economy.
Policy PSE 12 relates to chalets, static/touring caravans and camping sites and
allows for the environmental improvement of existing sites but does not allow any new
static caravan sites to be created. The unit would clearly meet the definition of a
caravan and Policy PSE12 would apply.
However, given that the unit is already in situ and could be replaced under a site
licence, Officers consider that in this instance, an on balance consideration needs to
be taken between Policy PSE 5 and PSE 12, which could provide an acceptable
holiday use for the caravan, support the farming enterprise and could secure
improvements to the site.
With regard to the criteria of Policy PSE12, it is considered that the small scale nature
of the site, layout and general landscaping arrangements are not considered to result
in an unacceptable impact to the character of the area or impact to local communities
and overall the proposal is considered otherwise to be in line with the criteria of Policy
PSE12.
To conclude, the principle of small scale holiday accommodation is not considered to
be unacceptable in this location as the scheme demonstrates how the development
proposal will expand or reinforce the tourism offer of the County. It is considered that
the proposal broadly complies, on balance, with Policy PSE 5 and PSE 12 along with
the guidance within PPW11 in terms of encouraging tourism in rural areas. On this
basis, it is considered that the associated development of the track is justified to
provide safe and convenient access to the unit.

4.2.2

Visual amenity/ Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
The Development Management Manual (DMM) advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that
material considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development
concerned, and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of
buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on
the neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
PPW 11 Section 6.3.3 states ‘All the landscapes of Wales are valued for their intrinsic
contribution to a sense of place, and local authorities should protect and enhance
their special characteristics, whilst paying due regard to the social, economic,
environmental and cultural benefits they provide, and to their role in creating valued
places.’
Policy VOE 2 requires assessment of the impact of development within or affecting
the AONB and AOB, and indicates that this should be resisted where it would cause
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the landscape and the
reasons for designation.
This reflects guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) which requires planning
authorities to give great weight to conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of
AONBs, and should have regard to the wildlife, cultural heritage and social and
economic well-being of the areas. The special qualities of designated areas should be
given weight in the development management process. Proposals in AONBs must be
carefully assessed to ensure that their effects on those features which the designation
is intended to protect are acceptable. The contribution that development makes to the
sustainable management of the designated area must be considered.

Page 87

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) has been developed – ‘The Clwydian
Range and Dee Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)’ along with a
specific SPG for lighting in the AONB - ‘Planning for Dark Skies’. The SPG’s provide
guidance and advice on design and lighting principles which should be followed to
assist new development proposals in the area.
Representations have been made by the Civic Society and Community Council on
visual amenity issues relating to the new proposed track but also the lodge and
parking. As set out in the principle section, Officers are of the view that the lodge has
lawful use to be sited in this location and could be replaced with any unit that falls
within the definition of a caravan under the site licence.
Initially Officers raised concerns that the track was much less appropriate, veering
into the field away from the existing boundaries and in front of the existing
hedgerow/trees. A site meeting was conducted to consider the alternative routes for
the track. However, from the site visit, it became clear that there is no possible route
through the farm yard as this would then cross directly through the garden of one of
the dwellings (following the path of the formal Public Right of Way 55). There would
also be a conflict with the Public Right of Way Officers comments in this instance
also. Officers therefore accept the justification that the route shown, tightly adjoining
the boundaries with the less formal appearance of two wheel tracks and grass in the
centre, crossing to be behind the trees in the second field, would be an acceptable
solution and not exceedingly visible as it would be screened by the topography, grass
and existing landscaping and not significantly different from the existing form of
development (residential boundaries etc).
The AONB JAC then withdrew their objections as a result of the site visit and
amended scheme and advised that;
“The Joint Committee recommends further to previous comments, that a traditional
hedge comprising native local species alongside the track and new fencing to help
mitigate any visual impact and help to retain the rural character.
Any external lighting to ensure that it is designed and specified to conserve the
AONB's dark sky and nocturnal wildlife in accordance with the 'Planning for Dark
Night Skies' SPG”.
The AONB JAC also commented that ‘The track surface should be specified as local
stone and construction works should not impede users of the footpath. The colour
finishes of the proposed caravan should be recessive in the landscape. The
specification of slate grey for the roof is acceptable, but the colour of the aluminium
wall cladding should also be carefully selected to blend into the rural scene’.
It is considered that though this permission, additional controls over the appearance,
above and beyond the existing caravan can be achieved. On this basis, it is
considered that with conditions, that the proposed development could be considered
acceptable. It is considered that a condition to require additional landscaping, details
or a recessive colour for the caravan, details of the track material and details of
lighting should be conditioned.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
No representations have been made raising residential amenity concerns.

Page 88

The nearest dwelling is 95m away. It is not considered that the level of activity
through the coming and going of visitors would impact unacceptably on the residential
amenity of occupiers. The caravan would be residential in nature as per the adjacent
uses.
It is therefore not considered that the level of activity associated with the proposed
accommodation would not result in a level of noise and disturbance to occupiers
which would give rise to a reason for refusal.

4.2.4

Ecology
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant
harm to such interests.
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 6.4
‘Biodiversity and Ecological Networks’, current legislation and the Conservation and
Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG, which stress the importance of the planning
system in meeting biodiversity objectives through promoting approaches to
development which create new opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent
biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is unavoidable.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) sets out that “planning authorities must seek to
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity” (Section
6.4.5). PPW also draws attention to the contents of Section 6 of the Environment
(Wales) Act 2016, which sets a duty on Local Planning Authorities to demonstrate
they have taken all reasonable steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the
exercise of their functions. It is important that biodiversity and resilience
considerations are taken into account at an early stage when considering
development proposals (Section 6.4.4).
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The ecological impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Future Wales (2021) advises that ‘In all cases, action towards securing the
maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net benefit), the resilience
of ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be demonstrated as part of
development proposals through innovative, nature based approaches to site planning
and the design of the built environment’.
It is considered that through a native landscaping scheme that biodiversity net benefit
can be achieved as a result of this development. A Note To Applicant could also be
included on any consent to request the erection of bat/ bird boxes.

4.2.5

Drainage
The site is located within the Phosphate Sensitive SAC Catchment Area. The
proposed development is to replace an existing static caravan served by a septic
tank, with a new replacement static caravan with a betterment of a private treatment
plant. It is not considered that the replacement of the static caravan with a static
caravan could be considered to lead to a significant increase in phosphate and that
the improved system would comply with the guidance in terms of development that
can be screened out. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would

Page 89

not lead to a likely significant effect and can be screened out. A condition is proposed
to control this in perpetuity.

4.2.6

Highways (including access and parking)
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors
relevant to the application of standards. These policies reflect general principles set
out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW) and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of
sustainable development.
The Parking Standards in New Developments SPG sets out the maximum parking
standards for new developments.
The Highway Officer raises no objection to the proposed scheme.
The Footpaths Officer also commented on the scheme and advised that there is a
permissive footpath that essentially follows the proposed route of the drive. This is an
informal footpath that has been created over time, and is taken instead of the formal
Public Right of Way that crosses the farm yard, through a garden and up to the south.
The Footpaths Officer objected to the AONB JAC’s previous suggestions about rerouting the track to follow the formal Public Right Of Way. They also commented that
they would be keen for the permissive route to still be available. A Note to Applicant
could be included on any consent to highlight that they may need to temporarily close
the footpath or agree materials for any part of the formal footpath but that they should
discuss any permissions required with the Footpath Officer/ Local Highway Authority.
The permissive footpath has always been preferred by the residents, therefore it is
considered that this use would continue along the track.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 The application is considered to be acceptable on the basis of the information submitted
regarding the existing static caravan, impact to visual amenity and tourism benefits, and is
recommended to be granted subject to the imposition of conditions

Page 90

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 20th April 2027

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Proposed caravan elevations (Drawing No. TBP_20.016_A006 P01) received 7 December
2020
(ii) Proposed caravan plans (Drawing No. TBP_20.016_A005 P01) received 7 December
2020
(iii) Existing site plan (Drawing No. TBP_20.016_A003 P04) received 24 January 2022
(iv) Existing site location plan (Drawing No. TBP_20.016_A001 P04) received 24 January
2022
(v) Proposed site plan (Drawing No. TBP_20.016_A004 P06) received 24 January 2022
(vi) Proposed site location plan (Drawing No. TBP_20.016_A002 P05) received 24 January
2022

3.

The holiday unit hereby approved shall be occupied for short term holiday accommodation
purposes only and not as a person's sole or main place of residence. An up to date register
shall be kept at the holiday accommodation hereby permitted and be made available for
inspection by the Local Planning Authority upon request. The register shall contain details of
the names of all of the occupiers of the accommodation, their main home addresses and their
date of arrival and departure from the accommodation.

4.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT
Prior to the commencement of the development or any site clearance, a native landscaping
scheme designed to deliver a net benefit for biodiversity, shall be submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include a species list for the new
planting, and only feature species of known benefit to wildlife. No species listed on schedule 9
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981), as amended, or species listed on the Invasive
Alien Species of Union concern (EU Regulation 1143/2014 on invasive alien species) should
be included in the planting list. The scheme shall include indications of all existing trees
(including spread and species) and hedgerows on the land, identify those to be retained and
set out measures for their protection throughout the course of the development.

5.

All planting and works comprised in the approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out no
later than the first planting and seeding season following the commencement of development
and shall be implemented prior to the use of the unit commencing. Any trees or plants which
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing.

6.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT
Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of the wall, roof and
track/hardstanding materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
approved details and maintained in as agreed unless otherwise agreed in writing within the
Local Planning Authority.

7.

No external lighting shall be permitted to be installed or operated, including emergency/
security lighting, until the written approval of the Local Planning Authority has been obtained
to details thereof, including a light mitigation strategy, with measures to reduce light spillage,
specified to conserve the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty's dark sky and nocturnal
wildlife. The scheme shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.

8.

PRIOR TO USE

Page 91

Facilities shall be provided and retained within the site for the parking and turning of vehicles
in accordance with the details hereby approved and shall be completed prior to the
development being brought into use.
9.

PRIOR TO USE
The site shall not be brought into use until the Private Treatment Plant foul drainage scheme
for the site has been completed in accordance with the submitted details. The foul drainage
scheme shall be managed and maintained thereafter to discharge to ground into a drainage
field constructed and maintained to the relevant British Standards; and shall never exceed a
maximum daily discharge rate of more than 2 cubic metres (m³) unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the local planning authority.

10.

PRIOR TO USE
Prior to the commencement of the use of the site, details of the bin storage shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the details approved shall be
implemented and retained at all times unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

11.

There shall be no more than one caravan sited within the application site at any time.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
To ensure that the units are utilised for tourism purposes only in line with national and local
planning policies.
In the interest of landscape and visual amenity of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and
nature conservation.
In the interests of visual amenity and nature conservation.
In the interest of visual amenity and to conserve the character and appearance of the Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty.
To ensure the favourable conservation status of protected species and the Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty's Dark Skies.
In the interest of highway safety and containing the parking area.
In the interest of preserving ecological interests within the Special Area of Conservation.
In the interest of visual amenity.
In the interest of the visual amenity of the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and open
countryside.

Page 92

Agenda Item 7
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Cheryl Lynne Williams
Cllr Brian Jones (c)

APPLICATION NO:

45/2021/0738/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4)
for 4 people

LOCATION:

7 Llys Walsh Rhyl LL18 4FR

Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

45/2021/0738
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 303019, 380907
Dyddiad / Date: 2022-03-31 15:35:36
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408
Page 95

Page 96

Page 97

Page 98

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Cheryl Lynne Williams
Cllr Brian Jones (c)

APPLICATION NO:

45/2021/0738/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4)
for 4 people

LOCATION:

7 Llys Walsh Rhyl LL18 4FR

APPLICANT:

Mr T Skelley
Cartrefi Conwy

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - Yes
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
x

Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
CITY/TOWN/COMMUNITY COUNCIL
“The Town Council wish to strongly object to this application which is considered contrary to
Policy BSC7 of the Adopted Local Development Plan which reads:
Policy BSC 7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation & Self-Contained Flats Proposals which would
lead to the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation or non self-contained flats will not be
permitted.
The justification provided by the applicant in their covering letter for the change of use is
considered to be unacceptable and concerning and seems to suggest that because the
proposed end users are being recruited from abroad it is acceptable for them to be housed in
what is considered by the Council to be substandard form of accommodation.
The letter confirms that the intention is that the use would be ongoing and that the property
would act as a halfway house for the health workers who would be rehoused in alternative
accommodation once available and that their families would subsequently join them. This
raises concerns that should the families’ join them before alternative accommodation is
identified there is the possibility that they would seek to share the accommodation resulting in
overcrowding.
The Council is aware that the County Council, Welsh Government and numerous other public
bodies have spent many millions of pounds to remove the HMO’s from Rhyl (hence the firm
policy BSC 7) and consider that should this application be permitted it would establish a
precedent and planning use that HMO’s are now acceptable
The Council is also concerned that the Housing Association have effectively removed from the
social housing register three 4 bedroom houses which are considered to be in great demand
locally.

Page 99

The Town Council would request immediate priority enforcement action be taken by the County
Council to reinstate this property to its approved use”.
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
- Highways Officer
No objection
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer
The policy stance is clear and an application to convert single dwelling houses into HMOs
would normally be not supported. There are however material considerations that outweigh
the adopted policy in this instance. Recommend granting temporary permission.
RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (IF RELEVANT)
RHYL TOWN COUNCIL
Objection
“The Council note the additional representations made by the developer in respect of this
application but do not consider that they are sufficient to alter the Town Council’s previous
strong objections”.
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Loren Peake, 22 Llys Walsh Rhyl
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Visual amenity- impact on character of the area
Potential for anti-social behaviour and disturbance
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 30/09/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 20/04/2022
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):
x
x

additional information required from applicant
awaiting consideration by Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.2 The application proposes the retention of the change of use of 7 Llys Walsh in Rhyl. It is
proposed to use the Class C3 Dwelling as a C4 House in Multiple Occupation i.e. a small
HMO.
1.3 The application is one of 3 similar proposals put forward by Cartrefi Conwy Housing
Association. The applications seek to regularise the use of 3 properties on the Parc
Aberkinsey estate in Rhyl, which with the agreement of the Council had been used to house
nurses working for Betsi Cadwaladr Health Board during the Covid 19 Pandemic (see more
details below).
1.4 The four bedroom dwelling at no. 7 has living accommodation on the ground floor comprising
a kitchen, dining room, living room utility and wc. One of the four first floor bedrooms has an
en suite, and there is also a larger shared bathroom.
1.5 There is a rear garden area and parking to the side of the dwelling for 3 vehicles.
See plans and photograph of dwelling below:

Page 100

1.6 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.6.1 In support of the application the Agents have submitted a detailed Statement setting
out the background to the proposals. Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
approached Cartrefi Conwy for assistance with accommodation as they were
struggling to recruit staff owing to accommodation issues. Cartrefi Conwy entered into
a Memorandum of Understanding with BCUHB to support them in accommodating
their workforce.
1.6.2

It was acknowledged that the current hospital accommodation is substandard so
Cartrefi Conwy’s role was to support and advise all staff of their housing options, to
promote the different tenures of housing open to them and to find them safe, suitable
accommodation as part of their recruitment package to enable them to attract UK
wide staff to the area.

1.6.3

The recruits come from abroad on a contract which initially requires them to start their
employment with a 3 month nursing skills/education transfer course, and after this 3
months they are ready to start work formally on local wards. During the initial 3 month
period the nurses are housed by BCUBH. As rental accommodation was becoming
more difficult to find, particularly for groups of nurses Cartrefi Conwy approached the
Council with the proposal to use 3 of their housing stock on Aberkinsey for the nurses.
Given the very unique set of circumstances and the pressures on BCUHB during the
crisis, the Council took a pragmatic approach and accepted the temporary breach
albeit on an informal basis. Once the two year period of agreement ceased BCUHB

Page 101

staff have left the dwellings and they are now empty while these applications are
being considered.
1.6.4

In terms of the occupancy, the nurses are generally recruited in groups of 8, their
employment ‘package’ usually includes coordinated flights for each individual, initial
accommodation and training. The groups are usually housed in single gender
accommodation (and no family members are permitted to travel with them). The
coordinated approach for the arrivals was critical during the Covid 19 Pandemic given
the travel restrictions and requirements to isolate on arrival etc. The location of the
accommodation was also important, as the nurses needed to be housed in locations
close to public transport to enable them to travel to their wards, mainly at Ysbty Glan
Clwyd. As such Aberkinsey was an ideal location.

1.6.5

Cartrefi Conwy are the landlords and managing agents for the accommodation. As
mentioned above as part of the tenancy agreement nurses families are not permitted
to join them in this accommodation. However as mentioned above Cartrefi Conwy
offer additional support to BCUHB to find the nurses long term family accommodation
if they do decide to settle in the area. They have advised that most of the arrivals so
far have wanted to settle and they have assisted in moving a number of nurses on to
long term properties in the private sector to allow their families to join them.

1.6.6

Lastly it is important that Members note that these dwellings were not subject to
Section 106 or intended to be social housing units in agreement with the Council.
Aside from the Section 106 on Aberkinsey, Cartrefi Conwy purchased 81 properties
on Phase 3 and 4 directly from developers Anwyl. This dwelling (along with the other
2 dwellings in the other applications) was always going to be offered at market rent
and advertised on the open market for anyone to apply for subject to affordability.

1.7 Description of site and surroundings
1.7.1 The four bedroom detached dwelling is located on Aberkinsey, a residential
development still partially under construction in South East Rhyl.
1.8 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.8.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl.
1.9 Relevant planning history
1.9.1 Aside from the parent permission there have been no subsequent applications of
interest on this dwelling.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.9.2 Additional information was provided by the Agent and Cartrefi Conwy to address the
concerns of the Town Council following their initial objection. The Town Council were
re-consulted on the additional information including a background and explanatory
note, and a copy of the sample tenancy agreement. However the Town Council
maintained their objection as reported at above.
1.9.3

Use Class C4 was introduced in February 2015, the C4 HMO use applies to shared
houses occupied by between three and six unrelated individuals who share basic
amenities. For the purposes of Class C4 a ‘house in multiple occupation’ has the
same meaning as in section 254 of the Housing Act 20045 and does not include a
converted block of flats to which section 257 of the Housing Act 2004 applies. To fall
within the ‘house in multiple occupation’ definition a property must be occupied as the
main residence. A traditional HMO containing more than 6 occupiers remains a Sui
Generis Use.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None of recent relevance.

Page 102

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy BSC7 – Houses in multiple occupation and self-contained flats
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019.
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are
environmentally responsible developments.
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 11) and local policy (LDP
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological
change which is a material consideration.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements,
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the
proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity

Page 103

4.1.4

Highways (including access and parking)

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
The site is located within the development boundary of RD1 allocation of Rhyl, where
the principle of new residential development is considered acceptable.
Policy BSC 7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation & Self-Contained Flats is the most
relevant policy to consider in relation to the application.
The policy states:
Proposals which would lead to the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation or non
self-contained flats will not be permitted.
The sub-division of existing premises to self-contained flats will be permitted provided
that all the following criteria are met:
i)
the property is suitable for conversion to the number and type of flats
proposed without unacceptably affecting the character, appearance and amenity
standards of the locality (including cumulative effects of such proposals); and
ii)
the proposal conforms to the Council’s approved space and amenity
standards.
The Town Council and a local resident have raised concerns over the principle of the
change of use.
The policy stance is clear and an application to convert single dwelling houses into
HMOs would not normally be supported. As stated above Planning applications ‘must
be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted development plan for the
area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the following
material considerations have to be given weight.
Firstly it is important to note that the LDP and BSC 7 policy pre-dates the introduction
of the amendments to the Use Classes Order and the introduction of Class C4 small
HMO use class. The supporting text of the policy acknowledges there is a high
concentration of HMO’s and small flats in the Coastal towns of the County, and this
had an impact on the area and living conditions of the residents. However Officers
consider that there is a distinction between the small C4 HMO’s proposed here and
the traditional HMO that the policy seeks to resist. The application is seeking retention
of a small C4 HMO for a very specific purpose as set out in the application to house
nursing staff. The four bedroom new build dwellings have adequate amenities in
terms of space, living accommodation, utility and amenity facilities. They are not
considered to be substandard in any way, unlike the poor quality HMO and
flatlet/bedsit accommodation that policy BSC 7 intended to address.
Secondly the properties are owned and managed by Cartrefi Conwy (a Registered
Social Landlord) under contract to Betsi Cadwalader University Health Board for
housing nurses brought into Wales to work in local hospitals. The properties provide a
base for them to start work immediately and then to look for permanent
accommodation once settled. These nurses are essential workers and have moved
here to support the NHS since the Covid 19 pandemic and going forward. The
properties have been operating as small HMOs for some time without any apparent
adverse impacts on the surrounding area or adjacent occupiers.
Thirdly and linked to the first point in relation to the standard of the accommodation,
the properties are new build and are located in an area where there are no other
registered HMOs currently. Whilst the policy stance is clear, it is considered that as
the properties are owned and managed by a Registered Social Landlord there is a
degree of confidence that they will be well managed. Furthermore it is suggested that
the potential for a temporary permission (say 5 years) and/or a personal permission to
Cartrefi Conwy might be acceptable given the need for essential workers currently. A
temporary permission would also allow for continued monitoring of the properties to
ensure that there are no adverse impacts on the local area.

Page 104

Given the additional material considerations set out above it is considered that there
is sufficient planning merits to outweigh what could be argued to be an outmoded
policy in relation to HMO’s. However as Officers are mindful of the experiences of the
Council in relation to HMO’s, and the concerns raised by the Town Council and
Members in relation to HMO’s, it is considered prudent to condition the use for
Cartrefi/ essential workers and for a temporary period only to enable review.
4.2.2

Visual amenity
Criteria i) of Policy RD 1 requires that development respects the site and
surroundings in terms of siting, layout, scale, form, character, design, materials,
aspect, micro-climate and intensity of use of land/buildings and spaces around and
between buildings.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment.
The visual amenity and landscape impacts of development should therefore be
regarded as a potential material consideration.
The use of the dwelling as a small HMO would not alter its appearance in any way.
No physical changes are proposed to the property to facilitate the change of use.
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to the visual amenity
policies and guidance listed above.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Criteria vi) of Policy RD 1 requires that proposals do not unacceptably affect the
amenity of local residents and land users and provide satisfactory amenity standards
itself.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The impact of the proposals on visual amenity is therefore a basic test in the policies
of the development plan.
There are local concerns expressed at the amenity impacts of the use.
The dwellings are four bedroom properties and are specified to be used for 4
individuals only. The dwellings are existing relatively new builds which meet current
floor space standards in terms of internal arrangements and external space.
In terms of the intensification of the use and impact on adjacent occupier’s amenity,
Officers have no evidence to prove that the occupiers to date have caused noise or
disturbance issues locally and as landlords Cartrefi Conwy have advised that they
have not had problematic tenants. Furthermore it is acknowledged the use of the
dwellings for four individuals may actually be less intense than the use of the four
bedrooms dwelling as a traditional family home with potentially 5/6 occupiers
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to the residential amenity
policies and guidance listed above.

4.2.4

Highways (including access and parking)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to

Page 105

meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The existing dwelling is a four bedroom dwelling and the C4 HMO would be occupied
by 4 individuals. Whist Cartrefi Conwy advised that the locations are sought to be
close to public transport and the occupants are not likely to have vehicles the parking
capacity must still be considered. The parking arrangements would remain as existing
with capacity for at 3 least cars. The parking standards advise that 3 spaces would be
required for an equivalent size dwelling. The Highways Officer has been consulted
and advised verbally that there is no objection to the scheme.
Having regard to the nature of the proposed development and existing arrangements,
it is considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety. It would therefore be in general compliance with the tests of the
policies referred to.
Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the
particular tests of the relevant policies, and other material considerations Officers consider
that the application is acceptable and subject to conditions is recommended for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- for the following reasons:1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 20th April 2027

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition
(i) Location Plan (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL07) - Received 31 July 2021
(ii) Site Plan (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL08) - Received 31 July 2021
(iii) Floor Plans (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL09) - Received 31 July 2021

Page 106

(iv) Cartrefi Conwy Supporting Statement - Received 13 December 2021
(v) Assured Shorthold Tenancy Agreement Example - Received 13 December 2021
(vi) Letter From Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (Dated 24/11/21) - Received 13
December 2021
3.

The C4 HMO hereby approved shall be used solely for purposes as described in the
application and supporting documents, and shall only be used to house four key workers only.

4.

The C4 HMO use enures for the benefit of Cartrefi Conwy (providing essential workers
accommodation only) for a period of 5 years. Should the use of the property as a C4 small
HMO for essential workers cease prior to the 5 years expiring, the property will revert to a C3
dwelling.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Cheryl Lynne Williams
Cllr Brian Jones (c)

APPLICATION NO:

45/2021/0739/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4)
for 4 people

LOCATION:

1 Lon Taylor Rhyl LL18 4FT

Page 109

This page is intentionally left blank

45/2021/0739
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 303019, 380931
Dyddiad / Date: 2022-03-31 15:39:27
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408
Page 111

Page 112

Page 113

Page 114

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Cheryl Lynne Williams
Cllr Brian Jones (c)

APPLICATION NO:

45/2021/0739/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4)
for 4 people

LOCATION:

1 Lon Taylor Rhyl LL18 4FT

APPLICANT:

MrT Skelley Cartrefi Conwy

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - Yes
Press Notice - Yes
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
x

Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
CITY/TOWN/COMMUNITY COUNCIL
“The Town Council wish to strongly object to this application which is considered contrary to
Policy BSC7 of the Adopted Local Development Plan which reads:
Policy BSC 7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation & Self-Contained Flats Proposals which would
lead to the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation or non self-contained flats will not be
permitted.
The justification provided by the applicant in their covering letter for the change of use is
considered to be unacceptable and concerning and seems to suggest that because the
proposed end users are being recruited from abroad it is acceptable for them to be housed in
what is considered by the Council to be substandard form of accommodation.
The letter confirms that the intention is that the use would be ongoing and that the property
would act as a halfway house for the health workers who would be rehoused in alternative
accommodation once available and that their families would subsequently join them. This
raises concerns that should the families’ join them before alternative accommodation is
identified there is the possibility that they would seek to share the accommodation resulting in
overcrowding.
The Council is aware that the County Council, Welsh Government and numerous other public
bodies have spent many millions of pounds to remove the HMO’s from Rhyl (hence the firm
policy BSC 7) and consider that should this application be permitted it would establish a
precedent and planning use that HMO’s are now acceptable
The Council is also concerned that the Housing Association have effectively removed from the
social housing register three 4 bedroom houses which are considered to be in great demand
locally.
The Town Council would request immediate priority enforcement action be taken by the County
Council to reinstate this property to its approved use”.

Page 115

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
- Highways Officer
No objection
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer
The policy stance is clear and an application to convert single dwelling houses into HMOs
would normally be not supported. There are however material considerations that outweigh
the adopted policy in this instance. Recommend granting temporary permission.
RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (IF RELEVANT)
RHYL TOWN COUNCIL
Objection
“The Council note the additional representations made by the developer in respect of this
application but do not consider that they are sufficient to alter the Town Council’s previous
strong objections”.
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Loren Peake, 22 Llys Walsh Rhyl
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Visual amenity- impact on character of the area
Potential for anti-social behaviour and disturbance
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 30/09/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 20/04/2022
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):
x
x

additional information required from applicant
awaiting consideration by Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.2 The application proposes the retention of the change of use of 1 Lon Taylor in Rhyl. It is
proposed to use the Class C3 Dwelling as a C4 House in Multiple Occupation i.e. a small
HMO.
1.3 The application is one of 3 similar proposals put forward by Cartrefi Conwy Housing
Association. The applications seek to regularise the use of 3 properties on the Parc
Aberkinsey estate in Rhyl, which with the agreement of the Council had been used to house
nurses working for Betsi Cadwaladr Health Board during the Covid 19 Pandemic (see more
details below).
1.4 The four bedroom dwelling at no. 7 has living accommodation on the ground floor comprising
a kitchen, dining room, living room utility and wc. One of the four first floor bedrooms has an
en suite, and there is also a larger shared bathroom.
1.5 There is a rear garden area and parking to the side of the dwelling for 3 vehicles.
See plans and photograph of dwelling below:

Page 116

1.6 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.6.1 In support of the application the Agents have submitted a detailed Statement setting
out the background to the proposals. Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
approached Cartrefi Conwy for assistance with accommodation as they were
struggling to recruit staff owing to accommodation issues. Cartrefi Conwy entered into
a Memorandum of Understanding with BCUHB to support them in accommodating
their workforce.
1.6.2

It was acknowledged that the current hospital accommodation is substandard so
Cartrefi Conwy’s role was to support and advise all staff of their housing options, to
promote the different tenures of housing open to them and to find them safe, suitable
accommodation as part of their recruitment package to enable them to attract UK
wide staff to the area.

1.6.3

The recruits come from abroad on a contract which initially requires them to start their
employment with a 3 month nursing skills/education transfer course, and after this 3
months they are ready to start work formally on local wards. During the initial 3 month
period the nurses are housed by BCUBH. As rental accommodation was becoming
more difficult to find, particularly for groups of nurses Cartrefi Conwy approached the
Council with the proposal to use 3 of their housing stock on Aberkinsey for the nurses.
Given the very unique set of circumstances and the pressures on BCUHB during the
crisis, the Council took a pragmatic approach and accepted the temporary breach
albeit on an informal basis. Once the two year period of agreement ceased BCUHB
staff have left the dwellings and they are now empty while these applications are
being considered.

Page 117

1.6.4

In terms of the occupancy, the nurses are generally recruited in groups of 8, their
employment ‘package’ usually includes coordinated flights for each individual, initial
accommodation and training. The groups are usually housed in single gender
accommodation (and no family members are permitted to travel with them). The
coordinated approach for the arrivals was critical during the Covid 19 Pandemic given
the travel restrictions and requirements to isolate on arrival etc. The location of the
accommodation was also important, as the nurses needed to be housed in locations
close to public transport to enable them to travel to their wards, mainly at Ysbty Glan
Clwyd. As such Aberkinsey was an ideal location.

1.6.5

Cartrefi Conwy are the landlords and managing agents for the accommodation. As
mentioned above as part of the tenancy agreement nurses families are not permitted
to join them in this accommodation. However as mentioned above Cartrefi Conwy
offer additional support to BCUHB to find the nurses long term family accommodation
if they do decide to settle in the area. They have advised that most of the arrivals so
far have wanted to settle and they have assisted in moving a number of nurses on to
long term properties in the private sector to allow their families to join them.

1.6.6

Lastly it is important that Members note that these dwellings were not subject to
Section 106 or intended to be social housing units in agreement with the Council.
Aside from the Section 106 on Aberkinsey, Cartrefi Conwy purchased 81 properties
on Phase 3 and 4 directly from developers Anwyl. The 3 dwellings were always going
to be offered at market rent and advertised on the open market for anyone to apply for
subject to affordability.

1.7 Description of site and surroundings
1.7.1 The four bedroom detached dwelling is located on Aberkinsey, a residential
development still partially under construction in South East Rhyl.
1.8 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.8.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl.
1.9 Relevant planning history
1.9.1 Aside from the parent permission there have been no subsequent applications of
interest on this dwelling.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.9.2 Additional information was provided by the Agent and Cartrefi Conwy to address the
concerns of the Town Council following their initial objection. The Town Council were
re-consulted on the additional information including a background and explanatory
note, and a copy of the sample tenancy agreement. However the Town Council
maintained their objection as reported at above.
1.9.3

Use Class C4 was introduced in February 2015, the C4 HMO use applies to shared
houses occupied by between three and six unrelated individuals who share basic
amenities. For the purposes of Class C4 a ‘house in multiple occupation’ has the
same meaning as in section 254 of the Housing Act 20045 and does not include a
converted block of flats to which section 257 of the Housing Act 2004 applies. To fall
within the ‘house in multiple occupation’ definition a property must be occupied as the
main residence. A traditional HMO containing more than 6 occupiers remains a Sui
Generis Use.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None of recent relevance.
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:

Page 118

Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy BSC7 – Houses in multiple occupation and self-contained flats
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019.
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are
environmentally responsible developments.
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 11) and local policy (LDP
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological
change which is a material consideration.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements,
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the
proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Highways (including access and parking)

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:

Page 119

4.2.1

Principle
The site is located within the development boundary of RD1 allocation of Rhyl, where
the principle of new residential development is considered acceptable.
Policy BSC 7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation & Self-Contained Flats is the most
relevant policy to consider in relation to the application.
The policy states:
Proposals which would lead to the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation or non
self-contained flats will not be permitted.
The sub-division of existing premises to self-contained flats will be permitted provided
that all the following criteria are met:
i)
the property is suitable for conversion to the number and type of flats
proposed without unacceptably affecting the character, appearance and amenity
standards of the locality (including cumulative effects of such proposals); and
ii)
the proposal conforms to the Council’s approved space and amenity
standards.
The Town Council and a local resident have raised concerns over the principle of the
change of use.
The policy stance is clear and an application to convert single dwelling houses into
HMOs would not normally be supported. As stated above Planning applications ‘must
be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted development plan for the
area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the following
material considerations have to be given weight.
Firstly it is important to note that the LDP and BSC 7 policy pre-dates the introduction
of the amendments to the Use Classes Order and the introduction of Class C4 small
HMO use class. The supporting text of the policy acknowledges there is a high
concentration of HMO’s and small flats in the Coastal towns of the County, and this
had an impact on the area and living conditions of the residents. However Officers
consider that there is a distinction between the small C4 HMO’s proposed here and
the traditional HMO that the policy seeks to resist. The application is seeking retention
of a small C4 HMO for a very specific purpose as set out in the application to house
nursing staff. The four bedroom new build dwellings have adequate amenities in
terms of space, living accommodation, utility and amenity facilities. They are not
considered to be substandard in any way, unlike the poor quality HMO and
flatlet/bedsit accommodation that policy BSC 7 intended to address.
Secondly the properties are owned and managed by Cartrefi Conwy (a Registered
Social Landlord) under contract to Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board for
housing nurses brought into Wales to work in local hospitals. The properties provide a
base for them to start work immediately and then to look for permanent
accommodation once settled. These nurses are essential workers and have moved
here to support the NHS since the Covid 19 pandemic and going forward. The
properties have been operating as small HMOs for some time without any apparent
adverse impacts on the surrounding area or adjacent occupiers.
Thirdly and linked to the first point in relation to the standard of the accommodation,
the properties are new build and are located in an area where there are no other
registered HMOs currently. Whilst the policy stance is clear, it is considered that as
the properties are owned and managed by a Registered Social Landlord there is a
degree of confidence that they will be well managed. Furthermore it is suggested that
the potential for a temporary permission (say 5 years) and/or a personal permission to
Cartrefi Conwy might be acceptable given the need for essential workers currently. A
temporary permission would also allow for continued monitoring of the properties to
ensure that there are no adverse impacts on the local area.
Given the additional material considerations set out above it is considered that there
is sufficient planning merits to outweigh what could be argued to be an outmoded

Page 120

policy in relation to HMO’s. However as Officers are mindful of the experiences of the
Council in relation to HMO’s, and the concerns raised by the Town Council and
Members in relation to HMO’s, it is considered prudent to condition the use for
Cartrefi/ essential workers and for a temporary period only to enable review.
4.2.2

Visual amenity
Criteria i) of Policy RD 1 requires that development respects the site and
surroundings in terms of siting, layout, scale, form, character, design, materials,
aspect, micro-climate and intensity of use of land/buildings and spaces around and
between buildings.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment.
The visual amenity and landscape impacts of development should therefore be
regarded as a potential material consideration.
The use of the dwelling as a small HMO would not alter its appearance in any way.
No physical changes are proposed to the property to facilitate the change of use.
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to the visual amenity
policies and guidance listed above.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Criteria vi) of Policy RD 1 requires that proposals do not unacceptably affect the
amenity of local residents and land users and provide satisfactory amenity standards
itself.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The impact of the proposals on visual amenity is therefore a basic test in the policies
of the development plan.
There are local concerns expressed at the amenity impacts of the use.
The dwellings are four bedroom properties and are specified to be used for 4
individuals only. The dwellings are existing relatively new builds which meet current
floor space standards in terms of internal arrangements and external space.
In terms of the intensification of the use and impact on adjacent occupier’s amenity,
Officers have no evidence to prove that the occupiers to date have cause noise or
disturbance issues locally and as landlords Cartrefi Conwy have advised that they
have not had problematic tenants.
Furthermore it is acknowledged the use of the dwellings for four individuals may
actually be less intense than the use of the four bedrooms dwelling as a traditional
family home with potentially 5/6 occupiers.
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to the residential amenity
policies and guidance listed above.

4.2.4

Highways (including access and parking)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.

Page 121

The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The existing dwelling is a four bedroom dwelling and the C4 HMO would be occupied
by 4 individuals. Whist Cartrefi Conwy advised that the locations are sought to be
close to public transport and the occupants are not likely to have vehicles the parking
capacity must still be considered. The parking arrangements would remain as existing
with capacity for at 3 least cars. The parking standards advise that 3 spaces would be
required for an equivalent size dwelling. The Highways Officer has been consulted
and advised verbally that there is no objection to the scheme.
Having regard to the nature of the proposed development and existing arrangements,
it is considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety. It would therefore be in general compliance with the tests of the
policies referred to.
Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the
particular tests of the relevant policies, and other material considerations Officers consider
that the application is acceptable and subject to conditions is recommended for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- for the following reasons:1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 20th April 2027

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition
(i) Location Plan (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL01) - Received 31 July 2021
(ii) Site Plan (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL02) - Received 31 July 2021
(iii) Floor Plans (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL03) - Received 31 July 2021
(iv) Cartrefi Conwy Supporting Statement - Received 13 December 2021
(v) Assured Shorthold Tenancy Agreement Example - Received 13 December 2021
(vi) Letter From Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (Dated 24/11/21) - Received 13
December 2021

Page 122

3.

The C4 HMO hereby approved shall be used solely for purposes as described in the
application and supporting documents, and shall only be used house four key workers only.

4.

The C4 HMO use enures for the benefit of Cartrefi Conwy (providing essential workers
accommodation only) for a period of 5 years. Should the use of the property as a C4 small
HMO for essential workers cease before the expiry of 5 years, the property will revert to a C3
dwelling.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.

Page 123

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Cheryl Lynne Williams
Cllr Brian Jones (c)

APPLICATION NO:

45/2021/0740/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4)
for 4 people

LOCATION:

3 Lon Taylor Rhyl LL18 4FT

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

45/2021/0740
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 303014, 380955
Dyddiad / Date: 2022-04-05 14:53:31
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 127

Page 128

Page 129

Page 130

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Cheryl Lynne Williams
Cllr Brian Jones (c)

APPLICATION NO:

45/2021/0740/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use
Class C3) to form a house of multiple occpancy (Use Class C4)
for 4 people

LOCATION:

3 Lon Taylor Rhyl LL18 4FT

APPLICANT:

Mr T Skelley Cartrefi Conwy

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - Yes
Press Notice - Yes
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2


Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
CITY/TOWN/COMMUNITY COUNCIL
“The Town Council wish to strongly object to this application which is considered contrary to
Policy BSC7 of the Adopted Local Development Plan which reads:
Policy BSC 7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation & Self-Contained Flats Proposals which would
lead to the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation or non self-contained flats will not be
permitted.
The justification provided by the applicant in their covering letter for the change of use is
considered to be unacceptable and concerning and seems to suggest that because the
proposed end users are being recruited from abroad it is acceptable for them to be housed in
what is considered by the Council to be substandard form of accommodation.
The letter confirms that the intention is that the use would be ongoing and that the property
would act as a halfway house for the health workers who would be rehoused in alternative
accommodation once available and that their families would subsequently join them. This
raises concerns that should the families’ join them before alternative accommodation is
identified there is the possibility that they would seek to share the accommodation resulting in
overcrowding.
The Council is aware that the County Council, Welsh Government and numerous other public
bodies have spent many millions of pounds to remove the HMO’s from Rhyl (hence the firm
policy BSC 7) and consider that should this application be permitted it would establish a
precedent and planning use that HMO’s are now acceptable
The Council is also concerned that the Housing Association have effectively removed from the
social housing register three 4 bedroom houses which are considered to be in great demand
locally.
The Town Council would request immediate priority enforcement action be taken by the County
Council to reinstate this property to its approved use”.

Page 131

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
- Highways Officer
No objection
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer
The policy stance is clear and an application to convert single dwelling houses into HMOs
would normally be not supported. There are however material considerations that outweigh
the adopted policy in this instance. Recommend granting temporary permission.

RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (IF RELEVANT)
RHYL TOWN COUNCIL
Objection
“The Council note the additional representations made by the developer in respect of this
application but do not consider that they are sufficient to alter the Town Council’s previous
strong objections”.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Loren Peake, 22 Llys Walsh Rhyl
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Visual amenity- impact on character of the area
Potential for anti-social behaviour and disturbance

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 30/09/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 20/04/2022
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):



additional information required from applicant
awaiting consideration by Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.2 The application proposes the retention of the change of use of 3 Lon Taylor in Rhyl. It is
proposed to use the Class C3 Dwelling as a C4 House in Multiple Occupation i.e. a small
HMO.
1.3 The application is one of 3 similar proposals put forward by Cartrefi Conwy Housing
Association. The applications seek to regularise the use of 3 properties on the Parc
Aberkinsey estate in Rhyl, which with the agreement of the Council had been used to house
nurses working for Betsi Cadwaladr Health Board during the Covid 19 Pandemic (see more
details below).
1.4 The four bedroom dwelling at no. 7 has living accommodation on the ground floor comprising
a kitchen, dining room, living room utility and wc. One of the four first floor bedrooms has an
en suite, and there is also a larger shared bathroom.
1.5 There is a rear garden area and parking to the side of the dwelling for 3 vehicles.
See plans and photograph of dwelling below:

Page 132

1.6 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.6.1 In support of the application the Agents have submitted a detailed Statement setting
out the background to the proposals. Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board
approached Cartrefi Conwy for assistance with accommodation as they were
struggling to recruit staff owing to accommodation issues. Cartrefi Conwy entered into
a Memorandum of Understanding with BCUHB to support them in accommodating
their workforce.
1.6.2

It was acknowledged that the current hospital accommodation is substandard so
Cartrefi Conwy’s role was to support and advise all staff of their housing options, to
promote the different tenures of housing open to them and to find them safe, suitable
accommodation as part of their recruitment package to enable them to attract UK
wide staff to the area.

1.6.3

The recruits come from abroad on a contract which initially requires them to start their
employment with a 3 month nursing skills/education transfer course, and after this 3
months they are ready to start work formally on local wards. During the initial 3 month
period the nurses are housed by BCUBH. As rental accommodation was becoming
more difficult to find, particularly for groups of nurses Cartrefi Conwy approached the
Council with the proposal to use 3 of their housing stock on Aberkinsey for the nurses.
Given the very unique set of circumstances and the pressures on BCUHB during the
crisis, the Council took a pragmatic approach and accepted the temporary breach
albeit on an informal basis. Once the two year period of agreement ceased BCUHB

Page 133

staff have left the dwellings and they are now empty while these applications are
being considered.
1.6.4

In terms of the occupancy, the nurses are generally recruited in groups of 8, their
employment ‘package’ usually includes coordinated flights for each individual, initial
accommodation and training. The groups are usually housed in single gender
accommodation (and no family members are permitted to travel with them). The
coordinated approach for the arrivals was critical during the Covid 19 Pandemic given
the travel restrictions and requirements to isolate on arrival etc. The location of the
accommodation was also important, as the nurses needed to be housed in locations
close to public transport to enable them to travel to their wards, mainly at Ysbty Glan
Clwyd. As such Aberkinsey was an ideal location.

1.6.5

Cartrefi Conwy are the landlords and managing agents for the accommodation. As
mentioned above as part of the tenancy agreement nurses families are not permitted
to join them in this accommodation. However as mentioned above Cartrefi Conwy
offer additional support to BCUHB to find the nurses long term family accommodation
if they do decide to settle in the area. They have advised that most of the arrivals so
far have wanted to settle and they have assisted in moving a number of nurses on to
long term properties in the private sector to allow their families to join them.

1.6.6

Lastly it is important that Members note that these dwellings were not subject to
Section 106 or intended to be social housing units in agreement with the Council.
Aside from the Section 106 on Aberkinsey, Cartrefi Conwy purchased 81 properties
on Phase 3 and 4 directly from developers Anwyl. The 3 dwellings were always going
to be offered at market rent and advertised on the open market for anyone to apply for
subject to affordability.

1.7 Description of site and surroundings
1.7.1 The four bedroom detached dwelling is located on Aberkinsey, a residential
development still partially under construction in South East Rhyl.
1.8 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.8.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl.
1.9 Relevant planning history
1.9.1 Aside from the parent permission there have been no subsequent applications of
interest on this dwelling.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.9.2 Additional information was provided by the Agent and Cartrefi Conwy to address the
concerns of the Town Council following their initial objection. The Town Council were
re-consulted on the additional information including a background and explanatory
note, and a copy of the sample tenancy agreement. However the Town Council
maintained their objection as reported at above.
1.9.3

Use Class C4 was introduced in February 2015, the C4 HMO use applies to shared
houses occupied by between three and six unrelated individuals who share basic
amenities. For the purposes of Class C4 a ‘house in multiple occupation’ has the
same meaning as in section 254 of the Housing Act 20045 and does not include a
converted block of flats to which section 257 of the Housing Act 2004 applies. To fall
within the ‘house in multiple occupation’ definition a property must be occupied as the
main residence. A traditional HMO containing more than 6 occupiers remains a Sui
Generis Use.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None of recent relevance.

Page 134

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy BSC7 – Houses in multiple occupation and self-contained flats
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019.
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are
environmentally responsible developments.
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 11) and local policy (LDP
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological
change which is a material consideration.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements,
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the
proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity

Page 135

4.1.4

Highways (including access and parking)

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
The site is located within the development boundary of RD1 allocation of Rhyl, where
the principle of new residential development is considered acceptable.
Policy BSC 7 – Houses in Multiple Occupation & Self-Contained Flats is the most
relevant policy to consider in relation to the application.
The policy states:
Proposals which would lead to the creation of Houses in Multiple Occupation or non
self-contained flats will not be permitted.
The sub-division of existing premises to self-contained flats will be permitted provided
that all the following criteria are met:
i)
the property is suitable for conversion to the number and type of flats
proposed without unacceptably affecting the character, appearance and amenity
standards of the locality (including cumulative effects of such proposals); and
ii)
the proposal conforms to the Council’s approved space and amenity
standards.
The Town Council and a local resident have raised concerns over the principle of the
change of use.
The policy stance is clear and an application to convert single dwelling houses into
HMOs would not normally be supported. As stated above Planning applications ‘must
be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted development plan for the
area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the following
material considerations have to be given weight.
Firstly it is important to note that the LDP and BSC 7 policy pre-dates the introduction
of the amendments to the Use Classes Order and the introduction of Class C4 small
HMO use class. The supporting text of the policy acknowledges there is a high
concentration of HMO’s and small flats in the Coastal towns of the County, and this
had an impact on the area and living conditions of the residents. However Officers
consider that there is a distinction between the small C4 HMO’s proposed here and
the traditional HMO that the policy seeks to resist. The application is seeking retention
of a small C4 HMO for a very specific purpose as set out in the application to house
nursing staff. The four bedroom new build dwellings have adequate amenities in
terms of space, living accommodation, utility and amenity facilities. They are not
considered to be substandard in any way, unlike the poor quality HMO and
flatlet/bedsit accommodation that policy BSC 7 intended to address.
Secondly the properties are owned and managed by Cartrefi Conwy (a Registered
Social Landlord) under contract to Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board for
housing nurses brought into Wales to work in local hospitals. The properties provide a
base for them to start work immediately and then to look for permanent
accommodation once settled. These nurses are essential workers and have moved
here to support the NHS since the Covid 19 pandemic and going forward. The
properties have been operating as small HMOs for some time without any apparent
adverse impacts on the surrounding area or adjacent occupiers.
Thirdly and linked to the first point in relation to the standard of the accommodation,
the properties are new build and are located in an area where there are no other
registered HMOs currently. Whilst the policy stance is clear, it is considered that as
the properties are owned and managed by a Registered Social Landlord there is a
degree of confidence that they will be well managed. Furthermore it is suggested that
the potential for a temporary permission (say 5 years) and/or a personal permission to
Cartrefi Conwy might be acceptable given the need for essential workers currently. A
temporary permission would also allow for continued monitoring of the properties to
ensure that there are no adverse impacts on the local area.

Page 136

Given the additional material considerations set out above it is considered that there
is sufficient planning merits to outweigh what could be argued to be an outmoded
policy in relation to HMO’s. However as Officers are mindful of the experiences of the
Council in relation to HMO’s, and the concerns raised by the Town Council and
Members in relation to HMO’s, it is considered prudent to condition the use for
Cartrefi/ essential workers and for a temporary period only to enable review.
4.2.2

Visual amenity
Criteria i) of Policy RD 1 requires that development respects the site and
surroundings in terms of siting, layout, scale, form, character, design, materials,
aspect, micro-climate and intensity of use of land/buildings and spaces around and
between buildings.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment.
The visual amenity and landscape impacts of development should therefore be
regarded as a potential material consideration.
The use of the dwelling as a small HMO would not alter its appearance in any way.
No physical changes are proposed to the property to facilitate the change of use.
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to the visual amenity
policies and guidance listed above.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Criteria vi) of Policy RD 1 requires that proposals do not unacceptably affect the
amenity of local residents and land users and provide satisfactory amenity standards
itself.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The impact of the proposals on visual amenity is therefore a basic test in the policies
of the development plan.
There are local concerns expressed at the amenity impacts of the use.
The dwellings are four bedroom properties and are specified to be used for 4
individuals only. The dwellings are existing relatively new builds which meet current
floor space standards in terms of internal arrangements and external space.
In terms of the intensification of the use and impact on adjacent occupier’s amenity,
Officers have no evidence to prove that the occupiers to date have cause noise or
disturbance issues locally and as landlords Cartrefi Conwy have advised that they
have not had problematic tenants.
Furthermore it is acknowledged the use of the dwellings for four individuals may
actually be less intense than the use of the four bedrooms dwelling as a traditional
family home with potentially 5/6 occupiers.
The proposal is therefore considered acceptable in relation to the residential amenity
policies and guidance listed above.

4.2.4

Highways (including access and parking)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a

Page 137

range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The existing dwelling is a four bedroom dwelling and the C4 HMO would be occupied
by 4 individuals. Whist Cartrefi Conwy advised that the locations are sought to be
close to public transport and the occupants are not likely to have vehicles the parking
capacity must still be considered. The parking arrangements would remain as existing
with capacity for at 3 least cars. The parking standards advise that 3 spaces would be
required for an equivalent size dwelling. The Highways Officer has been consulted
and advised verbally that there is no objection to the scheme.
Having regard to the nature of the proposed development and existing arrangements,
it is considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on
highway safety. It would therefore be in general compliance with the tests of the
policies referred to.
Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the
particular tests of the relevant policies, and other material considerations Officers consider
that the application is acceptable and subject to conditions is recommended for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 20th April 2027

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition
(i) Location Plan (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL04) - Received 31 July 2021
(ii) Site Plan (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL05) - Received 31 July 2021
(iii) Floor Plans (Drawing No. OT-1038-PL06) - Received 31 July 2021
(iv) Catrefi Conwy Supporting Statement - Received 13 December 2021
(v) Assured Shorthold Tenancy Agreement Example - Received 13 December 2021

Page 138

(vi) Letter From Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board (Dated 24/11/21) - Received 13
December 2021
3.

The C4 HMO hereby approved shall be used solely for purposes as described in the
application and supporting documents, and shall only be used to house four key workers only.

4.

The C4 HMO use enures for the benefit of Cartrefi Conwy (providing essential workers
accommodation only) for a period of 5 years. Should the use of the property as a C4 small
HMO for essential workers cease prior to the expiry of 5 years, the property will revert to a C3
dwelling.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity.

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
WARD :

Tremeirchion

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Christine Marston (c)

APPLICATION NO:

47/2021/0432/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of ground floor
from a public house (Use Class A3) to offices (Use Class B1)

LOCATION:

Travellers Inn Caerwys Mold CH7 5BL

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

47/2021/0432
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 311191, 375684
Dyddiad / Date: 2022-03-31 15:49:01
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 143

Page 144

Page 145

Site location

Page 146

Page 147

Aerial photo

Page 148

Page 149

Location plan

Page 150

Page 151

Proposed site layout

Page 152

Page 153

Page 154

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Page 159

Page 160

Page 161

Page 162

Page 163

Page 164

Page 165

Page 166

Page 167

Page 168

Denise Shaw
WARD :

Tremeirchion

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Christine Marston (c)

APPLICATION NO:

47/2021/0432/ PC

PROPOSAL:

Retrospective application for the change of use of ground floor
from a public house (Use Class A3) to offices (Use Class B1)

LOCATION:

Travellers Inn Caerwys Mold CH7 5BL

APPLICANT:

W&S

CONSTRAINTS:

C2 Flood Zone
Within 67m Of Trunk Road

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
TREMEIRCHION, CWM & WAEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL
Original response:
Council have considered this application at length and have no objection generally. However,
we strongly advise that conditions be applied to the use of the property i.e. reasonably hours of
use and the type of vehicles i.e. cars and light vans. The adjacent property in Flintshire, owned
by the applicant has cause considerable disturbance to local residents operating around the
clock in breach of planning conditions
Re-consultation response:
The Council had no objection to this application. However, the Council strongly recommended
that conditions be made on any approval limiting the buildings use to office hours and that the
car park could only be used by cars and light vans.
CLWYDIAN RANGE AND DEE VALLEY AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY
JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
None received at time of writing report.
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES – following observations made:
Foul Drainage – NRW have advised the site is located within a Source Protection Zone (SPZ)
for the Ffynnon Asaph Spring which is a municipal water supply operated by Dŵr Cymru Welsh
Water and is also within a Nitrate Vulnerable Zone (NVZ). NRW therefore consider further
information is needed with respect to the foul drainage arrangements to ensure existing septic
tank is fit for purpose.
Flood Risk – NRW note the site is within a C2 flood risk area, but consider there is no increase
in land use vulnerability and there will be no change to the built footprint.
Given the nature and scale of the proposal, NRW have no concerns to raise on flood risk
grounds.
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER – Requested a condition to prevent surface water / runoff
discharging to the public sewer and advisory notes to be included should planning permission
be granted.

Page 169

WELSH GOVERNMENT HIGHWAYS
Welsh Government issued a series of Holding Directions requesting additional information from
the application.
Following the submission of satisfactory information, Welsh Government withdrew the Holding
Direction and directed that, should planning permission be granted, the following conditions
should be imposed on any consent:
1. Vehicle classes OGV1, OVG2 (as defined by DMRB) as well as any plant machinery, skips,
containers or any other objects will be strictly prohibited from being parked or stored within the
red line boundary of the development at any time. Temporary relaxation of the condition may
only be approved by the LPA in writing in advance of the agreed time period for limited
maintenance reasons and timeframe only.
2. The agreed parking layout must be strictly adhered to with bay markings forever maintained
to clearly demark the approved parking bays. All bays must be available for their intended use
and always be kept free from other obstructions.
Welsh Government have also requested an advisory note that the LPA must issue to applicant:
the triangle area of land to the north east of the site, outside the redline boundary, is Welsh
Government land and the developer should contact enquiries@nmwtra.org.uk to discuss
appropriate demarcation and boundary features details that the developer should erect within
their land to ensure encroachment onto Welsh Government land does not occur.
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Brent Williams, Wern Ucha Farm, Pen y Cefn, Caerwys
Mr and Mrs Dainty, Ty Newydd, Llwybr Hir
Jo Phillips, Brookfield Cottage, Caerwys
Sally & Philip Evans, Pen y Cefn Farm, Caerwys
Sarah Dunn, Penycefn Isaf, Pen Y Cefn, Caerwys
Sarah and Tony Dunn, Pen y Cefn Isaf, Pen y Cefn, Caerwys
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Principle

No need for additional offices –plant hire business on opposite side of road should be
used instead

Rural location is not suitable for commercial business – should be located on a business
park or industrial estate, not an agricultural / residential area

No need for 24/7 operation – CCTV could be monitored remotely and does not require
onsite personnel throughout outside of normal office hours / plant hire business opposite
does not have 24/7 opening so no need for office to have 24/7 opening.

Plant hire business has conditions imposed to restrict opening hours – if this office is
given 24/7 opening, it may be used as a satellite office for plant hire business, not just
offices.
Residential amenity

Concern about 24/7 operation of the building having detrimental impact on amenity of
residential properties close to the site as a result of noise, vehicular movements &
lighting.
Visual amenity

Application is retrospective and already erected bollards / security fencing at the site
which is detrimental to visual amenity of site close to AONB.

Lighting of carpark is detrimental to amenity of local area.

Page 170

Highways / parking

Concern that HGV, plant and machinery associated with the Plant Hire business on
opposite side of the road would be parked at the Travellers Inn car park and on
surrounding roads.

Concern that 24/7 operation would result in office being used as emergency call out
centre & commercial vehicular parking area.

Increased traffic movements along country roads is hazardous

24/7 operation would mean traffic movements in evenings, night & weekends, to
detriment of local road users, cyclists, horse riders and pedestrians

Close to school bus pick up point – school children walking to pick up point / waiting by
road by

If planning permission is granted, controls must to applied to restrict HGV / plant and
machinery from using the carpark.

Disagree with assertion in supporting information that surrounding roads are redundant –
they are used by local residents for access.

30mph speed limit should be introduced on to the road
Other matters:

Consider application contains inaccuracies and omissions

Concerns raised about the operation of the plant hire business on opposite side of road,
which is part of the applicant’s group of businesses, and allude to breaches of planning
control (Officer note: plant hire business lies within Flintshire County Council
administrative area)
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 31/10/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 30/04/2022
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):

additional information required from applicant

re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional
information

awaiting consideration by Committee
PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The application is retrospective application for the change of use of the ground floor of
a public house building into B1 offices.
1.1.2

No external alterations are proposed to the building and the existing residential
accommodation at first floor level, which has a separate access, is proposed to be
retained.

1.1.3

The application is seeking approval for use of the office 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week.

1.1.4

The application form states the proposed office would employ 16 employees.

1.1.5

The existing carpark would be use for staff parking. 18 parking spaces are proposed,
which includes 2 disabled parking bay and 4 electric vehicle charging spaces. 2
further spaces are proposed for the residential flat at first floor level, and a motorbike
parking bay and 3 cycle stands are also proposed.

1.1.6

1.5m high security fence is proposed with gated access set back 15m from the
highway.

1.1.7

No external lighting is shown on the proposed site plan.

Page 171

1.1.8

Foul drainage is proposed to discharge to an existing septic tank, which the
application form states was installed in 2017 and is a Balmoral BST 60. A Balmoral
manual has been submitted with the supporting information, which states the BST 60
model is the largest model and has a capacity for 15-22 people / day.

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application is supported by a limited Flood Consequences Assessment and a
number of supporting statements.
1.2.2

Two supporting statements sets out the justification for the loss of a public house,
which explains the former public house business has seen a long term decline
passing trade, and owing to the isolated location, there is not a large enough local
community to sustain it. The pub was forced to shut during the Covid-19 pandemic,
and it has not been viable to re-open it as public house and it has therefore not reopened as a public house.

1.2.3

A further supporting statement as been submitted from Thomas Group which sets out
the applicant’s intended use of the office proposed. It states that Thomas Group owns
a number of different businesses spread out across the county (including the plant
hire business on the opposite side of the road) and some of which operate 7 days per
week.

1.2.4

The intention is for the office to be used as the head office for the business group.
The new head office is proposed to operate over a 7 day week offering clerical staff
flexi hours between 6AM and 10pm over 7 days with a CCTV Control room also
planned within building to operate 24hrs 7 days a week.

1.2.5

The agent has further advised that the applicants have recently secured £100 million
funding to invest in and expand the company, creating more jobs.

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site is occupied by a two storey former public house located adjacent to junction
30 off the A55 dual carriageway in an open countryside location, approximately 3km
to the north-west of Caerwys and 3.8 km to the north-east of Tremerchion.
1.3.2

There is a plant hire business which is part of the applicant’s business group
operating from former garden centre premises on the opposite side of the road to the
east of the site, within the administrative area of Flintshire.

1.3.3

There is a farmhouse and associated farm buildings approximately 300m to the west
and further residential properties to the north on the opposite side of the A55 dual
carriageway.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site lies outside of any development boundary defined by the LDP and is also
within a C2 Flood Risk Zone as defined by Welsh Government Technical Advice Note
15.
1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 Previous planning history relates to the public house use of the building. No planning
history of relevance to the current proposal.
1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 Amended plans have been submitted in response to Welsh Government Holding
Directions.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 Members of the public have alluded to the plant hire business on the opposite side of
the road being in breach of the planning permission for the site. Officers would

Page 172

however stress that this site lies within the administrative control of Flintshire County
Council and is subject to separate planning controls.
1.7.2

Whilst the plant hire business is part of the applicant’s business group, the current
proposal is for the change of use of a former public house to B1 offices only. The
application does not include use of land as a plant hire business or propose parking
for HGV,s or storage of plant and machinery at the site, and therefore Members are
reminded that the assessment of impacts should be focusses on the development
subject of the application only.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None of relevance to this application.

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy BSC12 – Community facilities
Policy PSE4 – Re-use and adaptation of rural buildings in open countryside
Policy PSE5 – Rural economy
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Re-use and adaptation of rural buildings
Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
Technical Advice Notes:
TAN 15 Development and Flood Risk (2004)
TAN 18 Transport (2007)

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019.
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.

Page 173

The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are
environmentally responsible developments.
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 11) and local policy (LDP
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological
change which is a material consideration.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements,
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the
proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Highways (including access and parking)
Drainage

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
Policy PSE4 supports the conversion of rural buildings for employment uses and
Policy PSE 5 supports commercial development throughout the County subject to
detailed criteria, which include ensuring the proposal is appropriate in scale and
nature to its location and proposals are supported by an appropriate business case
which demonstrates that it will support the local economy to help sustain local rural
communities.
Policy BSC12 states that change of use from a community facility could be refused
unless it can be shown that the potential for continued use of the facility is un-viable,
Representations have been received from members of the public on grounds of
principle, including the suitability of office development in a rural location, the need for
the development and the hours of proposed operation.
The proposal is for the conversion of a former public house into B1 offices, which
would be used by the applicant as the head office for their business group.
Policy PSE4 supports the conversion of rural buildings for employment use. The use
of the building as offices would therefore accord with the policy.
A public house could be considered to be a community facility, and BSC12 requires
the loss of community facilities to be justified. A supporting statement has been
provided which confirms the public house business had been struggling for a number
of years, and owing to its location, it had experienced a decline in trade and, following
Covid-19 disruption, the continued operation of the business was not considered to be
viable.
Officers consider that owing the location of the premises in an isolated location away
from any town or village centre, the loss of a public house business is unlikely to have
an unacceptable impact on the surrounding community. With regard to the submitted

Page 174

justification statement and the location of the site, the change of use of the public
house to B1 offices is considered acceptable in principle.
Officers would note however that permitted development rights would allow for office
accommodation to be extended and for a change of use of B1 use to B8 use class
(subject to floor area) without the need for planning permission which may give rise to
materially different impacts. Owing to the location of the development outside
development boundaries in a visually prominent location along the A55 and in
proximity to individual residential properties, Officers consider it necessary to impose
planning conditions to restrict the use to B1 use classes only, and to remove
permitted development rights.
4.2.2

Visual amenity
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Policy PSE5 requires commercial developments in open countryside to be
appropriate in scale and nature to its location.
Representations have been received by members of the public on grounds of visual
amenity, in particular with regards to lighting and security fencing.
No external alterations to the external façade of the building are proposed, and
therefore this element of the proposal is not likely to give rise to any adverse impact
on visual amenity.
Officers would note that no details of external lighting are proposed on the plans
submitted with the application. Owing to the rural location and proximity to the
highway and residential properties, Officers consider it necessary to impose
conditions to control external lighting at the site.
A 1.5m security fence and gates are proposed on the site plan. Officers note these
have already been installed and are not considered to be visually intrusive.
Having regard to the above, subject to conditions to control external lighting, Officers
do not consider the proposal would adversely impact on visual amenity.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Representations from members of the public have raised concern on grounds of
residential amenity, in particular in relation to the 24 hour / seven days a week
working causing noise and disturbance, including from traffic at unsociable hours.
The nearest dwellings are Fferm Catrin and The Poplars – 135m and 100m
(respectively) to the north of the site, on the opposite side of the A55. 290metres to
the west of the site is the dwelling Cae Rhys Farmhouse, whilst 280metres to the east

Page 175

is the dwelling Ty Newydd. These dwellings are within approximately 70 metres of the
A55.
The proposal is seeking approval for the office to be open 24 hours a day, seven days
a week to serve the needs of the business. Whilst objections have been made to the
proposed opening hours on grounds of residential amenity and highway safety,
having regard to the nature and scale of the office development proposed and it’s
relatively isolated location with no immediate residential neighbours, Officers do not
consider 24/7 opening would result in unacceptable harm to residential amenity and
therefore Officers do not consider restrictions on the operational hours are warranted
in this instance.
No details of external lighting are shown on the proposed plans, however conditions
can be imposed to control details of lighting.
Having regard to the separation distances between the site and the nearest
residential properties, Officers do not consider an office use in this location would
result in an unacceptable level noise and disturbance which would be harmful to
residential amenity.
As referred in the section above, conditions are considered necessary to impose
conditions to restrict the use of the building and remove permitted development rights,
which would also be in the interest of protecting amenity of surrounding residential
properties.
Having regard to the location, scale and nature of the development proposed, subject
to the imposition of planning conditions, the proposal is not considered to give rise to
unacceptable impacts on residential amenity and Officers do not consider a restriction
of opening hours is justified in this instance.
4.2.4

Highways (including access and parking)
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors
relevant to the application of standards. These policies reflect general principles set
out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of
sustainable development.
The Parking Standards in New Developments SPG sets out the maximum parking
standards for new developments.
Representations from members of the public have been received raising concerns on
highway safety grounds.
Following the submission of amended plans and additional information, Welsh
Government Highways have raised no objection to the proposal subject to the
imposition of conditions to prevent large vehicles parking at the site, to prevent skips,
plant and machinery from being stationed on the land and to ensure parking is
retained as proposed.
Whilst members of the public have raised concerns regarding the use of the site in
association with the plant hire business across the road, and for HGV / plant and

Page 176

equipment being stored at the site, Officers would stress the proposal subject of the
application is limited to the office use of the building.
Parking is proposed for staff parking only. No HGV parking provision is proposed.
Officers consider that conditions can be used to prevent the parking of HGV or siting
of plant and equipment and conditions are also proposed to limit the use of the
building to office use only.
Conditions can also be imposed to ensure the parking arrangements are brought into
use in accordance with the proposed site plan within a reasonable time scale.
The proposed office would employ 16 staff, and Officers consider parking is provided
in accordance with the Council’s Parking Requirements SPG.
Having regard to the small scale office use proposed, Officers do not consider the
vehicular movements associated with it would result in any unacceptable impact on
highway safety, especially having regard to its existing use as a public house and
likely traffic movements associated with it.
Having regard to the proposed office use of the building, subject to the imposition of
conditions to control the use and to prevent HGV or commercial plant and machinery
being stored at the site, the proposal is not considered to give rise to adverse impacts
on highway safety.
4.2.5

Drainage
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The drainage and flood risk impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 6.6.22 to 6.6.29 identifies flood risk as a
material consideration in planning and along with TAN 15 – Development and Flood
Risk, which provides a detailed framework within which risks arising from different
sources of flooding should be assessed. TAN 15 advises that in areas which are
defined as being of high flood hazard, development proposals should only be
considered where:
 new development can be justified in that location, even though it is likely to be
at risk from flooding; and
 the development proposal would not result in the intensification of existing
development which may itself be at risk; and
 new development would not increase the potential adverse impacts of a flood
event
The site lies within a C2 flood risk area.
NRW have not raised an objection to the proposal on flood risk grounds on the basis
that they consider there is no increase in land use vulnerability and there will be no
change to the built footprint.
NRW have however stated they consider inadequate information has been provided
regarding foul drainage, and have requested further information be provided to
demonstrate the existing septic tank is fit for purpose.

Page 177

Officers would note that the application is not proposing a new septic tank; the
application form states the existing septic tank, which was installed in 2017 and has a
capacity for up to 22 people, will continue to be utilised.
The building is an existing public house with an existing septic tank. The proposed
occupancy of the office is stated to be 16 members of staff and the existing septic
tank has sufficient capacity to serve this number of employees, and Officers do not
consider the proposed change of use would result in a net increase of foul drainage
discharge when compared to the existing public house use.
Officers would also note that the building is already in commercial use, and therefore
the existing septic tank should have been subject to a permit from NRW, and the
planning system should not duplicate other legislative controls.
Having regard to the above, Officers do not consider it reasonable to request
additional information regarding the septic tank and its drainage channels.
In conclusion, the proposal is not considered to give rise to any unacceptable impacts
on flood risk. Notwithstanding NRW’s views with regards to the foul drainage, having
regard to the nature and scale of the development proposed and the existing
commercial use of the building, Officers consider the foul drainage information
provided with the application is sufficient and it is not envisaged the development
would give rise to materially different drainage impacts than the existing public house
use.
Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 The principle of the development is considered to be acceptable, and Officers consider the
impacts associated with the proposal development identified in the section above can be
adequately controlled through the imposition of conditions.
5.2 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable, and the application is recommended
for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:1.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission
(i) Location Plan (Drawing No. TQRQM21118113359709) - Received 28 April 2021
(ii) Block Plan (Amended Jan 22) - Received 9 February 2022
(iii) As Existing and Proposed Floor Plans - Received 25 August 2021

Page 178

(iii) Design and Access - Received 19 August 2021
(iv) Planning Statement - Received 19 August 2021
(v) Flood Consequences Assessment - Recevied 25 August 2021
(vi) Statement Regarding Operating Hours - Received 15 September 2021
(vii) Thomas Group Supporting Statement - Received 21 October 2021
2.

The office accommodation hereby approved shall be restricted to B1 use class uses only, and
shall not be used for any other use without the written approval of the local planning authority.

3.

Notwithstanding the provisions of all Classes of Part 41 of Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development permitted by the said
Classes shall be carried out without approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority

4.

The residential accommodation at first floor level shall remain part of the planning unit and
shall not at any time be occupied as a separate residential unit.

5.

Facilities shall be provided and retained within the site for the loading, unloading, parking and
turning of vehicles as indicated on the approved block plan, and shall be completed in
accordance with the approved block plan within 3 months of the date of this permission.

6.

All parking bays shown on the approved block plan shall be clearly demarked and maintained
as such in perpetuity, and shall be made available for their intended use and kept free from
other obstructions.

7.

At no time shall vehicles which fall within classes OGV1, OVG2 or PSV as defined by the
Design Manual for Roads and Bridges be permitted to be parked or stationed within the red
line boundary for the site as shown on the approved location plan and block plan.

8.

At no time shall plant, machinery or equipment, skips, containers or other enclosures be
permitted to be stored, placed or sited within the red line boundary for the site as shown on
the approved location plan and block plan.

9.

No surface water from any increase in the roof area of the building /or impermeable surfaces
within its curtilage shall be allowed to drain directly or indirectly to the public sewerage
system.

10.

No external lighting shall be installed without the formal written approval of the Local Planning
Authority to the detailing of the proposed lighting. The approved scheme shall be
implemented strictly in accordance with the approved details.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential and visual amenity and control of
development in the open countryside.
In the interests of residential and visual amenity and control of development in the open
countryside.
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of residential amenity and control of
development in the open countryside.
To provide for the parking of vehicles clear of the highway and to ensure that reversing by
vehicles into or from the highway is rendered unnecessary in the interest of traffic safety.
To provide for the parking of vehicles clear of the highway and to ensure that reversing by
vehicles into or from the highway is rendered unnecessary in the interest of traffic safety.
In the interests of visual amenity and highway safety.
In the interests of visual amenity and highway safety.
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and
safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.
In the interest of the visual amenity, nature conservation and highway safety.

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
Denbighshire County Council
Report To: Planning Committee
Date: Wednesday, 20th April 2022
Report By: Planning Officer (Luci Duncalf)
Subject: General Matters Report – Objections to Tree Preservation Order No. 7 (a)
(2021) Land adjacent to 73a Erw Goch, Ruthin made by Denbighshire County
Council
1. Purpose of Report
1.1. In response to a request by the public, a provisional Tree Preservation Order
(TPO) has been made under delegated powers.
1.2. The affected parties have been formally notified of the provisional TPO and
given the opportunity to object to it. (If they so wish, interested parties can
also submit representations in support of the TPO).
1.3. The purpose is to inform members of the committee that the Council have
received several objections to provisional Tree Preservation Order No. 7 (a)
(2021) Land adjacent to 73a Erw Goch made on 8th December 2021 and to
recommend confirmation of the Tree Preservation Order. The Tree
Preservation Order (TPO) affords protection to a single pedunculate oak (T1)
and three Sycamores (T2, T3 and T4) on land adjacent to 73a Erw Goch to
the side of a public footpath that links Erw Goch with Wrexham Road and
Lon Speiriol- Isaf.
1.4. It is recommended that the provisional TPO is confirmed and therefore
remain in force.
2. Report
2.1. On 7th May 2021 Planning Committee resolved to grant an application for the
erection of a detached dwelling on land which formed part of the garden of
73a Erw Goch. The reference number was 02/2020/0811. Concerns were
raised during the application regarding the impact of the development on the
trees adjacent. A Tree Preservation Order was requested to be put on the
trees by a member of public to afford the trees a degree of protection and to
ensure they are safeguarded from the new development.
2.2. The Council’s Tree Consultant assessed the trees using the ‘TEMPO’
guidance and concluded that 4 of the trees merited protection and an order
should be made because the trees are a prominent and attractive feature on
the footpath that links Erw Goch with Wrexham Road and Lon Speiriol-Isaf.
2.3. Following service of the TPO notice the Council received the following
objections from interested parties:
J. Jones, 69 Erw Goch, Ruthin
Mr and Mrs Parry, 72 Erw Goch, Ruthin
C. Bellis
H. Mosford- Evans
N. Mosford- Jones

Page 181

L. Gibson (Mosford)
2.4. The objections relate to queries regarding the ownership of the trees, who
maintains them currently and who will in the future, safety concerns
regarding dead branches and questions around why these trees merit
protection and not the others on the footpath. Three of the responses
received state that they do not wish the trees to be removed.
2.5. Regarding the concerns over the dead branches, if necessary, the dead
branches could be removed with the Local Planning Authority’s consent, if
required. The trees were assessed by the Council’s Tree Consultant as
being healthy without any major defects. There is nothing to indicate the
trees are dangerous and/or requiring urgent maintenance.
2.6. When serving provisional TPOs the Council is required to notify interested
parties but does not have to ascertain who actually owns a tree subject to a
provisional TPO. The interested parties have been duly notified and it is not
the Council’s role, when making provisional TPOs, to arbitrate over land
ownership.
2.7. The Council’s Legal Officer has confirmed that the trees fall within a ‘gap’
between the registered title boundaries of the properties and the footpath
maintained by the Local Authority. Trees planted on the highway are the
responsibility of the owner of the highway.
2.8. Therefore, as some of the trees overhang the footpath, the Local Authority
has a duty to prevent obstruction of said footpath (section 130 Highways Act
1980). The Local Authority has statutory duties under the Housing Act 1980
and the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 regarding
protecting the public if for whatever reason the trees become dangerous:
Where a tree, hedge or other vegetation is causing an obstruction of the
highway, the highway authority is under a duty to prevent that obstruction
(section 130 of the Highways Act 1980).
2.9. It is considered that the concerns of residents as to who is responsible for
the trees would remain whether or not the TPO is confirmed. Therefore it is
not considered that such concerns have a significant bearing on the decision
as to whether or not the Tree Preservation Order should be confirmed.
2.10. The confirmation would not prevent reasonable and necessary works being
undertaken to the trees, merely that consent for those works would first be
required.
2.11. If the objections are not considered by Committee and the TPO remains
unconfirmed, it will lapse on 8th June 2022 (i.e. after 6 months) and the
trees will not be protected.
2. Conclusion
2.10. Taking into account the objections received regarding the ownership,
maintenance and safety of the trees, having regard to the advice provided by
the Council’s Tree Consultant, it is recommended that the TPO is confirmed
without modification.
3. Recommendation
3.10. Tree Preservation Order No. 7 (a) (2021) Land adjacent to 73a Erw Goch is
confirmed without modification to afford the trees protection.

Page 182

Background documents
Tree Preservation Order No. 7 (a) (2021) Land adjacent to 73a Erw Goch
Tree consultant TEMPO inspection notes

Page 183

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
PLANNING COMMITTEE
20TH APRIL 2022
ADDITIONAL ITEM
REPORT BY THE HEAD OF PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND COUNTRYSIDE SERVICES

AWEL Y MOR OFFSHORE WINDFARM – NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT
REPORT SEEKING APPROVAL TO SUBMIT A LOCAL IMPACT REPORT AND
FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS TO THE PLANNING INSPECTORATE UNDER
DELEGATED POWERS
1. PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
1.1 Denbighshire County Council have received notification from RWE Renewables and partners (the
‘developer’) of their intention to submit a Development Consent Order (DCO) application for the Awel y Mor
offshore windfarm to the Planning Inspectorate on the 20th April 2022.
1.2 Once the DCO application is valid, affected local authorities and other statutory consultees will be formally
consulted on the application.
1.3 Owing to the scale of the proposed development, all seven North Wales local planning authorities will be
consulted.
1.4 As an affected local authority, Denbighshire County Council will be invited to make formal representations on
the application and submit a Local Impact Report, and the Council will have five weeks to response to the
consultation.
1.5 In accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, a resolution of planning committee is required for
representations on applications of this nature.
1.6 However, as there will be no planning committee meeting in May owing to the local Council elections, given
the timing of the submission of the DCO application, the Council may not be in a position to gain committee
approval within the statutory consultation timescales.
1.7 Therefore this report seeks Members approval to make representations on the DCO application and submit
a Local Impact Report under delegated powers, in consultation with affected Ward Councillors, the Lead
Member for Planning and the Chair of Planning Committee.
2. BACKGROUND
2.1 The Awel y Mor windfarm is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project.
2.2 Under the Planning Act 2008, consent for Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects is issued through the
enactment of a Development Consent Order (a statutory instrument) rather than planning permission.
2.3 Applications for Development Consent Orders (DCO) are submitted to, and assessed by, the Planning
Inspectorate and are determined by the relevant UK Secretary of State.
2.4 Members may remember the proposed offshore windfarm was the subject of a statutory pre-application
consultation which ran from August to October 2021.
2.5 The response to the pre-application consultation was discussed at the October Planning Committee. At this
meeting, Members raised concerns with the onshore works and in particular the impact on Rhyl Golf Course

1

Page 185

and the proposal to build a new substation on an agricultural greenfield site, rather than at a site which is
better related to the existing substation developments.
2.6 For information, the Council’s final response to the pre-application consultation is attached as Appendix 1.
2.7 The developer has advised that they have made changes to the development in response to the preapplication consultation, however in advance of the DCO application being submitted, Officers cannot
confirm the extent of changes which have been made at this time.
3. THE AWEL Y MOR OFFSHORE WINDFARM PROPOSAL
3.1 The developers are proposing a new offshore windfarm off the coast of North Wales.
3.2 The proposed offshore windfarm would be located off the North Wales coast between Colwyn Bay and
Llanfairfechan. The scheme would be to the west of the existing Gwynt y Mor offshore windfarm.
3.3 The associated onshore works, including an underground high voltage cable and a new substation will form
part of the Development Consent Order application.
3.4 Members are advised that all onshore works are proposed to be within Denbighshire.
3.5 The ‘landfall’ location is the point where the electricity cable is brought ashore. The landfall location is
proposed at Rhyl Golf Course.
3.6 A new substation is proposed on agricultural land to the west of the St. Asaph Business.
3.7 A high voltage underground cable is proposed to be installed from the landfall location at Rhyl Golf course
leading to the new substation at land to the west of St. Asaph Business Park.
3.8 A further underground cable and other associated works are also proposed to connect the new substation to
the existing Bodelwyddan National Grid substation, which is located on land to the south of Glascoed Road.
3.9 The development proposal includes ancillary development such as construction compounds, laydown areas,
new tracks and vehicular accesses at the landfall location, along the cable corridor and at the substation site.
4. FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS
4.1 The Council will be invited to comment on the merits of the development proposal. Representations can
raise material planning considerations which the Council wishes to bring to the attention of the Planning
Inspectorate, and the Council may wish to formally support or object to the proposal.
4.2 The Local Impact Report can be used to inform any representations the Council wishes to raise.
5. LOCAL IMPACT REPORT
5.1 Affected local planning authorities will be invited to submit a Local Impact Report.
5.2 The Local Impact Report is a written report detailing the likely impact of the proposed development on any
part of the authority’s area, based on their existing body of local knowledge and robust evidence of local
issues, and should list the impacts and their relative importance.
5.3 The Local Impact Report is meant to give a factual, objective view of the impacts of the proposed
development on the area in question. The impacts should be presented in terms of their positive, neutral and
negative effects.
5.4 The report is distinct from any representation a local authority may make on the merits of an application. A
local authority or individual Councillor may submit a separate representation on the merits of the application.
5.5 The Local Impact Report may draw attention to matters raised with the local planning authority by interested
parties or community groups, but only if the authority considers those matters to be planning considerations
that should be included in the report.
5.6 In producing a Local Impact Report, the local authority is not required to carry out its own consultation with
the community.

2

Page 186

5.7 As the application is yet to be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate, the Local Impact Report has not been
finalised at the time of writing this report.
5.8 The developer has however agreed to cover the cost of an independent landscape consultant to carry out an
appraisal of the impact of the proposed onshore substation to inform the Council’s assessment of the impact
on landscape character and visual amenity with respect to Denbighshire interests. Accordingly Land Use
Consultants Ltd were commissioned to carry out an Onshore Substation Review, and a copy is attached as
Appendix 2 to this report for Members information.
6. RESOLUTION
6.1 Approval is sought from Committee for Officers to submit representations and a Local Impact Report to the
Planning Inspectorate under delegated powers, in consultation with the Members.
6.2 Officers would suggest the draft written representations and Local Impact Report are circulated with affected
Ward Councillors, Lead Member for Planning and Chair of Planning Committee for their consideration prior
to submission to the Planning Inspectorate.
6.3 Members are therefore requested to consider the following resolution:


EMLYN JONES

Delegate approval for representations on the DCO application and the submission of the Local
Impact Report to Officers, in consultation with the affected Ward Councillors, Lead Member for
Planning and the Chair and Planning Committee.

HEAD OF PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND COUNTYSIDE SERVIC

3

Page 187

Attachments:
Appendix 1 – Denbighshire County Council response to the developer’s pre-application consultation
Appendix 2 – Onshore substation review (independent landscape consultant’s appraisal)

Page 188

4

PLANNING, PUBLIC
PROTECTION & COUNTRYSIDE SERVICES

AWEL Y MOR OFFSHORE WINDFARM NATIONALLY SIGNIFICANT
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECT
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
RESPONSE TO THE PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION UNDER SECTION 42
OF THE PLANNING ACT 2008

Author:
Date:

Agreed by:

Denise Shaw
7 October 2021
Denbighshire County Council
Planning Committee on 6th October
2021

October 2021

1

Page 189

A. PREFACE
Reference is made to your email which gave notice of the formal pre-application consultation period
and invited comments on draft Development Consent Order and Preliminary Environmental Information
Report (PEIR) in accordance with the provisions of Section 42 of the Planning Act 2008.
Comments on behalf of Denbighshire County Council (‘the Council’) take the form of an observations
report which follows this preface. The response incorporates comments from the Council’s planning
and technical officers and elected Members of the Council.
Please note; reference is made only to sections of the consultation documents which the Council wish
to offer comment on.
We advise that comments are provided on a without prejudice basis, based on the information available.
The draft Consultation Response was presented to Denbighshire County Council Planning Committee
on 6 October 2021. The draft response has been amended in light of issues raised at Planning
Committee, and the final response has been agreed with the elected Members.
Any queries should be directed to Denise Shaw, Planning Officer:
Tel: 01824 706724
Email: denise.shaw@denbighshire.gov.uk
B. GENERAL COMMENTS ON THE PROPOSDED DEVELOPMENT
The Council does not object to the principle of the development, however there are significant concerns
with regards to works proposed at the landfall location in relation to the interaction with existing and
proposed flood defences and the operation and future viability of Rhyl Golf Club; and in relation to the
location, siting and scale of the proposed onshore substation.
The Council also have concerns with the scale of the offshore windfarm proposed and the impacts it
would have on regional interests.
With respect to the landfall location, the Council would advise that, in addition to existing coastal flood
defences, a programme of new and improved defences are proposed along the Denbighshire coast.
This includes the East Rhyl coastal defence project which is currently under construction; proposed
improved sea defences in central Rhyl; and a proposed coastal embankment at Rhyl Golf Club (please
see response to 1.3.1 below which sets out projects to be included in cumulative assessment).
It is noted that the landfall location proposed is at Rhyl Golf Club, and therefore there is the potential
for the proposal to directly impact upon existing and proposed coastal flood defences and the function
and viability of Rhyl golf club.
With respect to the onshore substation, whilst the Council accepts the need for the substation to be
sited close to the National Grid substation, the Council would question the site selection, give the
chosen substation site is an open agricultural field which is rural in character and close to residential
properties. The Council would question why alternative sites on or adjacent to the business park or to
the south of Glascoed road, which are less visually conspicuous were not selected.
Whilst the offshore array has limited significant effects on Denbighshire interests, from a regional
perspective, the Council has concerns about the number of significant effects identified in the SLVIA,
and the effect an offshore windfarm of the scale proposed would have on regional seascape and
landscape character, visual amenity and the regional visitor economy.
C. COMMENTS ON DRAFT DCO
In addition to consent for the construction and operation of an offshore windfarm, the draft DCO includes
provision for secondary powers for ‘associated development’, including streetworks and compulsory
acquisition powers.
Owing to the large geographic area affected by the onshore works, the Council has concerns about the
wide remit of secondary powers, and in particular the proposed powers for temporary stopping up or
restriction on the use of streets, and the temporary stopping up or diversion of public rights of way, as
it would remove strategic control from the local highway authority to manage the highway and public
rights of way network effectively for the benefit of users.

October 2021

2

Page 190

Any closures or diversions must be agreed within the local highway authority, and should be diverted /
closed for the minimum possible time necessary.
The Council is also an effected landowner, and has concerns regarding the impact on Council interests,
in particular at the landfall location. It is should be noted that there are existing coastal defences at the
landfall, and the Council has a programme of coastal defence scheme improvements in the pipeline
which may be impacted by the proposal.
The Council also has the following comments to make on the specific sections of the draft DCO:
PART 3
Streets
Public rights of way
11.(1)
It is not clear what is meant by ‘public rights of way strategy’. The Rights of Way Improvement Plan is
the only statutory strategy a Council would have and its purpose is not to set design or specification
standards for path reinstatement, and therefore this clause does not have any meaning, as there are
no pre-defined standards to adhere to.
The Highways Act is applicable with regards to issue of design and that would mean the developer
would need to provide a new surface at least to the standard of the original path in agreement with the
Highway Authority’s own standards not any strategy.
11 (2)
This section only refers to footpaths, however bridleways and byways will also be affected by the
development proposal. Is this an omission, or is the intention that this clause should only apply to
footpaths?
It is essential the local highway authority have adequate advance notice and indication of the sections
being stopped up and details of what it is to be replaced with, and stopping up period should be as short
and commodious to satisfy the existing statutory tests in law for the replacement of public rights of way.
Temporary stopping up of public rights of way
12. (2)
As above, this clause is meaningless as Rights of Way Improvement Plans do not specify to this level
of detail standards for replacement paths. Each case is site specific and depends on the existing
condition of the right of way and the nature of use, and detailing cannot be standardised, and needs
approval of the local highway authority.
PART 5
Powers of Acquisition
The Council is an effected landowner, in particular at the landfall location.
The Council has significant concerns regarding the proposed compulsory acquisition powers, and
consider the needs of development should not override or conflict with other landowner interests, or
undermine other developments which are be carried out, in particular strategic improvements to coastal
flood defences.
The Council consider existing and planned flood defence infrastructure at the landfall must take
precedence over the windfarm development, and as such the Council cannot agreed to powers of
acquisition unless amendments to the windfarm scheme are made to ensure no adverse impact on
flood defences.
The Council also consider the siting of a construction compound and permanent siting of Transition
Joint Bays at Rhyl Golf Course would impact on the functionality and long term viability of the golf
course. The Council consider the powers of acquisition sought would take away any agency from the
golf club to influence the siting of infrastructure within the golf course grounds, which is unacceptable
given the potential implications for the future of the club.

October 2021

3

Page 191

Further dialogue with the Council’s property section and flood risk engineer, Rhyl Golf Club and other
affected landowners should be undertaken so they fully understand the scope of powers sought.
SCHEDULE 2
REQUIREMENTS
Requirement 7. The Council do not agree with this Requirement. Full details of substation siting, design,
scale and layout, and appearance of buildings should be included in the application in order that
assessment of effects is robust and understood.
At a last resort, should any details of the substation be subject of the Requirement, then it is essential
that the upper limits for the substation are clearly defined and embedded in the requirement. E.g. site
area shall not exceed XX,XXX m2 / external equipment shall not exceed height of 18m / number of
buildings shall not exceed 8 / buildings shall not exceed height of 15m etc.). Details of vehicular access,
internal roads, parking and turning areas, boundary treatments and lighting should also be itemised.
Requirement 11. The Code of Construction Practice should also include provision of a communication
plan outlining how the local community will be informed about construction activities, set out a
commitment to provide a single point of contact and complaints management and resolution procedure.
Requirement 16. The Council have concerns with the proposed hours of working, and do not agree to
7am – 7pm working hours in locations close to residential receptors. Where working areas are close to
residential receptors, hours of operation should be restricted to 8am – 6pm Monday to Saturday only,
with no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.
In relation of 16 (2). The Council has no objection to inclusion of a provision which allows for works to
be carried out outside of agreed working hours in exception circumstances. However the clause should
make it clear that requests need to be made in writing to the Council at least 48 hours in advance, and
should include an explanation why works cannot be carried out during agreed working hours and an
outline of works proposed to be undertaken. The communications plan (referred to under Requirement
11 above) should also include a provision for a mechanism to notify affected communities of out of
hours work in advance of them being undertaken.
Requirement 18. Should include a clause which requires land condition to be recorded prior to
commencement of development, and land to be restored to same or better standard than original.
Requirement 19. This requirement is not precise. The maximum noise levels from the substation site at
the nearest noise sensitive receptors must be clearly defined and embedded in the Requirement.
D. COMMENTS ON PEIR
LAYOUT OF THE REPORT
The Council wish to raise the issue of file size; the consultation documents are numerous and very large
in size, and Officers and Councillors have had difficulty accessing documents from the project website.
It is also likely that members of the public and other interested parties would struggle to open / download
the files and navigate consultation documents. Therefore consideration should be given to ensure the
file size is reduced are far as practical at submission stage.
VOLUME 1: INTRODUCTORY CHAPTERS AND ANNEXES:
1.2 CHAPTER 02: POLICY AND LEGISLATION
The Council support the principle of new renewable energy generation and recognise the contribution
the proposed windfarm would make towards meeting Welsh Government renewable energy targets and
tackling climate change.
However, new wind energy development should not be brought forward at any cost. It is noted that a
large number of significant effects have been identified in the PEIR across a range of topic areas. The
design process is iterative and full consideration should be given to scaling back the geographic spread
of the windfarm and the size of the turbines, which may help mitigate the range and extent of significant
effects identified, whilst still contributing to renewable energy and climate change goals.

October 2021

4

Page 192

1.3.1 ANNEX 3.1: CUMULATIVE EFFECTS ASSESSMENT
It is noted that necessary enabling works at the National Grid substation would fall outside of the DCO
and would be undertaken by National Grid. Whilst enabling works are not yet defined and would be
carried out separately by the National Grid, they are nevertheless essential works to be undertaken in
association with the proposed development, and the parameters of the works are at least known. The
Council consider the enabling works at the National Grid substation should therefore be included in the
cumulative assessment, and a worst case scenario should be assumed.
All existing substations and energy related infrastructure should be included in the cumulative
assessment and in particular in relation to the proposed onshore substation site.
Furthermore, the list of projects included in the cumulative assessment appears to omit a number of
major schemes within Denbighshire. The major schemes below which are located within the North of
the County should be included in the cumulative assessments:
Major applications consented since 01/01/2018:
40/2017/1232 - Erection of 7 no. industrial units with associated parking, landscaping, access road and
external storage areas. Land North of Edmund Prys, St Asaph Business Park. Granted 27/07/2018
43/2020/0843 - Demolition of former library building, erection of a new three and half storey building to
contain 2 no. commercial units at ground floor and 14 no. one- bedroom residential apartments on the
upper floors and associated works. Former Prestatyn Library, Nant Hall Road, Prestatyn. Granted
16/03/2021.
43/2017/1121 - Use of land for the siting of an additional 65 touring caravan pitches and
39 timber camping pods, storage building and associated works. Ffrith Beach, Victoria Road West,
Prestatyn. Granted 23/05/2018
43/2018/0900 - Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 15 no. unit residential apartment block;
construction of a new vehicular access and associated works. 1 The Dell and land to rear of, The Dell,
Prestatyn. Granted 12/12/2018
43/2020/0023 - Erection of a retail store with garden centre, servicing and car parking areas and
associated works. Market Site, Gas Works Lane, Prestatyn. Granted 11/08/2020
43/2017/0848 Erection of 41 affordable dwellings and associated works. Market Site, Gas Works Lane,
Prestatyn. Granted 11/08/2020
44/2018/0855 - Details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of 99 dwellings submitted
in accordance with condition number 1 of outline permission code 44/2015/1075 (reserved matters
application). Land East of Tirionfa, Meliden Road, Rhuddlan. Granted 13/03/2019
44/2020/0346 - Change of use of agricultural land to form extension to existing touring caravan site;
siting of 3 no. glamping pods and camping facilities; construction of toilet, shower and laundry blocks
and associated works. Abbey Farm Caravan Park, Abbey Road, Rhuddlan. Granted 15/10/2020
45/2020/0096 - Change of use and alterations to former offices to form a 61 bed, 6 ward hospital for
residential nursing and health care. 64 Brighton Road, Rhyl. Granted 17/06/2020
45/2021/0040 - Hybrid Planning application (Full details and outline) for the redevelopment of 0.93ha
of land known as Queens Market, incorporating the following elements:
Full Details:
- Demolition of the Bright Spot building on the corner of West Parade and High Street
- Demolition of 2-6 High Street
Queens Market, Sussex Street, Rhyl. Granted 13/09/2021
45/2020/0865 - Demolition of existing dwellings, erection of 13 no. dwellings and associated works. 323 Edward Henry Street, Rhyl. Granted 30/03/2021
45/2020/0725 - Conversion of existing offices to form 12 self-contained apartments, including demolition
of extension to rear, erection of car port and sprinkler tank compound, landscaping and associated
works. Llys Anwyl, Churton Rd, Rhyl. Granted 06/01/2021

October 2021

5

Page 193

45/2020/0498 - Development of land in connection with existing hospital including the erection of a four
storey community hospital. Royal Alexandra Hospital, Marine Drive, Rhyl. Granted 06/11/2020
45/2018/1215 - Erection of 109 dwellings and associated works (Phase 5). Land at Rhyl South East
between Bro Deg and Dyserth Road, Rhyl. Granted 12/08/2021
45/2017/1164 - Demolition of existing school buildings and erection of replacement school
accommodating 920 pupils incorporating playgroup, nursery, primary and secondary places with
associated play space, grass pitch, all weather pitch. Land at Blessed Edward Jones High School and
Ysgol Mair Primary School, Cefndy Road, Rhyl. Granted 21/02/2018
45/2018/1197 - Construction of coastal protection scheme, incorporating; interlocking rock revetment
and recurved upstand sea wall to replace existing, raising of walkway, new and amended accesses and
associated works (East Rhyl coastal defence improvement scheme). The coastal frontage of East Rhyl,
adj to Garford Road, Rhyl. Granted 25/04/2019
45/2018/0263 - Demolition of existing building and redevelopment of land by the erection of 18
apartments and associated works. Victoria Business Park, Victoria Rd, Rhyl. Granted 12/03/2019
45/2018/0123 - Erection of a retail unit with associated parking, access, servicing and landscaping.
Marina Quay Retail Park, Wellington Rd, Rhyl. Granted 12/07/2018
45/2018/0822 - Construction of 41 housing association apartments for local residents over 55 years of
age together with new and altered vehicular and pedestrian accesses, associated parking provision,
and related work. 41-42 East Parade, Rhyl. Granted 14/11/2018
45/2021/0265 – Change of use of land to “Skyflyer Balloon” tourist attraction including the installation
of concrete platform, mounting winch and associated Skyflyer Ballloon and basket, siting of toilet and
reception buildings, landscaping and associated works. Former Sun Centre Site, East Parade, Rhyl.
Granted 13/09/2021
40/2021/0796 - Erection of a detached storage building. Commscope, Unit 1, Kinmel Park,
Bodelwyddan. Granted 24/09/2021.
Major applications pending determination:
40/2021/0730 - Demolition of dwelling and erection of 28 new dwellings including new vehicular access,
internal access road and associated works. Land at Bryn Morfa, Bodelwyddan. PENDING
40/2021/0309 - Erection of a 198 bed Registered Care Home (Use Class C2), landscaping, parking
facilities and associated works (Resubmission). Plot C7 St Asaph Business Park, St Asaph. PENDING
40/2021/0825 - Erection of 106 dwellings, construction of a new vehicular access and associated works.
Land opposite Glan Clwyd Hospital, Rhuddlan Rd, Bodelwyddan. PENDING
43/2020/0521 - Erection of 102 affordable dwellings, associated roads, open space, landscaping and
infrastructure (re-submission of planning application 44/2019/0629). Land adj to Alexandra Drive,
Prestatyn. PENDING
43/2020/0773 - Erection of 35 no. dwellings and associated works. Land adj to Plas Morfa Farm, ffordd
Penrhwylfa, Prestatyn. PENDING
43/2016/0356 - Development of 2.4 hectares of land for residential development (outline application all matters reserved) (resubmission of previously refused application under Code No.
43/2014/1166/PO). Land off Warren Drive, Prestatyn. PENDING
45/2021/0187 - Change of use of land and erection of a Further Education Engineering Centre building,
formation of a new vehicular access, construction of an internal site access road and car park, together
with landscaping and associated works. Llandrillo College, Cefndy Road, Rhyl. PENDING
45/2021/0738 - Retrospective application for the change of use of dwelling (Use Class C3) to form a
house of multiple occupancy (Use Class C4) for 4 people. 7 Llys Walsh, Rhyl. PENDING
45/2020/0858 - Conversion and alterations to hotel to form 10 no. self-contained apartments. 16 East
Parade, Rhyl. PENDING
46/2019/0806 - Development of 0.75 ha of land for residential purposes (outline application including
access). Bod Haulog, The Roe, St Asaph. PENDING

October 2021

6

Page 194

46/2021/0159 – Hybrid planning application for the redevelopment of 6.9ha of land incorporating the
following elements:
Hybrid planning application (full details and outline) for the redevelopment of 6.9ha of land incorporating
the following elements:
Full Details:
- Erection of a commercial vehicles sales unit (sui generis)
- Formation of associated parking area, landscaping and associated works
Outline:
Outline Planning application for the erection of 5 No. business buildings (Use Class B1 and B2) with all
other matters reserved for further approval.
Vista Site, Glascoed Road, St. Asaph. PENDING
Pre-application major schemes:
There is also a programme of coastal defence scheme improvements in the pipeline, and EIA screening
and scoping opinions for the following schemes have been issues, and which should be included in the
cumulative assessment as applications are likely to come forward over the next 6-12months.
45/2021/0092. EIA screening and scoping opinion request for the proposed Central Rhyl Coastal
Defence Scheme. Central Parade, Rhyl. Positive EIA Screening Opinion issued 26/04/2021.
45/2020/0899. EIA screening opinion request for the proposed Central Prestatyn/Rhyl Golf Club
Coastal Defence Scheme. From the slipway at Rhyl Golf Club eastwards to Green Lanes dunes.
Negative EIA Screening Opinion issued 01/10/2019
The Council would also advise similar coastal defence improvement schemes are being progressed in
other North Wales authority areas, and which should also be scoped in to the cumulative assessment.
(Please contact other planning authorities for details).
Other Major Infrastructure Projects (NSIP and DNOs) in Denbighshire:
DNS application (PINS Ref: DNS/3247619). Elwy Solar Energy Farm. Land at Gwernigron Farm, The
Roe, St. Asaph. Application submitted and accepted by Planning Inspectorate Wales (Now Welsh
Government Planning and Environment Decisions Wales). Pending determination.
Renewable energy allocated sites:
Future Wales: The National Plan (2040) is the national development framework for Wales and has
development plan status. The Council consider it is a material consideration in the determination of
NSIP proposals in Wales to be afforded weight.
Future Wales has defined ten ‘Pre-Assessed Area for Wind Energy’ and Policy 17 to the National Plan
states “in Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy the Welsh Government has already modelled the likely
impact on the landscape and has found them to be capable of accommodating development in an
acceptable way. There is a presumption in favour of large-scale wind energy development (including
repowering) in these areas, subject to the criteria in policy 18”.
Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy no. 1 and no. 2 lie within the 50km ZTV.
PINS Advice Note Seventeen: Cumulative effects assessment relevant to nationally significant
infrastructure projects, advises sites allocated in adopted development plans should be included in
cumulative assessment as Tier 3 project.
Pre-Assessed Areas for Wind Energy no. 1 and no. 2 as defined in Future Wales should therefore also
be included in the cumulative assessment.
1.4 CHAPTER 4: SITE SELECTION AND ALTERNATIVES
The options appraisal doesn’t clearly explain why a smaller site area for the array, or smaller turbines
have been discounted.

October 2021

7

Page 195

The design envelope therefore needs to be fully justified, and the reason why smaller turbines / smaller
array area have been discounted needs to be fully explained.
VOLUME 2: OFFSHORE CHAPTERS:
2.1 CHAPTER 01: OFFSHORE PROJECT DESCRIPTION
As the development has not been fully defined, the PEIR confirms the Rochdale Envelope shall be
applied for the purposes of the EIA, with assessments being based on the worst case scenario within
the design envelope. The maximum design scenarios (MDS) are as follows:
Large WTGs – The largest WTGs within the design envelope. For the purposes of assessment this is
assumed to be up to 48 of the largest possible WTGs with a Rotor Diameter (RD) of up to 300 m; and
Small WTGs – The greatest number of WTGs within the design envelope. For the purposes of
assessment this is assumed to be up to 91 smaller WTGs with a RD of up to 220 m.
The Council has no objection to the application of the Rochdale Envelope, however given the scale of
significant effects identified in the PEIR, the options appraisal doesn’t clearly explain why a smaller site
area for the array, or smaller turbines have been discounted.
This needs to be fully explored and justified, especially given that a reduction in the array area or height
of turbines may mitigate significant effects identified.
The design envelope therefore needs to be fully justified, and the reason why smaller turbines / smaller
array area has been discounted needs to be fully explained.
2.10 CHAPTER 10: SEASCAPE, LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Land Use Consultants (LUC) have been commissioned to independently review the Seascape,
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment on behalf of the seven North Wales Planning Authorities,
and the Authorities collectively have significant concerns regarding the impact of the proposal on the
regional interests.
A copy of the LUC SLVIA Review is attached, and the Council fully endorses the findings and
recommendations.
The turbines proposed in the array are significantly larger than those comprised in the existing Rhyl
Flats, North Hoyle or Gwynt y Mor offshore windfarms, and owing to siting and scale, the AyM offshore
windfarm would be will be noticeable and distinct from existing developments, and would be viewed as
an entirely new windfarm, rather than an extension to existing.
The PEIR concludes no significant effects on Denbighshire interests, however the Council is in
disagreement with the assessment on the following receptors:





No significant effects are reported for any Denbighshire viewpoints in the SLVIA. This is not
agreed for viewpoint 23 at Rhyl Aquarium it is considered that there will be significant effects.
The addition of AyM OWF turbines on the horizon will fill in gaps, accentuate the differences
between existing and proposed developments and result in greater incidence of stacking and
visual clutter.
No significant effects are reported in the SLVIA for any of the Denbighshire settlements along
the coast. This is not agreed and it is considered that there will be significant effect at Rhyl
along the sea front promenade.
The SLVIA identifies no significant effect for SCA C Vale of Clwyd. This is not agreed and it is
considered that significant effect would be likely here due to the prominence of the turbines in
views from the coastal parts of this SCA.

The Council also has concerns regarding the impact of the proposal on the Clwydian Range and Dee
Valley AONB has been underestimated.
The ZTVI diagrams confirm that the both the Scenario A (48 x 332m blade tip height) and Scenario B
(91x 252m height) proposals will be visible from a substantial area of the AONB. When viewed from the
AONB the proposed windfarm will visually connect the existing Rhyl Flats and Gwynt Y Mor wind farms
to create a much larger, continuously developed skyline/seascape across much of the horizon. One of
the special qualities of the AONB is the opportunity to experience wide ranging panoramic views,

October 2021

8

Page 196

including those out to sea, and the Council and the AONB Joint Committee is becoming increasingly
concerned that the protected landscape is being visually ‘hemmed in’ by both onshore and offshore
windfarm development to the detriment of this special quality. Views from the AONB will be increasingly
characterised by wind farm dominated landscapes and seascapes.
The AONB viewpoints (24 Graig Fawr, 26 Prestatyn Hillside Viewpoint Car Park, and 54 Y Foel,
Dyserth) selected for assessment in the SLVIA are representative of the impact on key views from the
northern part of the AONB but, given the scale of the proposals, the development will be visible from a
much larger area of the protected landscape. A critical decision in relation to the potential visual impact
of the development will be whether Scenario A (48 x 332m turbines) or B (91x 252m turbines) is
pursued. The SLVIA viewpoint diagrams illustrate Scenario A, but it may be that the greater number of
smaller turbines proposed in Scenario B would have less impact overall on views out to sea given that
less turbine would be visible above the horizon.
It would have therefore been beneficial to be presented with illustrations for Scenario A and B for
comparison purposes.
Whilst the offshore array has limited significant effects on Denbighshire interests, from a regional
perspective, the Council has concerns about the number of significant effects identified, and the effect
a proposal of the scale proposed would have on regional seascape and landscape character and visual
amenity.
LUC Review indicates disagreement with a number of the conclusions in the PEIR, which raises
concerns that the significance of effect has been underplayed. LUC have recommend the following
areas are explored:






The application of magnitude of change criteria to the assessments of effects on views. LUC
particularly note the emphasis in the SLVIA that the AyM OWF will 'intensify' the existing effect
of operational wind farms. LUC have advised this does not accurately reflect the appearance
of the AyM OWF and the contrast in scale between it and the operational schemes.
The extent to which significant effects are found to occur across receptors. There is emphasis
throughout the SLVIA on effects being localised. While in many cases this is justified, in some
instances the LUC review indicates that significant effects may extend further than stated in the
SLVIA.
This point is particularly the case in the assessment of effects on settlements, where sea views
may be affected across the built up area, not just at the sea front. Similarly, sea views from
routes may be affected even where the route is not immediately coastal in location.

In terms of mitigation, it is acknowledged that no mitigation of the significant effects of the offshore wind
farm is feasible, other than further changes to the design.
Whilst the extent of the turbine array has been reduced to reduce the effects on Anglesey interests, a
reduction in turbine height has not been discussed in the SLVIA as a means of mitigating impacts. The
SLVIA has assessed two alternative turbine heights as set out in the MDS. The LUC review of the
SLVIA indicates that findings of significant effect do not vary according to which MDS is considered.
This suggests that turbines of 252m in height would have the same spread of significant effects as
turbines of 332m, and that turbines would have to be substantively smaller to achieve effective
mitigation.
At PEIR stage, it is accepted that mitigation proposals are at a relatively early stage, and therefore
reduction in height of turbine should not be discounted at this stage. The Council consider further
development of this mitigation section will be required for the ES.
2.11 CHAPTER 11: OFFSHORE ARCHAEOLOGY
Please see CPAT comments set out under 3.8 below.
VOLUME 3: ONSHORE CHAPTERS:
3.1 CHAPTER 1: ONSHORE PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Landfall:

October 2021

9

Page 197

The Council has significant concerns that the proposed works at Rhyl Golf Course would significantly
impact upon proposed new flood defences which are proposed in this location, and the Council consider
flood defences must take precedence over the windfarm. The proposed works at the landfall location
therefore need to be re-considered to ensure they are compatible with existing and proposed flood
defence infrastructure.
The Council also has significant concerns with the potential impact of the landfall works on Rhyl Golf
Course, and in particular the siting of a construction compound on the eastern section of the golf course
and the permanent siting of Transition Joint Bays within the golf course, which are proposed to be
installed across fairway 4, 5 and 6. The works proposed would have a significant, detrimental impact
on the golf course during construction and operational phases, and in particular the Transition Joint
Bays would likely result in the closure of the golf course as two areas of 100m 2 concrete hardstanding
would destroy the fairway and would make it unfeasible for the golf course to continue to operate from
the site.
The Council therefore object to the siting of Transition Joint Bays at the Golf Course, and instead
consider they should be installed on land along the North Coast railway line.
The Council would also object to any open trenching at the landfall, and every effort should be made to
ensure cables can be installed by HDD or trenchless techniques.
However, due to close proximity to residential properties, HDD activity must be carefully controlled and
restricted to normal working hours to mitigate impact on residential properties.
Cable Corridor:
The Council has concerns regarding the need to temporarily stop up or divert public rights of way along
the cable corridor. Every effort should be made to minimise closures, and where they are necessary,
rights of ways should be re-opened at the earliest opportunity.
As open cut trenches are proposed to lay cables, it is also noted that extensive sections of hedgerow
and trees are proposed to be removed. The Council has concerns with the extent of hedgerow that
would be removed, and further assessment is needed to demonstrate why trenchless ducts cannot be
utilised to lay cables under existing hedgerow and trees in order to minimise the loss of important and
biodiverse trees and hedgerow.
Substation:
The substation is proposed to be sited on agricultural land, which does not form part of the St Asaph
Business Park and is set away from existing substations and electricity infrastructure.
The Council do not support the proposal to site a substation in this location.
Further commentary on the substation site is set out in section 3.2 below.
The substation design has not be defined at this stage and it is proposed to be either a GIS or AIS. The
Council consider the type of substation needs to be confirmed at application stage, and full details of
siting, scale, layout and design should be included in the application to ensure the impacts can be fully
assessed.
The Council does not therefore agree to the substation detailing being subject of a requirement.
However, should the final design be subject to change, this needs to be clearly explained in the
application documents and the maximum parameters for the substation must be clearly defined and
upper limits for the substation site should be embedded in the requirement. I.e. maximum area,
maximum height of external infrastructure and buildings, maximum number of buildings etc.
Details of landscaping, appearance of buildings, boundary treatments, vehicular access, roads, parking
and turning should also be clearly defined.
It is noted at 1.7.5 that necessary enabling works at the National Grid substation would fall outside of
the DCO and would be undertaken by National Grid. Whilst enabling works are not yet defined, they
are nevertheless essential works to be undertaken in association with the proposed development, and
the parameters of the works are at least known. The Council consider the enabling works should
therefore be included in the cumulative assessment, and a worst case scenario should be assumed.

October 2021

10

Page 198

As stated under 2.10 above, at PEIR stage, it is accepted that mitigation proposals are at a relatively
early stage, and therefore reduction in height of turbines and size of array cannot be discounted at this
stage.
Should the design be revised to reduce the size of the array and / or height of turbines, the Council
would query if the landtake required for the substation would also be reduced, and if so would alternative
sites previously discounted due to site area, be reconsidered? The Council consider the site selection
for the substation should not remain fixed, but should be re-assessed as the design is refined and
changed.
3.2 CHAPTER 2: ONSHORE LANDSCAPE AND VISUAL
The Council accept adverse visual impacts associated with landfall and cable corridor will be restricted
to the construction phase, and subject to landscaping being carried out to restore and enhance land
after completion of works, this element of the onshore works will not have any permanent significant
effects.
However, the Council has significant concerns with the proposed location of the substation, which is
located on agricultural land to the north of Glascoed Road, and to the west of St. Asaph Business Park
and immediately west of Glascoed nature reserve.
Whilst the site selected is close to the St Asaph business park, it is rural in character and it is clearly
distinct from the St Asaph Business Park and is set away from existing substations and electricity
infrastructure; the Council consider the rural character of the site has been underplayed in the PEIR,
and that the proposal would result in industrial development encroaching into the open countryside.
It is noted that the impact on the Eastern Lowland (Cefn Meiriadog Vale Slopes) landscape area is
identified as significant during construction and 1 year post construction, but not significant longer term
as it is assumed landscaping would have become established by this stage.
Landscaping is put forward as necessary mitigation, and the substation site has in part been selected
as it provides sufficient area around the site to allow for landscaping.
At this stage, the substation type is yet to be selected and the landscaping details have not been
defined. However, from visualisations provided, owing to the likely height of substation infrastructure, it
is clear that the landscaping would not fully screen the views of substation and adverse impacts cannot
be fully mitigated.
Until the substation type is defined a landscaping scheme is developed, the Council cannot agreed that
the effects will not be significant in the longer term.
It is also not clear if operation lighting has been factored into the LVIA assessment of effect.
Significant effects are also identified for a number for visual receptors, including a number of residential
properties along Glascoed Road, and again until the substation type is finalised and landscaping
defined, the Council cannot agree that significance of effect upon residential receptors will be mitigated
longer term.
The substation site is also opposite the Denbighshire Memorial Park and Crematorium, and the Council
has concerns a substation in this location would affect the tranquil setting currently afforded to the
crematorium.
The Council therefore do not support the proposal to site a substation in this location, and instead
consider the substation should be re-located to a site which better relates to the Business Park and
existing substations and electricity infrastructure.
In terms of impact on the Clwyd Range and Dee Valley AONB, the onshore proposals do not directly
affect the AONB but the Council would emphasise the need to reinstate and enhance all landscape
features removed (trees/woodlands/hedges) to accommodate the export cables and/or compensatory
planting with a view to retaining and strengthening the characteristic Vale of Clwyd landscape when
viewed from the higher ground of the AONB.
3.3 CHAPTER 3: SOCIOECONOMICS
No specific observations to make.

October 2021

11

Page 199

3.4 CHAPTER 4: TOURISM AND RECREATION
The turbines proposed in the array are significantly bigger than those in the existing Rhyl Flats, North
Hoyle and Gwynt y Mor windfarms, and owing to the scale and siting, the AyM windfarm would be
viewed as an entirely new offshore windfarm, rather than an extension to existing.
The Council considers the windfarm would have a significant effect on views from Rhyl along the
promenade. Rhyl is a coastal visitor destination, and the proposal would detriment coastal views
currently enjoyed by visitors to Rhyl.
The proposal could have an adverse impact on North Wales as a region and its ability to attach tourists
to the area, as a further windfarm development would detriment the quality of the seascape currently
experienced, and may deter visitors from the area.
The Council therefore considers the assessment on the tourism economy must be scoped in.
As referred to under 3.1 above, the Council have significant concerns with the potential impact of the
landfall works on Rhyl Golf Course, and in particular the siting of a construction compound on the
eastern section of the golf course and the permanent siting of Transition Joint Bays on the fairway.
The Council consider the works proposed would have a significant, detrimental impact on the golf
course during construction and operational phases, and may result in the golf course having to
permanently close.
A full assessment of impact on the viability of the golf course needs to be undertaken, and the Council
would strongly object to any works which have a detrimental impact on the functionality or viability of
the golf course.
3.5 CHAPTER 5: ONSHORE BIODIVERSITY AND NATURE CONSERVATION
The Council are general satisfied that the appropriate surveys and assessments have been undertaken,
however it is essential that developer continues to engage with the Council’ Ecology Officer and NRW
on the development of necessary mitigation and compensation measures to ensure they are sufficient
to offset identified significant and adverse effects.
The Council also wish to stress that, Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) makes clear that “planning
authorities must seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means
that development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or
nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity” (Section 6.4.5). PPW also draws attention to
the contents of Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, which sets a duty on Local Planning
Authorities to demonstrate they have taken all reasonable steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity
in the exercise of their functions. It is important that biodiversity and resilience considerations are taken
into account at an early stage when considering development proposals (Section 6.4.4).
In additional to mitigation and compensation measures, the proposal is also required to demonstrate a
net biodiversity gain, and therefore enhancement measures should also be embedded into the
development.
As open cut trenches are proposed to lay cables, it is noted that extensive sections of hedgerow and
trees are proposed to be removed. The Council has concerns with the extent of hedgerow that would
be removed, and further assessment is needed to demonstrate why trenchless ducts cannot be utilised
to lay cables under existing hedgerow and trees in order to minimise the loss of important and biodiverse
trees and hedgerow.
It is noted that the substation site would result in the direct loss of Great Crested Newt habitat. Any loss
of habitat must be fully compensated for and the Council would defer to NRW with respect to impact on
protected species.
3.6 CHAPTER 6: GROUND CONDITIONS AND LAND USE
No specific observations to make.
3.7 CHAPTER 7: HYDROLOGY AND FLOOD RISK
The Council would defer to NRW as statutory floor risk authority in terms of flood consequences
assessment.

October 2021

12

Page 200

In terms of flood defence infrastructure, the landfall site is close to existing sea defences and the cable
would need to be installed underneath it via HDD. The installation of the underground cable must not
compromise sea defences.
The Council is also progressing a programme of sea defence improvements along the Denbighshire
Coast line, which includes a proposed new coastal embankment at Rhyl Golf Course.
The works at the landfall location as currently proposed would be in incompatible with the proposed
new coastal embankment, and the developer should therefore fully engage with the Council’s Flood
Risk Engineer as the proposal is refined to ensure the proposal does not compromise existing and
planned for coastal defences.
3.8 CHAPTER 8: ONSHORE ARCHAEOLOGY AND CULTURAL HERITAGE
The Council have concerns regarding the siting and scale of the proposed substation development on
the nearby historic assets.
Whilst impact on Bodelwyddan Castle has been considered, an assessment of effect on the
Bodelwyddan Castle Registered Historic Park and Garden does not seem to have been undertaken.
The fields where the substation is proposed to be located immediately abuts the Bodelwyddan Castle
Registered Historic Park and Garden, and an assessment of impact upon the Historic Park and Garden
in its own right needs to be undertaken.
The Council also consider the impact on other heritage assets, including listed buildings in close
proximity to the substation site has been underplayed, and the Council consider the substation would
have a detrimental visual impact on the setting of the Listed Bodelwyddan Castle and in particular it’s
Registered Historic Park & Garden.
There are also other Listed Buildings and structures within reasonably close proximity to the proposed
sit which it will also affect.
With respect to archaeological impacts, CPAT have provided a copy of their comments to the Council.
For completeness, the Council have copied CPAT’s observations below and the Council fully endorse
and support comments made:
CPAT have advised the following:
Comments
1) DBA and walkover survey – The methodology presented in the PEIR is broadly OK. The results so
far present little that is new to us and this is largely due to the fact that the majority of the onshore cable
corridor and substation location are within agricultural pasture or arable fields where surface
archaeology has been largely erased with the exception of some better preservation in small woodland
areas.
We have concerns about the lack of complete coverage of the cable route corridor during the walkover
survey with approximately 70% coverage completed. There is time between now and the submission
of the ES to complete the walkover coverage of the missing 30% and this should be done so that we
have a complete and accurate evidence base to work from in terms of suggesting mitigation and
assessing the significance of any identified impacts.
It is unclear whether features which can clearly be seen in the inter-tidal area on the DBA photographs
(possible tree stumps, timber uprights, patches of stone) have been accurately described and mapped.
If not then this should be completed with a re-visit and accurate mapping. We raised this issue at the
4/8/21 meeting and pointed to new evidence from surveys for the Central Prestatyn Coastal Defence
Scheme (CPAT for JBL Consultants on behalf of Denbs CC) including a foreshore survey in April 2021
for JBL Consulting which identified significant archaeological deposits on the beach including potential
prehistoric footprints, prehistoric tree stumps and lenses of peat deposits with artefact and
paleoenvironmental potential. There is a high potential for significant direct impacts in the inter-tidal
area during construction and the nature and extent of the archaeology is poorly understood. In 8.4.2
Fig. 6 it seems clear that the non-designated assets shown do not include the CPAT foreshore survey
results or the features which can be seen in the DBA foreshore photographs. It is clear in 8.6 (41, 42)
that the DBA is predictive only and that the condition and distribution of assets is poorly defined. In 8.7
(45) it is incorrectly stated that there are no recorded assets in the inter-tidal area of Section A – B.

October 2021

13

Page 201

Recommendations – Clearly the DBA and particularly the walkover survey are currently lacking in detail
for the inter-tidal area, and this should be addressed with regard to the points raised above. It would be
preferable if any current surface features with archaeological potential could be mapped and described
as features which may show now could be different to those recorded in April 2021 due to the rapidly
shifting sand cover in this area. It would be preferable if the sub-surface potential of the inter-tidal area
could be evaluated now by a geo-archaeological specialist using a transect of boreholes and/or sample
pits to recover a core profile of deposits and samples for dating and content appraisal. This would help
to understand the potential impact here and provide more information leading to informed mitigation
rather than the current best-guess scenario.
The completion of the walkover survey over the rest of the 30% of the corridor which was not accessible
for various reasons should be attempted. Where access is still not possible the locations should be
identified and mapped and the reasons should be clearly stated.
2) Geophysics – The methodology for the geophysics survey is fine. We have concerns about the lack
of complete coverage of the agricultural pasture and arable fields with approximately 65% covered so
far. We will be wholly dependant on the results of the geophysics for identifying any sub-surface
archaeological potential and it is therefore of critical importance that we obtain as near to 100%
coverage as possible of accessible fields. The current coverage of 65% is not acceptable and will not
allow a fully informed assessment of the potential direct impacts.
In the meeting on 4/8/21 it was stated that potential legal powers of entry would be needed to access
fields where access has currently been denied by landowners and this should be explored further to
achieve maximum geophysics coverage.
We are concerned that the geophysical survey will not be followed up by appropriate pre-consent
ground-truthing of the results by investigative trenching to identify features which have archaeological
or perhaps geological/geopmorphological, or more recent origins. Both TAN 24 (May 2017) and
Planning Policy Wales (Feb 2021) are quite clear about pre-determination evaluation (including
investigative trenching) being required where direct archaeological impacts are predicted or identified.
Intrusive investigation will allow us to quantify the nature, extent, date, level of preservation, importance
and relationship of features identified in the geophysics results and provide an informed mitigation
response. We have reservations about leaving this intrusive phase of assessment until the post-consent
construction stage and do not consider that we have reliable guarantees that there will be no
construction timing issues at the post consent stage which lead to a less thorough investigation and
mitigation phase.
Recommendations – Complete coverage of 100% geophysics of all accessible fields along the cable
corridor should be attempted. Where access is still not possible the locations should be identified and
mapped and the reasons should be clearly stated.
Ground-truthing of the geophysics results should be attempted in accordance with Tan 24 and PPW
guidance to provide an accurate and informed evidence base for a mitigation framework. The trenching
should target all significant anomalies with a predicted archaeological origin and some of those where
the origin is uncertain.
Consideration should be given to extending the period between the receipt of the PEIR consultation
replies and the submission of a finalized ES with the DCO application so that the further assessments
recommended above are given enough time to be properly completed, the results discussed and an
informed set of mitigation statements included in the ES.
3) Indirect Impacts – We would agree that, based on current information, there are no significant indirect
visual impacts to non-designated archaeology within the cable construction corridor.
4) Post consent – In relation to discussions and suggestions made at the meeting on 4/8/21 with Wessex
Archaeology we would agree that with regard to post-consent mitigation outline WSI’s for further
mitigation must be included in the ES and DCO commitments and archaeological methods and
practices should be included in a Code of Construction Practice (CoCP) to ensure time for the full
implementation of mitigation as set out in the WSI’s.

October 2021

14

Page 202

3.9 CHAPTER 9: TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT
Impact on Public Rights of Way
Based on the Works Plan, the following paths would be directly impacted by the proposal:






Footpaths 3, 4, 5, 7, 11, 13, 15, 18, 20, 22, 23, 29, 40, 41, 46 Rhuddlan;
Footpaths 7, 12 Bodelwyddan;
Bridleways 15a Rhuddlan;
Bridleways 9 Bodelwyddan;
Byway 44 Rhuddlan.

It is not clear from the plans if any paths are to be stopped up permanently. The Council would object
to any proposal to permanently stop up any right of way.
The area of Denbighshire affected by the proposal suffers from the lowest density by area and
population of public paths in the whole County despite having the highest population density, and
therefore the few paths there are in the north of the County are very important. Even temporary closures
will have a significant effect of the local network, although it is accepted the indicative onshore cable
corridor proposed seems to have done its best to avoid public paths, the construction phase will still
impact on some key rights of way. This is of particular significance with the bridleways which are in
extreme short supply in this area and stopping up even temporarily should be avoided or kept to the
shortest possible period.
As such, the Council has concerns with the proposed streetworks powers proposed to be embedded in
the DCO, as it would remove control from the Council to carefully manage right of way closures at a
strategic level.
One of the biggest issues that have arisen in the County in the past with such works is when grass land
is reinstated within field parcels, fences are then erected to protect re-seed growth, which has resulted
in the temporary closure being applied much longer than the Council consider necessary. The Council
would want to see the paths reinstated as soon as possible after any excavation and kissing or hand
gates to be erected with no stiles on any temporary boundaries crossed by the cable corridor and that
authorisation for any such new fences receives consent from the highway authority under S147 of the
Highways Act 1980 or will be treated as unlawful and removed once any temporary traffic restriction
order closing the path expires.
The Council has concerns that, streetworks powers proposed in the draft DCO would not require rights
of way to be brought back into use as soon as practical to do so, and paths may remain closed until all
construction works have been completed, which will have a significant impact on the users during the
construction phase.
Were powers to remain with the local highway authority, the Council do not consider any disruption or
delay would be arise by the need for the Council to make the orders under the provisions in the Highway
Act, and it would enable the Council to retain strategic oversight over the wider public rights of way
which would have clear benefits to rights of way users.
The Wales Coastal Path and National Cycle Network Route 5 run along the coastal promenade which
is not a public highway. Whilst there appears no obvious mechanism in the DCO to suspend these
routes, it should be avoided and it appears to be the case as the cable will be thrust bored through the
sea front under the defence structure and that access along the top will not need to be controlled by
restriction other than in exceptional circumstances.
Preference would be for rights of way to not be used for construction or operational site access, and
instead easements with private landowners away from rights of way should be pursued.
3.10 CHAPTER 10: AIRBOURNE NOISE AND VIBRATION
Due to the proximity of construction compounds and working areas to residential areas and individual
properties, the Council has concerns the construction phase has the potential to generate adverse noise
and vibration.
Noise is stated to be minor to major significance, and vibration from HDD is a particular concern,
particularly at the landfall which is in close proximity to residential areas.

October 2021

15

Page 203

Noise and vibration needs to be fully assessed and abatement plans must be included in the Code of
Construction Practice subject of proposed Requirement 11, which should be devised in consultation
with the Council’s Public Protection department.
The Council do not agree to the working hours of 7am -7pm in locations close to residential properties,
and working hours should instead be restricted to 8am – 6pm where working areas are close to
residential receptors, with no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.
Where exceptional circumstances require construction works to be carried out outside of approved
hours of operational, this should be agreed in writing by the local planning authority at least 48 hours in
advance and such provision should be embedded in the Requirements (please see comments above
on draft DCO Requirements).
The Council also consider community engagement should be a priority throughout the construction
phase. A communications plan should be required to be submitted as part of the Code of Construction
Practice, which should set out a protocol for communicating with affected local communities throughout
the construction phase, including proposals to notify affected residents in advance of noise / vibration
generating works commencing, and a complaints management and resolution procedure should be
established. A single point of contact should be provided for the local community to contact throughout
the construction phase.
In terms of operational noise from the substation, the noise levels at the closest noise sensitive
receptors need to be clearly assessed, and maximum noise levels needs to be clearly defined and
embedded in requirements.
3.11 CHAPTER 11: AIR QUALITY, HEALTH AND CLIMATE CHANGE
The Council agree that the proposal would not generate significant effects with respect to air quality,
however localised adverse effects may arise during the construction phase, and therefore the Council
agree that a dust assessment is necessary and that a dust abatement plan should be included in the
Code of Construction Practice.
3.12 CHAPTER 12: PUBLIC HEALTH
Potential harm to human health would arise during the construction phase, and in particular noise is
identified to be of minor to major significance.
As stated under 3.10 above, the Council do not agree to 7am – 7pm hours of working where working
areas are close to residential areas. Where works are close to residential receptors, hours of working
should be restricted to 8am – 6pm with no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.
Public health assessment should also have regard to cumulative effects from exposure to multiple major
construction activities on a locality, particularly at the landfall, which is close to coastal defence
improvement schemes which are under construction and proposed, and other planning and consented
major developments in the vicinity of the landfall.
The substation is also close to proposed and consented major development schemes in and around St
Asaph Business Park and Bodelwyddan, and an assessment needs to be undertaken to ascertain if
construction activities are likely to overlap with other major schemes, and resultant cumulative effects
on public health, residential and public amenity needs to be fully considered.
3.13 CHAPTER 13: ONSHORE CONCLUSIONS
Please refer to topic specific comments above.
E. COMMENTS RAISED AT PLANNING COMMITTEE
The draft consultation response was presented to Denbighshire County Council Planning Committee
on 6 October 2021 and the resolution of Committee was for the draft comments to be submitted, subject
to amendments being made to the response to emphasis significant concerns with the impact of the
proposed landfall works on Rhyl Golf Club and the size, scale and siting of the proposed onshore
substation.
Committee recognised the environmental benefits of wind energy generation and the contribution the
proposed development will make to tackling climate change, and therefore did not object to the principle

October 2021

16

Page 204

of a new offshore windfarm, however, the Committee raised particular objection to the siting of
Transition Joint Bays on land at Rhyl Golf Course and with regarding the siting of the substation on
agricultural land.
The Committee felt the Transition Joint Bays should be located on land to the south of the North Coast
railway line, and not within Rhyl Golf Course.
The Committee also felt the substation site should be re-considered, and it should be re-located to a
site which is better related to existing electrical infrastructure and commercial development. For
example, on land to the south of Glascoed Road close to the existing National Grid and windfarm
substations.
The Council also resolved to contribute to a joint regional response to be submitted on behalf of the
North Wales Planning Authorities to collectively raised concerns with the scale of the development
proposed and the impact it will have on regional interests.
The Committee also noted the short time period for consultation comments to be made given the volume
of documents which need to be reviewed, and concern was also raised with the size of consultation
documents, with some Members experiencing difficulty in downloading them from the project website.

October 2021

17

Page 205

This page is intentionally left blank

Denbighshire County Council

Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
Onshore Substation Review
Draft report
Prepared by LUC
March 2022

Page 207

Denbighshire County Council
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
Onshore Substation Review
Project Number
11625

Version
1.

Bristol
Edinburgh
Glasgow
London
Manchester

Status

Prepared

Checked

Approved

Date

First draft report

D Ferguson

K Ahern

K Ahern

03.03.2022

Land Use Consultants Ltd
Registered in England
Registered number 2549296
Registered office:
250 Waterloo Road
London SE1 8RD

landuse.co.uk
100% recycled paper

Landscape Design
Strategic Planning & Assessment
Development Planning
Urban Design & Masterplanning
Environmental Impact Assessment
Landscape Planning & Assessment
Landscape Management
Ecology
Historic Environment
GIS & Visualisation

Page 208

Contents
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

Contents

Chapter 1
Introduction

2

Purpose of the Review

2

Structure of the Review

2

Approach to the Review

3

The Proposed Development

3

Outline Landscape and Ecology Management Plan

4

Chapter 2
Review of the PEIR LVIA and
Recommendations

5

Methodology, Scope and Process

5

Baseline information

6

Mitigation and design

6

Visualisations

7

Recommendations

7

Chapter 3
Review of LVIA Assessments

8

Effects on Physical Landscape

8

Effects on Landscape Character

8

Effects on Landscape Designation

8

Effects on Visual Receptors

9

Recommendations

9

Chapter 4
Summary and Conclusions

10

Appendix 1
Summary of Predicted Operational
Effects

Page 209

LUC I i

-

Chapter 1
Introduction
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

Chapter 1
Introduction

LUC has been appointed by Denbighshire County
Council (The Council) to undertake a review of the proposed
onshore substation (OnSS) associated with Awel y Môr
Offshore Wind Farm (AyM OWF). AyM OWF is a proposed by
RWE (the Developer).
This appointment follows our previous work, on behalf of
the seven North Wales Planning Authorities, to undertake a
review of the Preliminary Environmental Information Report
(PEIR) for onshore and offshore elements of AyM OWF. This
review includes consideration of the assessment of potential
effects identified in the Landscape and Visual Impact
Assessment (LVIA) and proposed mitigation measures. The
LVIA and mitigation measures have been prepared by the
Developer’s consultants, Optimised Environments (OPEN).

Purpose of the Review
The PEIR was prepared in August 2021 and the
consultation period ended on 11th October 2021. The
Developer intends to submit applications for necessary
development consents (Development Consent Order and
Marine Licence) later in 2022.
This review considers design developments since the
consultation period ended. It is intended to help The Council
consider the potential landscape and visual effects which
would arise from the OnSS, and to consider how comments
and concerns raised in response to the PEIR have been
addressed.

Structure of the Review
Our approach to undertaking the review has been
informed by the guidance contained within the Landscape
Institute's Technical Guidance Note 1/201. The review is
structured as follows:


Chapter 2 presents a review of the principles and
process, covering methodology, scope, baseline,
mitigation, and visualisations;



Chapter 3 reviews the impact assessments;



Chapter 4 provides a summary and conclusions.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
1

Landscape Institute’s Technical Guidance Note 1/20: Reviewing
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessments (LVIAs) and Landscape
and Visual Appraisals (LVAs) (10 Jan 2020)

Page 210

LUC I 2

Chapter 1
Introduction
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022



Appendix A presents a tabulated summary of impacts;
and



Appendix B presents selected figures for ease of
reference.

Approach to the Review
An online meeting was held on 7th February 2022, with
attendees from LUC, The Council, OPEN, SLR2 and RWE.
During this meeting, representatives from OPEN, SLR and
RWE presented an update to the proposals for the OnSS, a
description of key landscape and visual receptors and an
overview of proposed mitigation measures. The presentation
was later forwarded to LUC to assist with this review.
LUC has also been able to review The Council’s
‘Response to the Pre-Application Consultation under Section
42 of the Planning Act 2008’.
A desk-based review was carried out by landscape
architects (CMLI) at LUC. No field work was undertaken. The
review refers to:


PEIR Volume 3, Chapter 1 – Onshore Project
Description;



PEIR Volume 3, Chapter 2 – Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessment;



PEIR Volume 3, Chapter 13 – Onshore Conclusions;
and



PEIR Volume 6, Figures 2.1 to 2.25.

based on the maximum design scenario. Outline proposals
are shown on PEIR Figure 2.16 (appended)3. The final design
is to be approved by The Council (including layout, materials
and mitigation).
The OnSS will include either air-insulated switchgear
(AIS) or gas-insulated switchgear (GIS). An AIS solution is
likely require a larger footprint, with infrastructure placed
outside. A GIS solution would require a large building, up to
15m in height, with some infrastructure inside. Indicative
layouts for AIS and GIS substations, prepared by RWE
consultants, are shown in PEIR, Chapter 1, Figure 29 and
Figure 30 (both appended).
In terms of timing of decision, the PEIR states that the
“choice of AIS or GIS will be part of the detailed design
process and a decision will be made post-consent prior to
construction commencing” (PEIR, Chapter 2, Para. 173).
Further components required as part of the OnSS
identified by RWE include equipment up to 8m height,
lightning rods up to 18m height and lighting to be employed
only during operation and maintenance activities.
Because of the flexibility required for the OnSS,
including the location of import and export cables, the
landscape and visual mitigation proposals have not been
finalised. The design presented by OPEN, as part of an outline
landscape and ecology management plan (OLEMP), therefore
represents a series of design principles.
The basis of the effects during construction assessed in
the LVIA are (from PEIR, Chapter 2, Table 7):

The Proposed Development
The OnSS is proposed to be sited on agricultural land,
between Bodelwyddan Castle Registered Historic Park &
Garden (HPG) and St Asaph Business Park. A bridlepath
passes to the north of the site and the B5381 (Glascoed
Road) is south of the site. The site location is shown on PEIR
Figure 2.1 (appended).
The OnSS will be connected to AyM OWF, via the
proposed landfall at Rhyl, and to an electricity distribution site
south of St Asaph Business Park by underground cable. This
review relates to the OnSS and associated mitigation
measures only. Works and potential effects associated with
the proposed landfall and underground cable are not
considered here.



Indicative OnSS construction compound dimensions 250
x 150, with an area of 37,500m2.



2 construction compound options are included at PEIR.
Including construction activities associated with OnSS
access options to the north and south of the OnSS zone.



12 hour working day (7am-7pm Monday to Saturday), 27
months for OnSS.

The basis of the effects during operation assessed in the
LVIA are (from PEIR, Chapter 2, Table 7):


Maximum area of AIS OnSS – 50,000m2, maximum GIS
OnSS – 30,000m2. OnSS zone – 297,000m2, OnSS
zone platform – 273000m2 (the area in which the OnSS
can be located allowing 20m buffer for earthworks).
Including OnSS access options to the north and south of
the OnSS zone.

The design of the OnSS is not fixed. RWE indicate that
this is because of flexibility required. The design presented
and assessed is therefore a ‘design envelope approach',
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
2

SLR is the AyM OWF lead environmental and planning consultants.

3

Note that the version of Figure 2.16 appended was shared by
RWE/OPEN on 7th February 2022. This supersedes the version
presented as part of the PEIR.

Page 211

LUC I 3

Chapter 1
Introduction
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022



OnSS infrastructure maximum height 15m located on the
OnSS zone platform at 33m AOD indicative platform
level for PEIR.

Outline Landscape and Ecology
Management Plan
The outline landscape mitigation proposals are shown
on Figure 2.16 (appended).
The OLEMP includes elements which are intended to
mitigate potential landscape and visual impacts. The main
components of this which are relevant to the LVIA are areas of
native woodland and hedgerow species around the OnSS.
The stated aims of these are:


“To provide visual screening to residential properties,
road users, and visitors to the Crematorium on Glascoed
Rd to the south;



To provide visual screening to users of the Bridleway
immediately north (of the) substation;



To provide a woodland context to the substation site that
compliments the long-established woodland of the area,
including woods found within Bodelwyddan Park and
Garden; and,



To provide greater connectivity between the existing
woodlands, retained hedgerows, field boundary trees
and nearby Nature Reserve”4.

It is intended that woodland would contain a mix of faster
growing nurse species and slower growing core species. It is
also suggested that planting could be spaced to maximise
growth rate and ultimate screening potential.

_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
4

This information is taken from the RWE presentation from 7th
February 2022.

Page 212

LUC I 4

-

Chapter 2
Review of the PEIR LVIA and Recommendations
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

Chapter 2
Review of the PEIR LVIA and
Recommendations

This section presents a brief summary of the relevant
sections of the onshore LVIA, in terms of the overall scope,
approach and potential impacts.

Methodology, Scope and Process
The LVIA was carried out by experienced practitioners
using a robust methodology based on established good
practice. The methodology for the onshore LVIA is set out in
Volume 3, Chapter 2 of the PEIR, in Sections 2.4 and 2.5. The
methodology is clearly set out and based on GLVIA3
principles, with detailed explanations of the components of
each judgement.
Several figures have been prepared which are relevant
to the LVIA scope. The following selection is appended to this
report:


Figure 2.3b: Landscape Character (Regional);



Figure 2.4: Landscape Designations; and



Figure 2.5: Principal Visual Receptors.

Elements scoped out with reference to the Scoping
Opinion include:


Operational effects of the landfall and onshore cable
route;



Effects resulting from operational lighting of the OnSS;
and,



Effects on the Clwydian Range and Dee Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).

Receptors scoped out following ‘Preliminary
Assessment’ (Sections 2.11, 2.12 and 2.14) include:


Regional landscape character areas A3, A4, A6, B2 and
D1 (see PEIR Figure 2.3b);



Betws yn Rhos and Elwy & Aled Valley Special
Landscape Areas (SLAs) (see PEIR Figure 2.4);



Kinmel Park, Bodrhyddan, Llannerch Hall, Plas Heaton
and Plas Uchaf, Llannefydd Registered Historic Parks
and Gardens (RHPGs) (see PEIR Figure 2.4);

Page 213

LUC I 5

Chapter 2
Review of the PEIR LVIA and Recommendations
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022



All conservation areas (CAs) in the Study Area (see
PEIR Figure 2.4);



People in settlements of Rhyl, Rhuddlan, Prestatyn, St
Asaph and Bodelwyddan (see PEIR Figure 2.5);



People using the A55, A525 and A547 roads (see PEIR
Figure 2.5); and



People using various PRoW including along the River
Clwyd (including NCR 84), between the A547 and Sarn
Lane and to the north of the A55 (see PEIR Figure 2.5);
and,



Cumulative effects (see PEIR, Section 2.14.2).

The scope generally appears sufficient to capture all
potentially significant effects. There is a clear record of
consultation that indicates agreement with stakeholders on
key points of the scope and approach.
Operational lighting has potential to result in landscape
and visual effects. While it is agreed that, in this context, these
are unlikely to be significant, it would be appropriate to request
details of lighting proposals as design of the OnSS progresses
and to agree the final design.
There has been communication with consultees
regarding whether effects on the Clwydian Range and Dee
AONB should be considered, or whether a viewpoint should
be included to illustrate potential effects (PEIR Table 2).
Reasons provided as justification for scoping this out are
considered appropriate.
Residents in the settlement of St Asaph have been
scoped out of the LVIA, and reference is made to Viewpoint 7
(see PEIR Figure 2.24) to support this. There would be no
view of the proposed OnSS from Viewpoint 7, but this is
because of the screening effect of intervening properties.
There is potential for visibility of the OnSS from properties and
open areas north and west of the viewpoint. Visibility may or
may not result in significant effects upon residents, but an
alternative viewpoint should be presented with the
Environmental Statement to illustrate this.

Baseline information
The baseline for the LVIA is set out in Volume 3,
Chapter 2 of the PEIR, in Section 2.7. The relevant national
and local landscape character assessments are referenced. A
detailed review of LANDMAP aspect areas is included in
Annex 2.1 to the LVIA. Relevant designations noted include
Registered Historic Parks and Gardens (RHPG).
Table 4 lists eight representative viewpoints for
assessment of the OnSS, and these represent a range of
receptors across the study area.

The detailed baseline of the physical landscape,
including sensitivity judgements, is provided within the
assessment of landscape effects (Section 2.10.2).
The LVIA includes a review of relevant documentation
on landscape and visual baseline. Relevant receptors appear
to have been identified. The majority of baseline detail,
including sensitivity judgements, is presented within the
impact assessments, and this approach is reasonable.

Mitigation and design
The approach to mitigation for the onshore works is set
out in Volume 3, Chapter 2 of the PEIR, in Section 2.9 of the
LVIA. This discusses primary mitigation, construction phase
mitigation, and operational mitigation.
Primary mitigation relates to site selection and
embedded design, through the avoidance of sensitive
landscapes and features. The location of the OnSS site in
proximity to existing electrical infrastructure is stated to be part
of the embedded mitigation of the proposal.
There is little information as to how design and layout of
the OnSS has been developed to reduce impacts on the
landscape through, for example, building design or finished
ground levels. It was recommended in our previous review
that this should be explored further but, during our meeting of
7th February 2022, it was explained that this has not been
done.
We continue to recommend that the design of the OnSS
should be developed with the purpose of minimising potential
landscape and visual effects. This should include
consideration of appropriate colours and materials for
elements such as cladding and fencing.
Construction phase mitigation refers to management
plans and codes of practice that will regulate construction
works. These documents have yet to be developed, though a
Landscape and Ecology Design Principles Plan (LEDPP) is
provided in Annex 5.4 of the LVIA, which presents principles
that will be developed further. This appears to present limited
additional information to that included in the LVIA itself, in
relation to construction phase mitigation. It does however
usefully present both landscape and ecology measures
together, which should help facilitate a coordinated response
at ES stage.
Operational mitigation refers to proposed woodland and
other planting around the OnSS. Indicative mitigation
measures are shown on Figure 2.16 (appended). Although
subject to change as the design of the OnSS progresses, the
measures shown appear reasonable. The final mitigation
proposals should be provided and agreed with The Council.

Page 214

LUC I 6

Chapter 2
Review of the PEIR LVIA and Recommendations
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

Conclusion
The PEIR LVIA presented some information on
mitigation, and this has been developed further since PEIR
submission.
It is recognised that the design of the OnSS is at a
relatively early stage and that this limits the extent to which
mitigation proposals can be developed. Some clarification of
this section will be required for the ES, but the planting
principles set out are sound and appear capable of being
developed into an effective mitigation scheme.
The Developer should provide detail on the appearance
of non-technical elements of the OnSS, such as lighting,
cladding and fencing and these should be agreed with the
Council.

Visualisations

Accurate Visual Representation (AVR) Level 1, which is
appropriate to the current design stage.
For viewpoints representing most sensitive receptors
subject to significant effects, we recommend that AVR Level 3
visualisations are produced (once the design has been
progressed to a suitable stage). These would be fully rendered
photomontages, showing architectural form with texture,
shading and reflections as appropriate.
Conclusion
The LVIA is supported by good quality visualisations,
produced and presented in line with the relevant good practice
guidance. These provide an appropriate level of detail at this
stage. However, these should be developed further as designs
for the OnSS and mitigation progress.

Recommendations

The methodology for photography and production of
visualisations is included in the Section 2.5.8 of the LVIA,
referencing good practice guidance as appropriate.
With reference to Landscape Institute (LI) guidance5,
visualisations can be one of four types:


Type 1 – annotated viewpoint photographs;



Type 2 – 3D wireline / model;



Type 3 – photomontage / photowire;



Type 4 – photomontage / photowire (survey / scale
verifiable).

All visualisations included in the LVIA (see Figures 2.18
to 2.25) are labelled as Type 3. Where there is no view of the
proposed OnSS, notes have been added to photographs.
Technically, these are closer to Type 1 visualisations;
however, this error does not affect the findings of the LVIA.

The Developer should develop design of the OnSS and
mitigation further, and agree this with the Council. It is
acknowledged that a maximum design envelope or worst-case
approach has been taken, and this is appropriate for PEIR
stage. However, we suggest that further detail is required to
allow consideration and illustration of potential effects on most
sensitive landscape and visual receptors.
It is acknowledged that assessment of effects resulting
from operational lighting have been scoped out of the LVIA,
but the Developer should develop details of the operational
lighting for the OnSS with a view to minimising effects, and
agree these with the Council.
Using more detailed design information, the Developer
should provide visualisations from viewpoints which represent
the most sensitive receptors (e.g. VP1, VP3 and VP5) to AVR
Level 3.

Baseline photography has been captured in good
weather conditions. There are examples (e.g. Viewpoint 8) of
atmospheric haze, but this is representative of the area and
does not limit understanding of the baseline context or the
proposed development.
Type 3 visualisations can offer an appropriate level of
detail and accuracy for a range of projects, but there are
different levels of graphical approach which can be used (see
Appendix 6.4 of LI guidance). The visualisations prepared for
PEIR show an outline block indicating the maximum design
parameters, with further annotation identifying the potential
extent of mitigation planting. This approach equates to
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
5

Landscape Institute (2019) Technical Guidance Note 06/19: Visual
Representation of Development Proposals

Page 215

LUC I 7

-

Chapter 3
Review of LVIA Assessments
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

Chapter 3
Review of LVIA Assessments

This section presents a review of the LVIA findings
(PEIR Volume 3, Chapter 2 and its supporting appendices and
figures).

Effects on Physical Landscape
The detailed assessment of physical effects is presented
in PEIR, Chapter 2, Table 9 (during construction). The table
appears only to consider those effects on physical landscape
which would result from the landfall and underground cable.
There does not appear to be consideration of effects on
physical landscape elements (e.g. loss of farmland and
hedgerow) as a result of the OnSS.

Effects on Landscape Character
The detailed assessment of landscape character effects
resulting from the OnSS is set out in Table 11 of the PEIR
LVIA (Volume 3, Chapter 2, Page 108) and summarised in
Table 1.1 appended to this review. Character areas scoped in
are shown on PEIR Figure 2.3b (appended):


LCA A1 – Eastern Lowlands.



LCA C4 – Limestone Farmlands.

It is agreed that there would be significant effects on
LCA A1 (the host landscape) during construction and
operation at Year 1. It is also agreed that effects would reduce
to not significant at Year 15.
The LVIA finds that there would be no significant effects
on LCA C4 during construction or operation, and this is
agreed.

Effects on Landscape Designation
The detailed assessment of effects on landscape
designation as a result of the OnSS is set out in Table 11 of
the PEIR LVIA and summarised in Table 1.1. All designated
areas other than Bodelwyddan Park RHPG are scoped out.
The location of Bodelwyddan Park RHPG relative to the OnSS
is shown on PEIR Figure 2.4 (appended).
The LVIA states that changes “to this RHPG would
potentially be experienced as indirect visual effects from areas
of theoretical visibility shown on the ZTV. These areas are
limited in number and extent due the woodlands along the
eastern boundary of Bodelwyddan Park and small woodlands

Page 216

LUC I 8

Chapter 3
Review of LVIA Assessments
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

and parkland trees providing existing visual screening from
much of the parkland landscape” (PEIR, Chapter 2, Table 11).
The Draft Order Limits (see PEIR Figure 2.4) extend
into the RHPG, indicating potential for direct effects upon the
designated area. The LVIA does not explain the potential
implications of this.
Without explanation of the full potential for direct effects
upon the RHPG, it is not possible to fully consider the potential
for significant effects upon this designated landscape.

Effects on Visual Receptors
A preliminary assessment was made as to which visual
receptors to consider in the PEIR LVIA (Chapter 2, Table 13).
The detailed assessment of visual effects resulting from the
OnSS is set out in Table 15 of the PEIR LVIA (Volume 3,
Chapter 2, Page 139).
Eight viewpoints (VPs) were established within the
onshore study area and, as part of the preliminary
assessment, it was determined that six of these would be
used to inform the assessment of visual effects.

Although mitigation measures have not been finalised, it
is considered that the outline proposals have potential to
successfully reduce visual effects over time. However, the
LVIA has identified that potential significant effects would
continue for users of the bridlepath near Faenol-Bropor (VP1)
and residents on Glascoed Road (VP3). This is agreed.

Cumulative Effects
A list of projects which may contribute to cumulative
effects with the onshore elements of AyM OWF is provided in
Table 5 (PEIR, Volume 3, Chapter 2, Page 76). The PEIR
LVIA “has determined that there are no future cumulative
development scenarios that require detailed assessment in a
Cumulative Landscape and Visual Assessment (CLVIA)”
(PEIR, Volume 3, Chapter 2, Page 155).
Based on the reasoning provided in Table 16 (PEIR,
Volume 3, Chapter 2, Page 153), the decision not to include
detailed assessment in a CLVIA appears reasonable.
However, the Council should inform the Developer of any
planning applications which are submitted, prior to submission
of the ES, which would require consideration.

There is no view from VP6 (Bodelwyddan Park) or VP7
(St Asaph) and so receptors at these locations have not been
included in the detailed assessment. It is acknowledged that
there is no view from these locations, but it is likely that there
would be visibility of the OnSS from other locations. The ES
should use alternative VP locations to inform of potential
visual effects upon receptors at Bodelwyddan Park and St
Asaph.

Recommendations

VP2 (St Asaph Business Park) is used to illustrate
potential change and inform assessment of effects on users of
the business park and visitors to Glascoed Nature Reserve
(Chapter 2, Table 13). It is agreed that foreground screening
and differences in elevation would result in the visual effect
within the business park being not significant. However,
visitors to the nature reserve would be at lower elevation and
would not have views screened by the boundary treatments
shown at this VP. It is considered likely that visual effect on
visitors to the nature reserve could be significant.

The Developer should identify an alternative VP location,
from which there would be visibility of the OnSS, within St
Asaph. The Developer should also describe the potential for
visual effects upon residents of, and visitors to, the settlement.

The sensitivity, magnitude of change and resulting visual
effect at the other 5 VPs is agreed, and it is considered that
these have identified the receptors most likely to experience
significant effects as a result on the OnSS.
Significant effects have been assessed, and are agreed,
during construction of the OnSS on people using the
bridlepath near Faenol-Bropor (VP1), on residents and road
users at Glascoed Road (VP3) and on people near the minor
road at Groessfordd (VP5). Significant effects would result for
the same receptors during Year 1 of operation of the OnSS.

The Developer should identify an alternative VP location,
from which there would be visibility of the OnSS, within the
Bodelwyddan Park RHPG. The Developer should also explain
the implications of the Draft Order Limits extending into the
RHPG and clarify the potential for direct effects, in addition to
indirect visual effects, upon this designated landscape.

With reference to VP1, the Developer should provide an
assessment of potential visual effects on the residents of the
Faenol-Bropor farmstead.
With reference to VP2 (but acknowledging the difference
in elevation and foreground screening), the Developer should
provide an assessment of potential visual effects on visitors to
the Glascoed Nature Reserve.
The Council should inform the Developer of planning
applications which would require consideration as part of a
CLVIA prior to submission of the ES.

Page 217

LUC I 9

-

Chapter 4
Summary and Conclusions
Awel y Môr Offshore Wind Farm
March 2022

Chapter 4
Summary and Conclusions

This review focuses on the potential landscape and
visual impacts which may result from the proposed OnSS
which would be part of the AyM OWF. The review includes
reference to the LVIA findings presented in the PEIR and
subsequent design development. It follows our earlier review
of the PEIR S/LVIA.
Design for the OnSS and associated mitigation
measures are not fixed. The proposals shown on Figure 2.16
represent a worst-case scenario. Final designs will be
presented to the Council for approval in due course. As part of
the design development process, the Developer should
consider the appearance of non-technical elements of the
OnSS, such as lighting, cladding and fencing. This information
should be used to develop more detailed visualisations, which
allow for a more thorough evaluation of landscape and visual
effects.
The PEIR LVIA accurately identifies significant potential
landscape and visual effects for several receptors during
construction and operation of the OnSS. However, the
assessment of potential effects on Bodelwyddan Park RHPG
does not consider the extent of the Draft Order Limits and
does not use an appropriate viewpoint location. Similarly, the
LVIA uses a viewpoint location within St Asaph from which the
OnSS would be screened by residential property and an
alternative location should be used.
Potential visual effects on residents at the Faenol-Bropar
farmstead and visitors to the Glascoed Nature Reserve have
not been considered. This should be carried out, with
reference to VP1 and VP2 respectively.
The PEIR does not include a CLVIA. The reasoning for
this appears to be sound, but the Council should make the
Developer aware of more recent planning applications which
require considerations.
Notwithstanding the above, the PEIR LVIA of the OnSS,
and the associated mitigation design, have been prepared
with reference to appropriate guidance, by suitably qualified
consultants using a clear and robust methodology.

Page 218

LUC I 10

Appendix 1
Summary of Predicted
Operational Effects

Page 219

Table 1.1: Predicted operational effects on landscape and visual receptors from the OnSS
Year 1
Sensitivity

Magnitude of
Change

A1. Eastern Lowlands
(Cefn Meiriadog Vale
Slopes)

Medium

Medium – High

C4. Limestone Farmlands
(Abergele to Denbigh
Coastal/Vale Hills)

Medium

Year 15
Magnitude of
Change

Effect

Significant

Medium

Not Significant

Agreed. This is the host LCA, but it is likely
that mitigation planting will mature over time
and that effects will reduce to be not
significant by Year 15.

Medium – Low

Not Significant

Low

Not Significant

Agreed. Given the intervening distance and
landscape character context, indirect effects
here would be not significant.

Medium – High

Medium – Low

Not Significant

Low

Not Significant

Not Agreed. The LVIA considers that changes
would be experienced as indirect visual
effects. However, the Draft Order Limits are
shown to extend into the designated area (see
Figure 2.4). The LVIA should describe what
direct effects would result here.

Viewpoint 1 – Bridlepath nr
Faenol-Bropor

Medium

High

Significant

Medium – High

Significant

Agreed. The OnSS would be visible across a
wide extent of the view and at close proximity.

Viewpoint 2 – St Asaph,
Business Park

Medium – Low

Medium

Not Significant

Medium

Not Significant

Agreed. The OnSS would be largely screened
from view by intervening vegetation within the
adjacent nature reserve.

Viewpoint 3 – Glascoed
Road

Road Users:
Medium – High

Significant

Medium

Not Significant

Agreed. It is likely that mitigation planting will
mature over time and that effects will reduce
to be not significant for transient road users.

Medium – High

Significant

Medium

Significant

Agreed. Although mitigation planting will
mature over time, it is likely that effects will
continue to be significant for residential
receptors.

Receptor

Effect

Review Comments (LUC)

Landscape Character

Designated Area

Page 220

Bodelwyddan Park RHPG

Viewpoint Assessment

Medium – Low

Residents:
Medium – High

Year 1
Receptor

Sensitivity

Magnitude of
Change

Viewpoint 4 – A55

Medium – Low

Medium

Viewpoint 5 – Minor Road,
Groesffordd

Medium – High

Medium

Year 15
Magnitude of
Change

Effect

Not Significant

Medium – Low

Not Significant

Agreed. The OnSS would be visible beyond
agricultural buildings and intervening
vegetation. However, it is likely that effects on
these transient receptors would not be
significant.

Significant

Medium – Low

Not Significant

Agreed. Given the intervening distance and
relative elevation, it is likely that visual effects
here would not be significant once mitigation
planting has matured.

Effect

Review Comments (LUC)

Page 221
2/3

This page is intentionally left blank

